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“2006 was a breakout year for Omniture. We
expanded our market leadership in Web analytics
and more importantly, established our products
as the foundation for measuring and optimizing
online business.”

JOSH JAMES, PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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The fastest organically growing public
software company*

#1 aftermarket return technology IPO of 2006™*
Over 2,000 customers worldwide

Customers in over 35 countries
420 billion transactions in Q4, 2006

1.4 trillion transactions in 2006

*kk

Five years of over 100%™ annual revenue growth;
86% annual revenue growth in 2006
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Online Business Optimization Platform
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“Omniture has significant domain expertise across all
major industry verticals.”
JUPITERRESEARCH (2007)

“More than any other vendor in the market, Omniture
understands that what makes or breaks Web analytics
within large enterprises are the human issues of
usability, training and consulting ..."

FORRESTER RESEARCH (2006)

“Omniture experienced very high growth...and is now the
leading on-demand Web analytics provider by revenue.”
IDC (2006)

"Strong positive.”
GARTNER (2006)
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All non-GAAP numbers have been adjusted to
exclude centain items. A reconciliation of specific
adjustments to GAAP for this time period is
included in the GAAP to non-GAAP table included
ot the end of this report.

Adjusted EBITDA is defined as earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization and
stack-bosed compensation.

To QOur Shareholders:

As | look back on 2006, | am
immensely proud of all we have
accomplished as a company, 2006
was a breakout year for Omniture

as we successfully took the company
public, established ourselves as the
market leader in Web analytics and
positioned our platform at the cen-
ter of online business optimization.

Financial Performance

Our leadership in online business
optimization contributed signifi-
cantly to our strong financial results
in 2006. Full year 2006 revenue
was $79.7 million, an increase of
86% from 2005. We returned the
company to non-GAAP” profit-
ability in the second half of the
year, while at the same time we
organically increased the size of
our customer base to nearly 1,800,
We have also added over 35 points
of margin to the bottom line over
the last six quarters, demonstrat-
ing how significant leverage in our
core business model can be used to
drive profitability.

OMNITURE®

Adjusted EBITDA™ was positive,
totaling $8.0 million for the year
and 10% of revenue, compared to
a loss of $6 million for 2005. In
addition, we significantly improved
gross margins of the company
through the benefits of scale and
with an intense focus on hardware
efficiencies by our engineering
tearmn. We believe gross margins
will continue to ramp up to our
target of greater than 70% over
the next few years.

Customer usage continued to
grow as we managed 1.4 trillion
customer transactions during the
year. This record customer growth
and transaction volume validate
that our integrated online business
optimization platform, delivered
via on-demand, is what customers
want and need today.
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Product Innovation

From the beginning, our company
has focused on developing great
products. We believe our solution
achieved the leadership position

in online business optimization in
2006. For us, this means we have
a service offering that grows and
scales at industry-leading activity
levels as our customers mature.

By launching key products such as
Omniture SearchCenter, Omniture
Genesis, and Omniture Discover 2,
we have established our platform as
the foundation for measuring and
optirmizing online business.

In December 2006, we launched
Omniture Genesis with 30 accredited
partners. This new plug-and-play
solution reduces the complexity

of measuring online marketing
campaigns and improves results

by automating the integration of
marketing applications into the
Omniture platform. Customers can
now integrate data across multiple
solutions and marketing initiatives
in just minutes versus the months
it tock before the availability of
Omniture Genesis.

Annual Report 08

Omniture Discover 2 (D2) is the
most technically advanced product
we have ever launched. One of the
key benefits of Omniture Discover
is that it operates from the same
platform as Omniture SiteCatalyst.
This delivers an uninterrupted
workflow and a continuous blend of
analysis from executive dashboards
while also allowing granular analysis
of individual visitor behavior, D2
does this by blending the speed
characteristics of OLAP systems
with the best of data warehouse
flexibility. Additionally, insights into
this reporting are communicated
through unique and intuitive 3D
visualizations that provide multiple
dimensions of information within a
single user interface.

Our recent acquisition of behavioral

targeting company Touch Clarity adds

an additional element of optimization
and automation to our platform.

We looked at all of the alternatives

in the optimization market, and we

believe that Touch Clarity's technology

is years ahead of the competition.
When you combine it with Omniture’s
platform, it is game changing.

Previously, online business
optimization was possible for
customers leveraging our Web
analytics data, but it was executed
primarily by human interaction—a
limiting factor. With this behavioral
targeting technology, we have online
business optimization that delivers
automated revenue and profit uplift
for our customers. in addition, this
strategic product and technology
acquisition expands our market by
providing new entry-point as well as
cross-sell opportunities.
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Industry Leading Customer Growth & Retention

Demand for our products continues
to be very strong as we saw record
bookings in 2006. We added over
850 customers during the year,
and with the addition of recent
acquisitions, we now have over
2,000 customers worldwide—
doubling the number from the
beginning of 2006.

Equally important, we were able to
expand and upsell our relationship
with a number of existing customers
including Microsoft, AOL/Time
Warner and Sony.

We believe retention is an
important measure of success
and by focusing on our existing
customers we achieved over 95%
nominal retention and revenue
retention of over 110% for the
calendar year.
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Some of the new customers announced during 2006 include:

BERTELSMANN

AVIS

madia worldwida
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TODAY
vodafone
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Geographic Expansion

As businesses worldwide look to
expand their opportunities online,
we are focused on broadening
our geographic reach. Omniture
products are currently available in
English, Chinese, French, German
and Japanese, and additional
languages will be added in the neg
future. We also support all global
currencies and provide automated
conversion between currencies
based on current exchange rates.

Revenue from customers outside
the United States has increased
tfrom 9% of total sales in 2004 to
11% in 2005 and to 17% in 2006.
We have sales representatives

in Australia, Belgium, Denmark,
France, Germany, Hong Kong,
Japan, Koreq, the United Kingdom
and the United States. Our current
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international efforts are focused on
strengthening our direct sales and
marketing presence in Europe and
the Asia-Pacific region.

In support of this expansion, we
recently acquired Instadiag, a

Web analytics company based in
Denmark with a leading market
share in the Nordics region. This
acquisition enabled us to more
than double our customer base

in the European market, acquire
technology and industry expertise,

and accelerate our progress in what

we believe 10 be an important,
high-growth region.

Additionally, we recently held

a launch event in Tokyo, Japan
that was attended by over 275
customers, prospects and partners.

We have had significant momentum
in the Japanese market and enjoy
exclusive partnerships with many of
the leading agencies and technology
companies in the region, including
Softbank, DoubleClick Japan and
several others,




Milestones

January 2006

February 2006

March 2006

April 2006

May 2006

June 2006

July 2006

August 2006

September 2006

October 2006

November 2006

December 2006

January 2007

February 2007

March 2007
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{infoWorld Honors Omniture |
! SiteCatalyst 12 o5 2006
i Technology of the Year Winner |

Expansion of Management Team
with Hiring of Bill Ingram as VF
of Product Mancgement

Ornniture Appoints Mark Dillon
as VP of Channel Sales

Omniture Named Strong Positive
i Largest Gaothering of Web
éAnoI tics Professionals

in Gartner MarketScope

Omniture Lounches in UK
and France

Ornniture Selected as One of the
World's Top 50 ASPs

Omniture Expands Monagement
Team with Hiring of Mike Dodd as
SVF of Corporate Development

Ornniture Gathers European
Momentum with 100
European Customers

Ornniture Appoints Steve Wellen
as VP of Client Services

Omniture Recognized by
Baseline Magazine as No. 2 on
Their 2006 List of 50 Fastest
Growing Software Companies

Omniture Named Finalist
in 2006 Selling Power Sales
Excellence Awards

Omniture Receives Stevie Award
at 2006 5elling Power Sales
Excellence Awards

Omniture Appoints Stephen
Frieder as VP Eastern
Regional Sales

Omniture Reports Fourth
Quarter and Fiscal 2006
Revenue as $23.5 million and
$79.7 million

! Omniture Complates Acquisition
¢ of Behavicral Targeting H
i Company Touch Clarity

! Omniture Launches
! SearchCenter in Europe

Inc Maguzine‘ﬁé.c'ognizes
i Omniture for Fourth Consecutive :
i Year as o Member of the Inc. 500 !

Expansion of Omniture Executive
i Team with hiring of Patrick

Kelliher as VP of Finance

Net Ratings and Omniture Settle
Patent Infringement Lawsuit

Omniture Recognized as Market
Leader by Forrester Research

: ounces 2. :
: Partner Frogram with Launch of ;
{ Omniture Solution Network

Omniture Introduces Potent-

Pending Technology for
Enhancing the Implementaticn,
Accuracy and Performance of
Rich Internet Applications

{ Omnitre Recognized as the
i Leading On-Demand Web
¢ Analytics Provider by IDC

Business Optimizations and 5elf-
i Service Administration Console

ith yst 1

! Omniture Recug.;.l:l}zed on the
: 2006 Deloitte Technolegy Fast
£.500 for Fourth Consecutive Year |

Omniture Announces 2007
Omniture Summit Theme: A
Roadmap to Marketing 2.0

Omniture Appoints Stefan
Berger as Country Manager for

Verisign CFQ Jeins Omniture

i Board of Directors

{ Omniture’s Initial Public Offering |

Omniture Announced Revenue
: for the Secand Quarter 2006
i was $38.8 million

i Omniture Accelerates European
Expansion with Opening of
i German Offices

Omniture Reports Third Quarter
i 2006 Revenue was $21 million

{ Omniture Genesis Launches with |
i 30 Accredited Partners

i Omniture Announces the i
i Acquisition of Instadia

Germany, Austria and Switzerland

Crminiture Acquires Behavioral
i Targeting Company Touch Clarity }

Omniture Introduces Industry’s
i First Professional Web

Analytics and Online Business
Optimization Certification

i Omniture Introduces a
Breakthrough in Analytics with
" Lounch of Discover 2

Omniture Summit 2007
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Looking Ahead: Changing the Game

In 2006, we achieved a number

of important milestones, delivered
solid financial performance and
positioned ourselves for a strong
2007 and beyond. The theme for
the company in 2007 is “Changing
the Game." We expect our core
business to have strong growth in
2007. We have seen strong demand
in the enterprise, mid-market and
international markets, as ali of these
areas have performed at record
levels, and we plan to continue to
grow our sales team to capitalize on
market opportunities. We will also
continue to invest in our engineering
teams to ensure that we can provide
the products our customers will
need to optimize their businesses in
ways never before possible,

We are in a position to continue to
take advantage of the opportunities
we see in the market—we believe
this is just the beginning.

Sincerely,

Joshua G. James

Cmniture Inc.
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" A New Dimension in Analytics
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operation” section in Item 7 of this report, and other materials accompanying this Annual
Report on Form [0-K contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933. These statements relate to our, and in some
cases our customers’ or partners’, future plans, objectives, expectations, intentions and financial performance and
the assumptions that underlie these statements. These forward-looking statements include, but are not limired to,
statements concerning the following: our ability to achieve or maintain profitability; the acceptance of our pricing
model; our business plan and growth management; operating expenses; business expansion; expansion of our sales
and marketing capabilities; growth of the number of Internet users, Internet commerce and the market for on-
demand services and online business optimization; changing rechnological developments; the impact of quarterly
fluctuations of revenue and operating results; expansion of product and service offerings, including the devel-
opment of new and improved services; scalability, reliability and performance of our platforms; our ability to
provide adequate service to customers; network and systems integrity; retention of key employees; the release of
Juture versions of current services; levels and sources of revenue; our ability to effectively integrate our recent
European acquisitions; future acquisitions of or investments in complementary companies, products, services or
technologies; acquisition of new customers; customer renewal rates; our expectations concerning relationships
with third parties, including technology integration, channel pariners, resellers and key customers; our ability 1o
compete effectively in the market; levels of capital expenditures; issuance of common stock for acquisitions;
changes in stock-based compensation; future cash requirements and sufficiency of our existing cash; fluctuations in
interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates; our ability to attain certain economies of scale; expansion of our
network infrastructure; our ability to utilize our nerwork hardware more efficiently; legal proceedings; our future
license pavments under our patent license agreement with NetRatings; adequacy of our intellectual property;
changes in U.S. and imternational laws regarding privacy, private information, the Internet and other areas;
changes in accounting standards; maintenance of adequate internal controls; utilization of net operating loss and
tax credit carryforwards to reduce our tax payments in future periods: the trends of our costs and expenses; staffing,
direct sales force and expense levels; expansion of our European and other international operations; and adequacy
of our capital resources to fund operations and growth.

These statements are based on current expectations and assumptions regarding future events and business
performance and invelve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause indusiry trends
or our actual results, level of activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future
results, levels of activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied by these statements. These factors
include those set forth in the following discussion and within Part I. ltem 1A “Risk Factors” of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K and elsewhere within this report.

Although we believe that expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot
guarantee future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements. We will not update any of the forward-
looking statements after the date of this annual report on Form 10-K to conform these statements to actual results or
changes in our expectations, except as required by law. You should not place undue reliance on these forward-
looking statements, which apply only as of the date of this annual report on Form 10-K. You should carefully review
the risk factors described in other documents that we file from time to time with the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission, or SEC.

Omniture SiteCatalyst, Omniture DataWarehouse, Omniture Discover, Omniture Genesis, Omniture Search-
Center and Touch Clarity are among the trademarks or registered trademarks owned by or licensed to Omniture,
Inc. All other brand and product names are or may be trademarks of, and are used to identify products or services of,
their respective owners.




PART I

ITEM 1. Business
Overview

We are a leading provider of online business optimization services, which our customers use to manage and
enhance online, offline and multi-channel business initiatives. Qur online business optimization platform, which we
host and deliver to our customers on-demand, consists of Omniture SiteCatalyst, our flagship service, and our
Omniture DataWarchouse, Omniture Discover, Omniture Genesis, Omniture SearchCenter and Omniture Touch
Clarity services. These services, built on a scalable and flexible computing architecture, enable our customers to
capture, store and analyze information generated by their Web sites and other sources and to gain critical business
insights into the performance and efficiency of marketing and sales initiatives and other business processes. This
information is also utilized to automate the delivery of content and marketing offers, including promotions,
discounts and whitepapers, on a Web site to optimize the user experience and revenue opportunities for our
customers. Our services provide customers with real-time access to online business information, the ability to
generate flexible reports using real-time and historical information and the ability to measure, automate and
optimize critical online processes. Qur services, accessed by a standard Web browser, reduce the need for our
customers to make upfront investments in technology, implementation services or additional IT personnel, thereby
increasing our customers’ flexibility in allocating their IT capital investments. We market our on-demand services
to sales, marketing and business professionals responsible for online business across a broad range of industries,
including automotive, financial services, media, retail, technology and travel.

We currently have over 2,000 customers. Our customers include America Online, Comcast Corporation, eBay,
Inc., Expedia, Inc., Ford Motor Company, Gannett, Inc., Hewlett-Packard, or HP, Major League Baseball and
Microsoft. In 2006, our on-demand services captured data from over 1.4 trillion transactions for our customers.

We were founded in 1996, began offering our on-demand online business optimization services in 1997 and
began selling these services to enterprises in 2001. We were incorporated in 1998 as SuperStats.com, Inc., a Utah
corporation. In 1999, we changed our name to MyComputer.com, Inc. and reincorporated in the State of Delaware,
In 2002, we changed our name to Omniture, Inc.

Recent Developments

In January 2007, we acquired Instadia A/S, or Instadia, an enterprise on-demand Web analytics provider based
in Copenhagen, Denmark, In March 2007, we acquired Touch Clarity Limited, or Touch Clarity, an on-demand
provider of automated behavioral targeting solutions based in London, England. We acquired Touch Clarity for a
total consideration of up to $52.6 million (plus the value of assumed vested options) consisting of the following:
$16 million in cash at closing; up to $3 million in cash payable subject to an earnout based on certain revenue
milestones for Touch Clarity’s fiscal year 2007; and $33.6 miilion to be paid in shares of our common stock, cash, or
some combination of stock and cash, at our election, to be paid no later than November 30, 2007. If we elect to issue
common stock, the number of shares to be issued will be determined based on a 5% discount to our share price at or
about the time of issuance (based on a 5-day trailing average closing price). We also agreed to assume all
outstanding unvested stock options.

In connection with the acquisition of Touch Clarity, we entered into a registration rights agreement with the
shareholders of Touch Clarity, pursuant to which we have agreed to file with the SEC a registration statement
covering the resale of all shares of common stock that may be issued by us to the shareholders of Touch Clarity in
consideration for the acquisition in the event we elect to pay all or some portion of the $33.6 million consideration
amount in common stock. We have agreed to use reasonable commercial efforts to cause such registration statement
to be filed and declared effective by the SEC no later than November 30, 2007.

During the first quarter of 2007, we entered into two master lease agreements with third-party financing
sources, including a master finance lease and lease covenant agreement, or the lease agreement, with Zions Credit
Corporation, which entitles us to lease, over time, equipment from Zions in accordance with the terms and
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conditions of the lease agreement. Based upon an initial credit approval provided to us by Zions, we believe we will
be able to acquire up to $10.0 million of equipment under the lease agreement. We will enter into separate
equipment lease schedules with Zions at the time we lease equipment. Each equipment lease schedule is subject to
the terms and conditions of the lease agreement. The rental payments and rental term may vary by schedule,
depending on the timing of the equipment acquisition and nature of the equipment under lease. As a condition of the
lease agreement, we must not allow our cash balance to fall below $10.0 million as long as the lease agreement is in
force. Failure to maintain a minimum of $10.0 million in cash shall constitute an event of default as defined in the
lease agreement.

Industry Background
Broad Commercial Utilization of the Internet

The Internet has fundamentally altered the way businesses and consumers purchase goods and services. In
2006, U.S. businesses generated over $211 billion in revenue from e-commerce sales to consumers and spent over
$20 billion on online advertising and marketing, according to Forrester Research and Interactive Advertising
Bureau, respectively. The internet has redefined many business processes and has created opportunities for new
online businesses, as well as for existing offline businesses seeking to capitalize on online initiatives. Businesses are
investing in innovative online initiatives to increase sales, improve customer service, enhance brand awareness,
decrease time-to-market for their offerings, reduce fulfillment costs and increase operational efficiency. In addition
to generating online sales, these online initiatives are increasingly designed to have and have had a direct impact on
offline business as well. According to JupiterResearch, the amount of offline United States retail sales influenced by
online channels was nearly six times that of online retail sales and over 80% of online consumers research their
offline purchases online.

There is little doubt that the scope and scale of commercial Internet usage will continue to increase. According
to IDC, the number of unique global Internet users will grow from approximately 820 million in 2004 to over
1.3 billion in 2009. The roll-out of broadband networks and mobile networks, particularly in emerging geographic
markets, will contribute to the growth of Internet usage. Internet commerce should also continue to grow. Despite
the Internet’s growth, e-commerce remains at an early stage of development, accounting in 2006 for just 6% of the
total United States retail market, excluding the automotive, travel and prescription drug markets, according to
JupiterResearch. Similarly, online advertising represented just 6% of the total United States advertising market in
2006, despite consumers spending 34% of their available media time online, according to Forrester Research. By
way of comparison, newspaper advertising in 2006 represented 30% of the entire United States advertising market
while consumers spent only 8% of their media time reading the newspaper, according to Forrester Research.

Need to Measure and Automate Online Business

In order to make informed decisions about priorities and investments in online marketing and other com-
mercial initiatives, businesses require timely and accurate measurement of customer behavior. The proliferation of
Internet usage and the fact that nearly every user interaction on a Web site can be captured by the owner of the Web
site have resulted in the creation of an unprecedented amount of data on how a business’ customers interact and
transact business with it. According to comScore Media Metrix, in April 2006, the top ten United States Internet
properties generated approximately 133 billion transactions from over 171 million unique users. Businesses are
increasingly realizing the benefit of using information gained from online customer interactions to improve
functional areas, such as sales, product development, marketing, pricing, manufacturing and inventory manage-
ment. The interactive and measurable nature of Internet activity also enables businesses to determine how
customers arrived at their Web sites and to what extent the costs they incur to increase site traffic are generating
sales.

The increasing scale and dynamic nature of both online business and offline business influenced by online
interaction necessitate that businesses automate the processes by which they capture, analyze and act upon
information generated by their Web sites. The sheer volume of Web activity and the variability or spikes in traffic
create a significant, and at times unpredictable, amount of information. For a popular online business, the amount of
information generated can exceed a terabyte per month and can vary substantially based on seasonality, promotions
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and special events. For any unique visitor and transaction, over 10{ diffcrent variables can be captured, such as page
name, language, currency, operating system, search engine and ad channel, all of which need to be stored over time
and readily accessible for analysis. Businesses also need solutions that can integrate with other internal and external
enterprise business systems to automate and drive critical business processes. For instance, many businesses still
attempt to understand the effectiveness of, and to implement their bidding strategies for, tens of thousands of paid
search keywords using stand-alone spreadsheets and manual processing. An automated solution that could measure
keyword bidding based upon a variety of specific business objectives and also integrate with third-party search sites
and internal financial systems to bid automatically in real time on the most effective keywords would improve the
effectiveness of online marketing initiatives. In addition, the ability to leverage behavioral data, or data collected
from an online visitor interaction with a company’s Web site, to deliver the most relevant content or marketing offer
automatically in real time would improve online user experiences and translate into increased customer loyalty and
revenue.

Opportunity to Optimize Online Business

Measuring online behavior and automating the capture and analysis of data are just the beginning of making
more informed business decisions. Businesses also need to optimize the results of their online business activities.
For instance, businesses have hmoncally measured the success of their online marketing programs by simple click-
through rates or conversion rates, the latier being the percentage of click-through users who make a purchase or
otherwise engage in the desired customer action during the online session. However, the effectiveness of online
marketing can be optimized by analyzing and acting upon deeper information such as repeat visits, transactions
generated, registrations, traffic pathways (various paths of online visitor traffic flow), eventual conversion (desired
customer action taken in subsequent visit) or success over time (lifetime value of customer) as well as comparing the
relative effectiveness of different marketing channels. Online businesses utilize a large and growing number of
complex and diverse communication channels to market to customers, including display advertising, paid search
advertising, e-mail, affiliate marketing, blogs, podcasts and comparison shopping engines, as well as traditional
offline initiatives. The emergence of multi-channel marketing initiatives, which combine traditional offline
marketing initiatives such as television, print, magazine, newspapers, radio and catalog with online marketing
initiatives, makes the measurement and analysis of online behavior more challenging, but presents additional
opportunities to optimize results. For example, businesses want to measure and understand the impact of their
advertising initiatives across all these channels, not only to determine how much credit should be given to a
particular channel and to understand cross-promotional effectiveness, but more importantly to make adjustments in
the way channels are utilized and the amount of resources that are allocated to them.

Businesses have generally relied on a combination of manual processes, point tools and proprietary approaches
to manage their online business initiatives. These approaches have a number of critical limitations, including the
following:

Disaggregated view of customer information. To measure and automate its Web site activity, a typical online
enterprise can use numerous different systems and tools such as advertising servers, Web content management, Web
analytics tools, customer relationship management software, order management systems, price optimization tools,
keyword bid management tools, internal search optimization tools and site conversion optimization tools, as well as
custom and proprietary technologies. Because each of these tools or systems is designed to address a specific
channel and customner behavior at a certain time and many of them use their own underlying processing and storage
capabilities, they collectively have limited ability to measure customer behavior across muitiple channels and
throughout the lifecycle of the customer.

Limited scalability. Existing approaches for data capture and analysis have difficulty scaling to address the
traffic volumes, amounts of data and unpredictability of online businesses. Some Web sites such as sports sites and
ticket sites can experience periodic traffic spikes in excess of 100 times normal volumes. Few point solutions and
manual processes are designed to perform under these circumstances. To the extent that a company integrates
multiple disparate point tools, any one tool can limit overall scalability. In order to process in real time the
significant volumes of data generated, businesses must make significant investments in IT infrastructure, including
a flexible computing architecture that allows for the easy addition of excess computing resources to handle spikes in
traffic.




Limited integration with enterprise systems. Existing approaches generally have limited ability to integrate
with internal or external systems. In order to realize the full value of online customer information in an automated
and efficient manner, information needs to be disseminated across the business and integrated with internal
enterprise systems such as sales force automation, marketing, product development, customer service and financial
systems, as well as external systems such as ad serving or e-mail services. Few point solutions available today
integrate automatically with broader enterprise systems, with the result that business processes are limited and
business insight cannot be easily leveraged across the enterprise for improved decision-making.

Slow implementation and adoption. Using custom or proprietary approaches or integrating point tools to
manage online businesses has generally required lengthy and complicated deployments and significant investments
to manage the multiple tools and technologies. These approaches generally require custom programming, changes
to existing business processes, changes to a business’ Web site, installation of third-party technologies and systems,
re-configurations of Intermet browsers, and ongoing investment in computing resources. These approaches
generally have complex interfaces and are designed for technology-savvy IT professionals or require significant
training for others to use them effectively. As a result, user adoption is limited, reducing the effectiveness of these
systems and limiting a business’ ability to meet its objectives.

We believe that businesses seeking to enhance their online presence need an online business optimization
platform with the functionality, scalability and flexibility to manage and improve the important aspects of their
business activities.

Our Online Business Optimization Platform

We are a leading provider of online business optimization services, which we host and deliver to our customers
on-demand to manage and enhance online, offline and multi-channel business initiatives. Our online business
optimization platform consists of Omniture SiteCatalyst, our flagship service, and our Omniture DataWarehouse,
Omniture Discover, Omniture Genesis, Omniture SearchCenter and Omniture Touch Clarity services. These
services enable our customers to capture, store and analyze information generated by their Web sites and other
sources and to gain critical business insights into the performance and efficiency of marketing and sales initiatives
and other business processes. This information is also utilized to automate the delivery of content and marketing
offers on a Web site to optimize the user experience and revenue opportunities for our customers. Qur services
provide customers with real-time access to online business information, the ability to generate flexible reports using
real-time and historical information and the ability to measure, automate and optimize critical online processes. Our
services, accessed by a standard Web browser, reduce the need for our customers to make upfront investments in
technology, implementation services or additional IT personnel, thereby increasing our customers’ flexibility in
allocating their IT capital investments.

Key benefits of our platform include:

¢ Increased sales and profitability. 'We believe our services provide businesses of all sizes the ability to
increase sales and profits through more informed decision-making and delivery of automated content and
marketing offers. Our services enable customers to capture and measure user activity on their Web sites and
automate business progesses, such as online marketing, to increase conversion of Web -site visitors to
customers and to enhance the efficiency of multi-channel marketing and e-commerce initiatives. By
utilizing our services, our customers are able to identify trends in customer behavior in real time, to direct
business expenditures towards initiatives that they believe will increase sales, maximize profitability and
enhance customer service and thereby gain a competitive advantage.

e Flexible platform to manage online business. Our services are based on a technology platform that
manages online business data from a centralized information store. Our multi-tenant technology platform is
based upon a massively scalable computing architecture that allows us to share common computing
resources simultaneously across our customer base while maintaining the integrity and security of each
customer’s data. Qur technology is built on a standards-based platform, which allows for interoperability
with other third-party and proprietary systems. Additionally, customers can request data in flexible formats,
such as scheduled data and report pushes, real-time data querying and retrieval, e-mailed reports and alerts,
and custom data feeds. Our customers can configure the interface to our services to segment access
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privileges across their user base to deliver the most relevant data for each user while, at the same time, using
permission-based policies to restrict the data available to any given user.

+ Enterprise-class scalability, performance, security and support.  Our platform is designed to scale to meet
the needs of the largest and most sophisticated online operations in the world. Our customers rely on us to
capture and manage significant volumes of data securely and accurately while providing immediate
application availability and flexible real-time reporting. We currently capture more than 420 billion
transactions per quarter and manage over 1.2 petabytes of data for our customers, We currently provide
99.9% application uptime. Our massively scalable architecture enables us to dynamicaily shift computing
resources in our data centers to maintain application availability during periods of intense activity and spikes
in traffic at any particular customer’s Web site. We provide our customers with comprehensive implemen-
lation, support services, best practices consulting and training through Omniture University, which offers our
customers a comprehensive range of traditional and online training. To support the operations of multi-
national customers, our Omniture SiteCatalyst, Omniture DataWarehouse and Omniture SearchCenter
services are available in Chinese, French, German and Japanese, support all global currencies and provide
automated conversion among these currencies based on current exchange rates.

* Independent, unaffiliated service provider. Our platform interfaces with major Internet search vendors,
advertising networks, e-mail marketers and lead generation sites and consolidates information across those
channels into a single unified view. However, we are unaffiliated with any particular marketing channel or
service provider and therefore can provide reliable and secure information that is independent. As such, we
provide our customers with objective insight into the effectiveness of their multi-channel marketing
expenditures across multiple channels, Internet vendors and partners.

* Reduced capital investment through on-demand hosted model.  We deliver our services entirely through an
on-demand, hosted medel. Our on-demand model enables our customers to calibrate their expenditures to
their required level of service. As a result, our customers are able to limit their upfront investments in
technology infrastructure, third-party software and systems, and more effectively leverage their own IT
personnel. Our services can be deployed rapidly, as our solution is standards-based and designed to integrate
seamlessly and securely with a customer’s internal systems. All upgrades are implemented by us on our
servers, and therefore all of our customers can benefit immediately from them.

Our Strategy

Our objective is to build upon our role as a leading provider of on-demand online business optimization
services and to increase the value of our services for businesses worldwide. Key elements of our strategy include:

* Rapidly expand our customer base. 'We believe the market for online business optimization is in its early
stages, and we intend to expand our customer base rapidly by investing in our direct sales force and
expanding our distribution channel partnerships. In particular, we believe there is an unmet need for our
services in international markets, and we intend to expand our presence aggressively in Europe, which is
indicated by our recent acquisitions of Instadia and Touch Clarity, and in the Asia-Pacific region.

* Extend our technology leadership position. 'We believe our highly scalable, enterprise-class technology
platform, which we built expressly for the purpose of online business optimization, provides us with a
significant technology lead. Our technology is being used by many of the largest and most complex online
operations in the world. We intend to continue to invest in improving the scalability, reliability and
performance of our platform and in extending our platform to interface with additional third-party services.
This has been indicated by the launch of Omniture Genesis and by the availability of the Open Transaction
Framework, a simplified method for data collection that utilizes the Omniture Universal Tag. Omniture
Universal tag is a single data collection method for online applications including e-mail, ad serving, site
search and behavioral targeting.

* Broaden our online business optimization platform capabilities.  We believe our platform, built around our
Omniture SiteCatalyst service, provides a foundation for offering additional business optimization services
to our customers. For example, during 2006, we released our Omniture SearchCenter service, which enables
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customers to automatically enhance the effectiveness of their paid search keyword bids and Omniture
Genesis, which enables customers to integrate their third-party marketing applications into Omniture
SiteCatalyst. In early 2007, we released Discover 2, an advanced data segmentation tool, and announced the
acquisition of Touch Clarity, which adds a new technology to our online business optimization platform that
utilizes behavioral data collected from Omniture SiteCatalyst to automatically deliver the most relevant
content and marketing offers. We intend to continue to develop and deliver new services and functionality
that meet the market’s needs.

* Remain intensely focused on our customers’ success. 'We believe that our customers’ success is critical to
our success. We intend to remain intensely customer-centric as we develop our new services and improve our
existing services. Our close relationships with our customers and our rapid responsiveness to their requests
have been key elements in our development efforts to date and will remain central to our strategy in the
future. For example, certain key features of Omniture SearchCenter and Omniture Discover were developed
in direct response to feedback from our customers. In addition, through programs such as Omniture
University and our Omniture Best Practices consulting group, as well as our centified consulting partners, we
are committed to continuing to deliver superior education, training and consulting services to our customers
to enable them to enhance the value of our services.

* Develop and expand strategic relationships to extend our platform and distribution channels. An
important element of our growth strategy is to continue developing strategic relationships with third parties
that can help us broaden our online business optimization ptatform and continue to develop new distribution
channels for our services. We believe our services are attractive to our partners because they are able to
leverage the information and capabilities of our platform to enhance their sclutions. We intend to continue
establishing relationships with third parties in order to provide broader and more integrated functionality to
our customers, In addition, we intend to build new relationships and leverage existing relationships with
channel, consulting and reseller partners in order to complement our direct selling efforts and extend our
market reach.

Omniture Online Business Optimization Services

Our core service offering is Omniture SiteCatalyst, which provides a flexible, customizable interface to
analyze and manage the information we collect regarding interactions on our customers’ Web sites. Omniture
DataWarehouse provides customers with access to all of their data for real-time reporting analyses of historical and
current information. Omniture Discover supplements Omniture DataWarehouse by providing customers with a
sophisticated service to perform deeper analysis and segmentation of the data captured in the customer’s data
warehouse. We recently launched Omniture Genesis, which is a plug-and-play, wizard-based interface that walks
the user through pre-configured application integrations, automating the integration of third-party marketing
applications into Omniture SiteCatalyst. Customers can select from a list of more than 30 accredited application
partners. Omniture SearchCenter facilitates the optimization of paid search activities, a critical area of online
marketing and is integrated with our Omniture SiteCatalyst and Omniture DataWarehouse services, removing the
need to transfer data to third-party providers or to in-house systems, enabling data integrity and providing the
opportunity for real-time search optimization. New to the platform is Omniture Touch Clarity, which integrates with
Omniture SiteCatalyst, Omniture DataWarehouse and Omniture Discover to automate the delivery of relevant
content and marketing offers based on user behavior. We intend to continue developing additional services
leveraging our platform.




Omniture SiteCatalyst

The core features of our Omniture SiteCatalyst service include:

Optimum Path Engine

Advanced Segment Insight

VISTA

Excel Integration

Dashboards

Alerts
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Enables our customers to understand the traffic
flows through their site. Using the data provided
by this engine, our customers can choose from
several different visual reports, including visual
ClickMaps and reports showing most common
actions (such as viewing a particular page
online} occurring before or after a particular
action, as well as actions that initiate and
terminate a session. The Optimum Path
Engine further identifies where customers
abandon multi-step processes.

Allows our customers to visually construct
segments using behavior-based and
demographic segment criteria and then create
reports reflecting just the activity of users
meeting all the segment criteria. Using this
technology, our customers can identify where
their most valuable Web site visitors originate,
enabling them to allocate more advertising
dollars to that source. Our customers are also
able to identify visitors who abandon the
conversion process and to launch remarketing
efforts to bring them back to the Web site.

Allows insertion of custom data-processing rules
into our application, These rules can be used to
segment data in real] time based on customer-
specified criteria.

Allows customers to designate areas of
Microsoft Excel worksheets that are linked to
data from within the Omniture SiteCatalyst
service. This data can be used as native Excel
from within the application, such as formatting
and formulas, and can be updated from
information within the Omniture SiteCatalyst
service.

Allows customers to view the information most
important to them in a single-page customizable
view. Dashboards can be downloaded or
scheduled for automated delivery in a variety
of formats.

Allows customers to define key performance
metrics and thresholds for monitoring. An
e-mail alert is sent whenever one of these key
performance indicators has been triggered.




New features introduced with the release of Omniture SiteCatalyst 13 in September 2006 include:

Online Business Administration Console A self-service configuration and management
tool that allows our customers fo create,
configure and manage report suites, which are
repositories of customer data within Omniture
SiteCatalyst pertaining to a specific source of
traffic that has been identified by the customer;
manage user access and permissions for
individuals, groups and functions by roles and
entitlements; deploy and manage multiple
currencies and languages; generale data
collection code by application type, including
Web pages, wireless devices, and rich Internet
applications; and provides open access to
external provision systems through a Web
services application protocol interface and
software developer kit.

Web 2.0 Business Optimizations introduced with the release of Omniture SiteCatalyst 13:

Social Networking Allows companies to correlate advertising,
subscriptions, memberships and revenue with
user generated content —such as videos,
reviews, rating and forums.

Blog Value Allows companies to understand the value of
how blogs contribute to business goals including
revenue, orders and repeat frequency.

Dynamic Site Search Prioritizes site search results based on business
goals, e.g. popularity, conversion, profit, etc.

Visitor Interaction Profiling (VIP) Helps companies enrich customer profiles to
identify and analyze important customer
segments — delivering more targeted messages,
products and services.

Open Transaction Framework

In October 2006, we introduced the Open Transaction Framework. This technology enables our customers to
create an information map that touches all Web site pages, managed through a single point, can access business
specific customer attributes, and utilizes Omniture’s existing image and URL management algorithms and code.
This aliows Omniture customers to more quickly and cost-effectively implement third-party applications.

Omniture DataWarehouse

Omniture DataWarehouse stores a comprehensive record of all online visitor events, transactions and
interactions that have occurred on our customers’ Web sites. OQur customers can directly access Omniture
DataWarehouse to design reports and run queries according to their specific needs. Our customers can also
receive direct data feeds from the DataWarehouse to incorporate into their offline systems.

Omniture Discover

Omniture Discover provides a view into Omniture DataWarehouse's data store and allows customers to
quickly create a wide variety of visitor segments and to analyze those segments across various periods and at various
levels of detail. '
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The core features of our Omniture Discover service include:

1-Click Segmentation Allows our customers in real time to define
marketing segmentation criteria easily and
¢reate segments of customers while viewing
how those segments influence the analysis as
criteria are added to the segments.

N-Dimensional Analysis Allows our customers to refine their analyses by
enabling them to correlate the relationships
between any and all data elements, which we
sometimes refer to as data dimensions, with any
other data elements.

New features introduced with the release of Omniture Discover 2 in February 2007 include:

Virtual Focus Group Altows our customers to understand the Web site
experience of individual customers and the
ability to create focus group segments based
on desired attributes.

Advanced Fall-out Analysis Allows our customers to dynamically build and
analyze online processes to improve conversion.

Dynamic Path Flow Allows our customers to explore paths
customers follow through the Web site to
optimize campaign conversion, content
placement and site navigation.

Omniture Genesis

In December 2006, we released Omniture Genesis, a plug-and-play application that automates the integration
of third-party marketing applications into Omniture SiteCatalyst. Using a wizard-based interface, customers can
select from a list of more than 30 accredited application partners to integrate these applications into the Omniture
Online Business Optimization Platform.

Omniture SearchCenter

Omniture SearchCenter provides a single, easy-to-use interface that consolidates and simplifies keyword
marketing and automates the time-consuming process of managing multiple paid search keyword bids with leading
search engines, such as Google and Yahoo!. Using customizable business rules, Omniture SearchCenter helps our
customers automate keyword strategies and processes, target keyword marketing by behavior and lifetime value,
improve keyword performance with integrated analytics and improve cross-channel marketing results.

Features of our Omniture SeachCenter service include:

Integrated Analytics Provides an integrated view of keyword
purchasing data with site activity, including
the success resulting from individual keywords
and ads, and key performance metrics, such as
product sales.
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Keyword Classifier Allows keywords to be categorized into groups
by characteristics. Customers can then view
reports across the dimensions created by these
classifications as well as interact with entire
groups of keywords as if they were a unit
(such as by applying a common business rule
across all words that share a common
classification).

Rule Builder Bid Strategies Allows automated modification of keyword
spending based on keywords or groups of
keywords. Customers can specify a set of
rules, which can include a combination of
performance analytics as well as keyword
publishing information (for example, if
conversion drops below a certain threshold,
decrease spending accordingly), to apply
against their active keywords. Whenever a rule
criterion is met, the actions described by the rule
are  automatically  executed.  Omniture
SearchCenter contains a library of automated
best-practice  strategies and also allows
customers to create customized rules for their
specific bidding strategies.

Excel List Management Allows customers to manage keywords entirely
within Excel. This feature can automatically
populate a worksheet showing keywords,
spending and other information. Customers
can modify this information in Excel and, by
clicking on a button, transfer the changes into
Omniture SearchCenter.

AdMarch Associates keywords with the precise text ad that
was served. This allows our customers to gain
greater insight into which keywords and text ads
are performing,

Omniture Touch Clarity

A recent addition to our platform is Omniture Touch Clarity, behavioral targeting technology that will be added
to our Omniture Online Business Optimization Platform, integrating with Omniture SiteCatalyst, Omniture
DataWarehouse and Qmniture Discover to automate the delivery of relevant content and marketing offers based
on user behavior.

Touch Clarity Targeting, or TCT, builds a profile of visitors to a customer’s Web site utilizing behavioral
information. The software learns in real time which content will best achieve a given goal for each visitor and
triggers the serving of that content. The software uses profiles to learn which content is the most relevant to present
to each individual. Each time a visitor returns, new data is combined with retrieved historical information to ensure
that the very latest and most complete view of the visitor is used as the basis for content targeting decisions. TCT is
architected using open standards and an intelligent decision making engine for the online channel. As such, TCT
can integrate with existing customer relationship management, or CRM, and Web analytic systems to increase
returns from existing infrastructure investments.
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Professional Services, Customer Service and Support

We offer a range of professional services that complement our online business optimization services, including
implementation consulting, best practices consulting and user training provided through Cmniture University.

Implementation Services

Omniture’s Implementation Consulting Group employs experienced technical consultants with advanced
degrees who provide implementation and deployment services to our customers. Our Implementation Consulting
Group leverages a proprietary implementation methodology that is designed to align our customers’ deployments
with their business objectives and requirements. The Omniture Implementation Consulting Group also offers
consulting services for customers who have already deployed our services and are seeking to expand their
implementation.

Omniture Best Practices

Omniture Best Practices is a premium service that provides business optimization consulting to customers.
This consulting reflects the customer’s strategic business objectives, and is often tailored to particular industry
vertical markets such as retail, financial services, travel, media and technology. Projects can include overall
marketing measurement strategies, customer acquisition effectiveness, campaign performance, search keyword
profitability, content stickiness and Web site conversion success. By working with Omniture Best Practices
consulting, customers obtain access to seasoned Web analytics experts that possess deep expertise with Omniture’s
services and industry best practices. Omniture Best Practices engagements can range in time from one week to
several months,

Omniture University

Omniture University provides training to enhance our customers’ use of our online business optimization
services. Omniture University offers a comprehensive range of traditional and online training and certification
options delivered by our team of training professionals. Omniture University complements our online business
optimization services by offering our customers over 30 hours of free content and recorded training, weekly WebEx
conferences on specific topics, custom WebEx conferences and customized onsite training at customer premises.
Beginning in 2007, Omniture began offering Omniture SiteCatalyst certification training. Individuals that suc-
cessfully complete this training are designated as Omniture Certified Professionals. We also rely on third parties 1o
provide certain of Omniture University’s services in some geographic areas.

Customer Service and Support

We believe that superior customer support is critical to retaining and expanding our customer base. As our
customer base has grown, we have added additional personnel to our customer support group. Our customer support
program assists our customers in the use of our services and identifies, analyzes and solves problems or issues with
our services. The support program includes e-mail support, an online repository of helpful information about our
services and telephone support. Our customer support group is available to customers by telephone or e-mail or
through our Web site 24 hours per day, 7 days per week,

Technology, Development and Operations

Technology

We believe that our on-demand platform enables us to deliver software-based services to our customers much
more efficiently than traditional enterprise software vendors. Our hosted software environment eliminates the need
to develop software compatible with a wide variety of hardware systems, operating systems and databases in our
customers’ various technical environments. As a result, we do not need to allocate technical resources to make our
software compatible with these various environments nor do we need to test our software in each possible
combination of hardware and software services that would exist in each customer environment. Rather, we can
focus our resources on improving the functionality, usability and overall value of our services to our customers.
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We believe our on-demand approach provides our customers with a significantly lower total cost of ownership
than would be achieved if our customers deployed traditional enterprise software. As an on-demand software
company, we provide hardware requisitioning and provisioning, application installation, application configuration,
server maintenance, server co-location, data center maintenance, data backup and data security. By consolidating
and performing these services for all our customers, we believe we can provide our services at a lower cost and a
higher service level than individual customers would be able to achieve on their own. Our ability to offer a service
that can be calibrated to varying levels of activity without additional customer hardware allows us not only to scale
efficiently with our customers, but also to align the fees for our services with the current level of service required by
our customers. By being able to continually realign to our customers’ technical and business activities, we deliver
total cost of ownership for our customers that is lower than traditional software installations.

We designed our services as multi-tenant, networked computing applications that are divided into various
components, including load balancing, data collection servers and data analysis servers. Each component is
designed to perform a specific task and serves a particular purpose in the overall application, and each runs on a
cluster of servers. The overall capacity of any given component, and thus the capacity of the system as a whole, can
be increased by adding and configuring servers in each cluster.

We wrote the majority of the software used in our services in industry-standard software programming
languages, such as C and C++, to maximize performance. However, we have also used programming approaches,
such as Java, PHP and AJAX, which are specifically designed for the development of Internet-based applications.

Our hardware consists primarily of Intel-based servers from various vendors, networked behind firewalls and
layer four networking load balancers in seven different third-party data centers, including the data centers utilized
by Instadia and Touch Clarity.

We designed our applications to be flexible. In particular, our platform allows for the capture of online and
offline data a customer might find value in analyzing, and the generation of real-time reports based on that data and
the N-dimensional analysis of that data to the extent it is stored in our Omniture DataWarehouse. Additionally,
customers can provide group and meta information about the data they are collecting through our classification
system, augment the data set by uploading additional data through our data sources tool, or directly insert individual
data records using our open-standards application protocol interfaces that enable data exchange and data insertion.
Our customers are able to capture this information without the need to interact directly with our personnel. This
flexibility not only allows customers to tailor the tool to meet their needs, but also ailows us to make available
additional products and components of our strategic partners.

Customers interact with our services primarily through a Web browser. We support recent versions of all the
major Web browsers on all major operating systems. We have implemented a robust access control and
permissioning system that allows our customers to control which individuals have access to which sets of
information or perform which actions. While the primary client to our application is a Web browser, we have
also built other clients to our application, including a flash-based dashboard player, a plug-in for Microsoft Excel
and a Java-based client for our Omniture Discover service. Additionally, the Web client allows customers to
automate delivery of reports on a scheduled basis in a number of document formats.

In addition, our platform enables the collection of data from a broad range of sources through industry-
standard protocols across a variety of channels of user interaction. We collect and integrate data to enable detailed
analysis across the following primary sources of data: Internet sources; mobile sources; and offline sources.

We offer data collection methods for current and emerging Internet and media formats, including Web beacon
tags, Web servers, rich Internet applications, streaming media formats, blogs, search engines and RSS, an XML
format for sharing content, such as news items, among Web sites. For example, our ActionSource feature enables
data collection for rich Internet applications through its native support for ActionScript, the programming language
for Flash. In addition, our Web beacon tags can capture information specific to our service implementation as well
as issue Web beacons for partner application data collection through the Open Transaction Framework. We believe
this capability streamlines data collection, limits duplicate tagging efforts, and improves the end user experience.

We provide data collection for mobile devices to provide insight into metrics that businesses can use, for
example, to optimize mobile campaigns based on target markets, success of offers and overall return on investment.
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To provide our customers with a more complete view of customer interactions across channels, we intend to offer
data collection for offline data sources, including interactive voice response and call center applications, gaming
consoles, enterprise data warchouses and client software applications.

International Support

Our Omniture SiteCatalyst, Omniture DataWarehouse and Omniture SearchCenter services are available in
Chinese, French, German and Japanese, and we believe additional languages can be added relatively easily. We also
support all global currencies and provide automated conversion between these currencies based on current
exchange rates.

Development

Our investment in research and development was $2.0 million in 2004, $6.6 million in 2005 and $8.7 million in
2006.

Our software engineering and product management teams are engaged in efforts to enhance our existing
services. Qur teams are also working to extend our Omniture SiteCatalyst data collection and reporting platform to
import information from complementary products and services as well as to develop additional services for our
platform.

Because we host the services for our customers, our personnel can fix bugs and provide software updates
remotely during scheduled maintenance windows. Enhancements to our services are able to benefit our entire
customer base without any action required on their part to install an upgrade or update.

Operations

We currently service our customers from seven third-party data center facilities. Of these data centers, five are
located in the United States, two in California, two in Texas and one in Massachusetts. The existing European Touch
Clarity and Instadia customers are serviced from two data centers located in Europe, one in the United Kingdom and
one in Denmark. All facilities are seismically compliant, staffed by trained personnel, access controlled and provide
full backup power, including generators in case of power failure,

We continually monitor the status of our services. For example, we conduct over five million performance
checks per day on our servers. Although we designed our technology platform to be fault tolerant for many
problems, we staff our network operations center in Orem, Utah, 24 hours per day, 7 days per week to respond to
potential disruptions in the system.

Customers

We currently have over 2,000 customers, including America Online, Comcast Corporation, eBay, Inc.,
Expedia, Inc., Ford Motor Company, Gannett, HP, Major League Baseball and Microsoft. America Online and
certain of its affiliated entities, collectively, accounted for 11% of our total revenues in 2005 and 2006. eBay
accounted for 13% of our total revenues in 2004. No other customer accounted for more than 10% of our total
revenues during these periods. Our agreement with America Online has a one-year term and is renewable annually
until 2012. Our agreements with the entities affiliated with America Online have varying durations of approx-
imately one to two years from the date that we entered into these agreements and are generally renewable annually.
In 2006, our services captured data from over 1.4 trillion transactions for our customers.

Strategic Relationships

An important element of our strategy is to establish relationships with third parties whose products and
services are complementary to our online business optimization platform. To help integrate our services with other
third-party services and take advantage of current and emerging technologies, we seek to enter into alliances with
leading technology companies. We believe this approach enables us to focus on our core competencies and provide
additional value to our customers. Examples of some of our strategic relationships include relationships with
DoubleClick Inc., salesforce.com, Inc., major search engine providers and online marketing service providers.
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Search Engine Providers

We have relationships with the major search engine providers to provide automated access to their search
engines through our Omniture SearchCenter service. These relationships allow cusiomers to allocate their
advertising expenditures based on the actual performance of visitors originating from the major search engines.
These relationships allow our customers to create and automate bidding programs and strategies.

Online Marketing Service Providers

We also have integration relationships with other online marketing service providers to leverage our online
business optimization platform for collecting, reporting and segmenting behavioral information from their
marketing services. These include relationships with providers of e-mail, ad serving, internal search, optimization
and multivariate testing, customer surveys and offline marketing databases.

In December 2006, we introduced Omniture Genesis, a wizard-based technology that helps facilitate the
integration of third-party marketing service providers into our platform. At the time of launch, there were 30
accredited application partners including:

Category Partner
Ad Serving DoubleClick Inc.
Behavioral Targeting & Optimization Kefta Inc., Memetrics, Optimost, LLC
CRM Salesforce.com, Inc.
eMail Acxiom Digital, CheetahMail Inc., Epsilon

Interactive, ExactTarget, Responsys Inc. and
Silverpop Systems, Inc.

Search Marketing Ask.com, Enhance Interactive Inc., Google, Inc.,
LookSmart Ltd., MIVA Inc., MSN, SearchFeed,
Yahoo! and YourAmigo

Site Search Endeca Technologies Inc., FAST Search and
Transfer ASA and Mercado Software Inc.

User Experience Foresee Results, Inc. and OpinionLab, Inc.

Other Advertising.com, Inc., Allurent, Bazaarvoice Inc.

and Maxamine Inc.

Sales and Marketing

We sell our services through a combination of direct and indirect sales channels, and we organize our sales and
marketing programs by geographic regions, including North America, EMEA and the Asia-Pacific region. Our
marketing strategy is to generate qualified sales leads, build our brand and raise awareness of Omniture as a leading
provider of online business optimization services.

Direct Sales

We sell our services primarily through our direct sales force, which is comprised of inside sales and field sales
personnel. Our account executives are responsible for initial sales to new prospects, while our account managers
concentrate on expanding pre-existing relationships. We also have a group that is responsible for generating leads
and assisting in sales to large enterprises. We have field sales representatives in more than 20 major cities
worldwide.
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Channel Sales

We have a network of third parties that are authorized resellers and distributors of our technology, as well as a
network of third parties that refer customer prospects to us and assist us in selling to those prospects. These include
more than 140 companies in the following categories: service partners (agencies and consultants), platform partners
(e-commerce, hosting, mobile), application partners and value-added resellers. To ensure partner competency, we
have created certification programs for implementation, support and sales. Dedicated resources have been allocated
to support the channel in marketing, channel sales, operations, client services and product management. We have
developed partner communication tools that include a newsletter, sales and marketing kits and a partner portal.
Omniture has designed this program to allow partners to continually increase their level of participation and
benefits. Omniture reviews its partnerships annually. The Omniture Partner Program contains three open levels and
one restricted level of partnership. Existing partnerships are evaluated for strategic fit, certification and accred-
itation achievements and business performance.

International Sales

We first began offering our services in international markets in 2003. Revenues from customers outside the
United States have increased from 9% of our total sales in 2004 to 11% in 2005 and to 17% in 2006. We have sales
representatives in Australia, Belgium, Denmark, France, Germany, Hong Kong, Japan, Korea and the United
Kingdom, and our current international efforts are focused on strengthening our direct sales and marketing presence
in Europe and the Asia-Pacific region.

Marketing

Our marketing programs include a variety of advertising, events, public relations activities and Web-based
seminar campaigns targeted at key executives and decision makers within businesses.

Our principal marketing initiatives inciude:

= customer referral programs;

* direct e-mail and online Web advertising campaigns;

* participation in, and sponsorship of, user conferences, trade shows and industry events;

* cooperative marketing efforts with partners, including joint press announcements, joint trade show activities,
channel marketing campaigns and joint seminars; and

* using our Web site to provide product and company information,

Omniture Summit

As part of our commitment to enhance the value that our customers derive from our services, we annually host
Omniture Summit, a two-day conference for our customers that provides in-depth, hands-on training from our
Omniture Best Practices group and Omniture SiteCatalyst service architects, as well as keynote addresses and panel
discussions. Omniture Summit has brought our executives together with technologists, industry experts and several
hundred customer attendees for discussions on issues and strategies that are critical to the success of any online
business optimization initiative. Each year, our customers are actively involved in leading sessions and participating in
panel discussions about real-world techniques that have delivered tangible returns on investment for their enterprises.
To support our growing international customer base, we intend to offer Omniture Summit 2007 on a world-wide basis
for the first time with conferences held in Salt Lake City, Copenhagen, Munich, London, Paris and Sydney.

Competition

The markets in which we operate are rapidly evolving and highly competitive. We compete primarily with
vendors whose software is provided on-demand to customers, generally through an Internet browser. We also
compete to a limited extent with vendors whose software is installed by customers directly on their servers. In
addition, we compete at times with internally developed applications.
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Our current principal competitors include:
* companies such as Coremetrics, Inc., Google Inc., Nedstat Ltd., WebSideStory, Inc. and WebTrends Inc. that
offer on-demand services;

« software vendors such as Epiphany, Inc. (acquired by SSA Global), NetRatings, Inc., Sane Solutions, LLC
{acquired by Unica Corporation) and SAS Institute, Inc.; and

» online marketing service providers such as aQuantive, Inc., DoubleClick Inc. and 24/7 Real Media, Inc.
*» behavioral targeting providers, including Offermatica, Optimost LLC, Memetrics, Kefta Inc. and [x + 1]
Some of our current competitors have longer operating historics, greater name recognition, access to larger
client bases, and substantially greater resources, including sales and marketing, financial and other resources. In
addition, large software, Internet and database management companies may enter the market or enhance their Web
analytics capabilities and compete against us effectively as a result of their significant resources and pre-existing

relationships with our current and potential customers. For example, Google Inc. offers a Web analytics service free
of charge.

We believe the principal competitive factors in our markets include the following:

*» the proven performance, security, scalability, flexibility and reliability of services;
* pricing;

+ the intuitiveness and visual appeal of services’ user interfaces;

* low total cost of ownership and demonstrable cost-effective benefits to customers;
* the ability of services to provide N-dimensional segmentation of information;

* the flexibility and adaptability of services 10 match changing business demands;

» enterprise-level customer service and training;

« the usability of services, including services being easy to learn and remember, efficient and visually
compelling;

+ the real-time availability of data and reporting;

+ the ability to deploy the services globally and to provide multi-currency, multi-language and multi-character
support; and

* success in educating customers in how to utilize services effectively.

We believe that we compete favorably with our competitors on the basis of these factors. However, if we are
not able to compete successfully against our current and future competitors, it will be difficult to acquire and retain
customers, and we may experience revenue declines, reduced operating margins, loss of market share and
diminished value in our services. '

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of trademark, copyright and trade secret laws and disclosure restrictions to protect
our intellectual property rights. We have 19 issued patents in the United States and one patent in the United
Kingdom, as well as 50 United States and 35 related international patent applications pending. The expiration dates
of our issued patents noted above range from the years 2017 to 2022. The claims under the issued patents are
generally directed to: data modeling and classification; online messaging optimization; Web site traffic analytics
and predictive modeling; online behavior prediction and analysis; real-time monitoring and aggregation of Web
activity; Web content management and optimization; and compilation of data records relating to Web site visitation
sessions. We have a number of registered and unregistered trademarks, We maintain a policy requiring our
employees, consultants and other third parties to enter into confidentiality and proprietary rights agreements and to
control access to software, documentation and other proprietary information.
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The steps we have taken to protect our intellectual property rights may not be adequate. Third parties may
infringe or misappropriate our proprictary rights. Competitors may also independently develop technologies that
are substantially equivalent cor superior to the technologies we employ in our services. The global nature of the
Internet allows our Web sites to be viewed worldwide, but we do not have intellectual property protection in every
Jurisdiction. Furthermore, effective patent, trademark, service mark, copyright and trade secret protection may not
be available in every country in which our services are available over the Internet. In addition, the legal standards
relating to the validity, enforceability and scope of protection of intellectual property rights in Internet-related
industries are uncertain and still evolving. Failure to protect our proprietary rights adequately could significantly
harm our competitive position and results of operations.

The Internet, software and technology industries are characterized by the existence of a large number of
patents, copyrights, trademarks and trade secrets and by frequent litigation based on allegations of infringement or
other violations of intellectual property rights. As we face increasing competition, the possibility of intellectual
property rights claims against us grows. Our technologies may not be able to withstand any third-party claims or
rights against their use. Additionally, although we have licensed from other parties proprietary technology covered
by patents, we cannot be certain that these patents will not be challenged, invalidated or circumvented. Many of our
service agreements require us to indemnify our customers for third-party intellectual property infringements claims,
which would increase our costs as a result of defending those claims and might require that we pay damages if there
were an adverse ruling in any such claims. We, and certain of our customers, have in the past received
correspondence from third parties alleging that certain of our services, or customers’ use of our services, violates
these third parties’ patent rights. For example, we are aware that five of our customers have received letters from a
third party alleging. among other things, that these customers’ online activities, including the use of our services,
infringe its patents. One of these customers has requested that we indemnify it against these allegations. Other
customers may receive similar allegations of infringement and make similar requests for indemnification under our
service agreement with them or this third party may make claims directly against us. These types of correspondence
and future claims could harm our relationships with our customers and might deter future customers from
subscribing to our services. Any of these results could harm our brand and operating resuits.

With respect to any intellectual property rights claim against us or our customers, we may have to pay damages
or stop using technology found to be in violation of a third party’s rights, We may have to seek a license for the
technology, which may not be available on reasonable terms, may significantly increase our operating expenses or
require us to restrict our business activities in one or more respects. The technology also may not be available for
license to us at all. As a result, we may also be required to develop alternative non-infringing technology, which
could require significant effort and expense. In May 20053, we were sued in the United States District Court for the
District of Delaware by NetRatings, Inc. In the suit, NetRatings alleged that our Omniture SiteCatalyst service
infringed on four patents in which NetRatings claims an ownership interest. In February 2006, we entered into a
settlement and patent license agreement with NetRatings, pursuant to which NetRatings licensed its entire patent
portfolio to us and we agreed to settle all pending legal claims.

The settlement and patent license agreement grants us certain nonexclusive, worldwide rights to all of
NetRatings’ issued patents and pending patent applications. The license contains customary requirements that we
label our services, enables us to grant sublicenses under certain circumstances and contains exceptions for certain
uses of NetRatings’ patents. The agreement requires us to make license payments of $10.0 million, $7.0 million of
which has previously been paid, including a $1.0 million payment in March 2007, and the balance of which is due in
quarterly installments of $1.0 million each during the second through fourth quarters of in 2007. In addition, we
were required to make a license payment of $4.0 million following the closing of our initial public offering of
common stock in July 2006. In the event that we acquire certain specified companies, we may be required to make
additional license payments based on the Web analytics revenues of the acquired company. The agreement also
provides that if we acquire other companies we may elect to make additional license payments based on the Web
analytics revenues of the acquired company to ensure that the acquired company’s products, services or technology
are covered by the license. For example, in connection with our acquisition of Instadia, we made an additional
license payment of approximately $0.3 million in the first quarter of 2007, and in connection with our acquisition of
Touch Clarity, we expect to make an additional license payment of approximately $0.5 million in the second quarter
of 2007.
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In the event of a change of control of Omniture, the settlement and patent license agreement may be assigned to
the purchaser upon written notice to NetRatings, subject to certain limitations. The patent license from NetRatings
would be limited to (1) our commercially released services as of date of the change of control, (2) the elements of
our services that were under development as of the date of the change of control if those services are released as
standard services within twelve months of the date of the change of control, (3) future versions of our services
commercially released as of the date of the change of control or other services under development as of the date of
the change of control that contain no more than patches to, bug fixes of, minor enhancements or modifications of, or
minor updates or upgrades of the original versions (except for any new features or functionality added to original
versions which infringe a NetRatings patent that did not already cover the original versions) and (4) future versions
of our services commercially released as of the date of the change of control or other services under development as
of the date of the change of control that completely replace any such services. The license will not cover the
combination, merger, bundling or incorporation of our services, or any portion of them, with any of the purchaser’s
Web analytics products, services or technology, unless (1) the purchaser’s Web analytics products, services or
technology represents less than 40% of the source code of the combined, merged or bundled Web analytics product
and (2) the purchaser’s Web analytics products, services or technology do not infringe on a patent of NetRatings
(other than patents that covered our products, services and/or technology prior to the change of control).

Pursuant to the terms of the agrecment, the suit has been dismissed with prejudice. The parties have mutually
released each other from claims regarding patents as of the date of the agreement, and we have agreed that we will
not sue NetRatings for infringement of certain of our patents, subject to certain limitations.

United States and Foreign Government Regulation

The Internet, and in particular, the regulation of commercial enterprises on the Internet, has become a focus of
state, federal and foreign governments in recent years. Discussions among policymakers and proposed regulation
regarding the Internet have focused on the protection of consumer privacy. Much of the proposed and enacted
legislation regulates the collection and disclosure of personally identifiable information of computer users such as
their names, addresses, credit card information and social security numbers.

Various state legislatures have enacted legislation designed to protect consumers’ privacy by prohibiting the
distribution of “spyware” over the Internet, Such anti-spyware laws typically focus on restricting the proliferation of
certain kinds of downloadable software, or spyware, that, when installed on an end user’s computer, are used to
intentionally and deceptively take control of the end user’s machine. We do not believe that the data collection
methods employed by our technology constitute “spyware” or that such methods are prohibited by such legislation.
Similar legislation has been proposed federally, This legislation, if drafted broadly enough, could be deemed to
apply to the technology we use and could potentially restrict our information collection methods. Any restriction or
change to our information collection methods would cause us to spend substantial amounts of money and time to
make changes and could decrease the amount and utility of the information that we collect.

Both existing and proposed laws regulate and restrict the collection and use of information over the Internet
that personally identifies the Web site visitor. These laws continue to change and vary among domestic and foreign
jurisdictions, but certain information such as names, addresses, telephone numbers, credit card numbers and e-mail
addresses are widely considered personally identifying. The scope of information collected over the Internet that is
considered personally identifying may become more expansive, and it is possible that current and future legislation
may apply to information that our customers currently collect without the explicit consent of Web site visitors. If
information that our customers collect and use without explicit consent is considered to be personally identifying,
their ability to collect and use this information will be restricted and they would have to change their methods,
which could lead to decreased use of our services.

Domestic and foreign governments are also considering restricting the collection and use of Internet usage data
generally. Some privacy advocates argue that even anonymous data, individually or when aggregated, may reveal
too much information about Web site visitors. If governmental authorities were to follow privacy advocates’
recommendations and enact laws that limit data collection practices, our customers would likely have to obtain the
express consent of a user of our customers” Web sites before we could collect, share or use any of that user’s
information regardless of whether the collection is done on behalf of our customers. Any requirement that we obtain
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consent from the users of our customers’ Web sites would reduce the amount and value of the information that we
provide to customers, which might cause some existing customers to discontinue using our services. We would also
need to expend considerable effort and resources to develop new information collection procedures to comply with
an express consent requirement. Even if our customers succeeded in developing new procedures, they might be
unable to convince Internet users to agree to the collection and use of the users’ information. This would negatively
impact our revenues, growth and potential for expanding our business and could cause our stock price to decline,

Employees

At December 31, 2006, we had 353 full-time employees. None of our employees is represented by a labor
union. We consider our relationship with our employees to be good.
Executive Officers

The following table provides information regarding our executive officers:

Name Age Position

Joshua G. James .................. 33 President and Chief Executive Officer

JohnR. Pestana. .................. 33 Executive Vice President, Customer Success and
Chairman of the Board

Michael S. Herring . ............... 38 Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice
President

Brett M. Error . . .................. 35 Chief Technology Officer and Executive Vice

President, Products
Christopher C. Harrington . .. ........ 37 President, Worldwide Sales and Client Services

Joshua G. James is one of our founders and has served as a director and as our Chief Executive Officer since
1996. Mr. James also served on the Brigham Young University eBusiness Advisory Board and is a Silver Founder of
the BYU Center for Entrepreneurship. He has lectured for numerous university classes and served on several other
industry, advisory and private company boards. Mr. James attended Brigham Young University.

John R. Pestana is one of our founders and has served as Chairman of our board of directors since 1998 and as
our Executive Vice President, Customer Success since 2004. From 1996 to 2004, Mr. Pestana served as our
President. Mr. Pestana is a Silver Founder of the BYU Center for Entrepreneurship. Mr. Pestana attended Brigham
Young University.

Michael 5. Herring has served as our Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President since November
2004. From November 2000 to August 2004, Mr. Herring served as Chief Financial Officer of MyFamily.com, Inc.,
an online network. Mr. Herring was also Vice President, Finance of Third Age Media, Inc., an Internet content
company, and the Controller of Anergen, Inc., a biotechnology company. Mr. Herring is a Certified Public
Accountant and holds a B.A. in Economics and Political Science from the University of California at Los Angeles.

Brett M. Error has served as our Chief Technology Officer and Executive Vice President, Products since 1999.
Prior to joining us, Mr. Error worked for an Internet service provider and Web development agency. Mr. Error holds
a B.S. in Biology from the University of Utah.

Christopher C. Harrington has served as our President, Worldwide Sales since January 2003. From November
2001 to December 2002, Mr. Harrington was Vice President, Worldwide Sales for Domain Systems, Inc., an
enterprise software provider. From 2000 to 2001, Mr. Harrington was Vice President, Worldwide Sales of RichFX,
Inc., an online visual merchandising and marketing service provider. From 1997 to 2000, Mr. Harringten was Vice
President, Worldwide Sales of Viewpoint Corporation (a Computer Associates company), a provider of visual
marketing technology and services. From 1994 to 1997, Mr. Harrington was National Sales Operations Manager for
The DIRECTY Group, Inc., a direct broadcast satellite television provider. From 1988 to 1994, Mr. Harrington was
Call Center Director for Convergys Corporation (a Cincinnati Bell company), a provider of third-party call center
solutions. Mr. Harrington attended Southern Utah University.
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Available Information

We make available free of charge through our investor relations Web site, www.omtr.com, our annual reports on
Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, proxy statements and all amendments to
those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed or furnished with the SEC.
These reports may also be obtained without charge by contacting Investor Relations, Omniture, Inc., 550 East
Timpanogos Circie, Orem, Utah 84097, phone: 1-801-722-7037, e-mail: ir@omniture.com. Qur Internet Web site
and the information contained therein or incorporated therein are not intended to be incorporated into this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. In addition, the public may read and copy any materials we file or furnish with the SEC at the
SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549 or may obtain information on the
operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. Moreover, the SEC maintains an
Internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding reports that
we file or furnish electronically with them at hup:/fwww.sec.gov.

ITEM 1A. Risk Faclors
Factors That Could Affect Future Results

Set forth below and elsewbere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and in other documents we file with the
SEC are descriptions of risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results
contemplated by the forward-looking statements contained in this repori. Becavse of the foltowing factors, as well
as other variables affecting our operating results, past financial performance should not be considered a reliable
indicator of future performance and investors should not use historical trends to anticipate results or trends in future
periods. The risks and uncertainties described betow are not the only ones facing us. Other events that we do not
currently anticipate or that we currently deem immaterial also may affect our results of operations and financial
condition. The description below includes any material changes to and supersedes the description of the risk factors
affecting our business previously disclosed in “Part I1, Item 1A. Risk Factors™ of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2006.

Risks Related to Our Business

We have a history of significant net losses, may incur significant net losses in the future and may not
achieve or maintain profitability.

We have incurred significant losses in recent pertods, including a net loss of $1.3 million in 2004, a net loss of
$17.4 million in 2005 and a net loss of $7.7 million during 2006, primarily as a result of significant investments that
we have made in our network infrastructure and sales and marketing organization. At December 31, 2006, we had
an accumulated deficit of $38.8 million. We may not be able to achieve or maintain profitability and we may
continue to incur significant losses in the future. In addition, we expect to continue to increase operating expenses as
we implement initiatives to continue to grow our business, which include, among other things, plans for
international expansion, expansion of our infrastructure, the development of new services and general and
administrative expenses associated with being a public company. If our revenues do not increase to offset these
expected increases in costs and operating expenses, we will not be profitable. You should not consider our revenue
growth in recent periods as indicative of our future performance. In fact, in future periods our revenues could
decline. Accordingly, we cannot assure you that we will be able to achieve or maintain profitability in the future.

We have derived substantially all of our subscription revenues from sales of our Omniture SiteCatalyst
service. If our Omniture SiteCatalyst service is not widely accepted by new customers, our operating
results will be harmed.

We denive substantially all of our revenues from subscriptions to cur Omniture SiteCatalyst service, and we
expect that we will continue to derive the substantial majority of our revenues from our Cmniture SiteCatalyst
service in the future. To date, we have not received significant revenues from our Omniture DataWarehouse,
Omniture Discover, Omniture SearchCenter and Omniture Genesis services. We expect that we will continue to be
highly dependent on the success of our Omniture SiteCatalyst service for the foreseeable future. If our Omniture
SiteCatalyst service is unable to remain competitive and provide value to our customers, our ability to achieve
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widespread acceptance of our Omniture SiteCatalyst service may be hindered and our revenue growth and business
will be harmed.

If we are unable to attract new customers or to sell additional services to our existing customers, our rev-
enue growth will be adversely affected.

To increase our revenues, we must regularly add new customers, sell additional services to existing customers
and encourage existing customers to increase their minimum commitment levels. If our existing and prospective
customers do not perceive our services to be of sufficiently high value and quality, we may not be able to attract new
customers or increase sales to existing customers and our operating results will be adversely affected.

Our business depends substantially on customers renewing their subscriptions for our online business
optimization services. Any decline in our customer renewals would harm our future operating results.

We sell our online business optimization services pursuant to service agreements that are generally one to three
years in length. Our customers have no obligation to renew their subscriptions for our services after the expiration of
their initial subscription period and we cannot assure you that these subscriptions will be renewed at the same or
higher level of service, if at all. In fact, some of our customers have elected not to renew their agreements with us.
Moreover, under some circumstances, some of our customers have the right to cancel their service agreements prior
to the expiration of the terms of their agreements. We have limited historical data with respect to rates of customer
subscription renewals, so we cannot accurately predict future customer renewal rates. Our customers’ renewal rates
may decline or fluctuate as a result of a number of factors, including their satisfaction or dissatisfaction with our
services, the prices of our services, the prices of services offered by our cempetitors, mergers and acquisitions
affecting our customer base or reductions in our customers’ spending levels. If our customers do not renew their
subscriptions for our services or if they renew on less favorable terms, our revenues may decline and our business
will suffer.

The significant capital requirements aof our business model make it more difficult to achieve positive cash
flow and prefitability if we continue to grow rapidly.

Our business model involves our making significant upfront and ongoing capital expenditures, primarily for
network operations equipment, such as servers and other network devices. Because the time frame for evaluating
and implementing our services, particularly for larger implementations, can be lengthy, ranging from 10 to 90 days
or longer, and because we begin (o invoice our customers only after the service implementation is complete, we
make these expenditures well before we receive any cash from the customer. Consequently, it takes a number of
months or longer to achieve posilive cash flow for a customer. As a result, rapid growth in customers would require
substantial amounts of cash. In addition, because of the lengthy implementation periods for new customers, we
experience a delay between the increase in our operating expenses and the generation of corresponding revenues.
We depreciate our capital equipment over a period of approximately four years, with depreciation being included in
our cost of subscription revenues beginning immediately upon purchase of the equipment. We recognize revenue, at
the earliest, only when we complete implementation of our services and invoice the customer. Thus, it takes a
number of months or longer for a new customer to become profitable.

Our growth depends upon our ability to add new and retain existing large customers; however, to the
extent we are successful in doing se, our gross margins and ability to achieve profitability and positive
cash flow may be impaired.

Our success depends on our ability to sell our online business optimization services to large customers and on
those customers continuing to renew their subscriptions with us in successive years. We derive a significant
percentage of our total revenues from a relatively small number of large customers, and the loss of any one or more
of those customers could decrease our revenues and harm our current and future operating results. However, the
addition of new large customers or increase in minimum commitment levels by large existing customers requires
particularly large capital expenditures and long implementation periods, resulting in longer than usual time periods
to profitability and positive cash flow for these customers. In addition, we generatly sell our services to our large
customers at a price per transaction lower than for other customers due 1o their larger transaction commitments.
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Finally, some of our customers have in the past required us to allocate dedicated personnel to provide our services as
a condition to entering into service agreements with us. As a result, new large customers or increased usage of our
services by large customers may cause our gross margins to decline and negatively impact our profitability and cash
flows in the near term.

Because we recognize subscription revenue over the term of the applicable agreement, the lack of sub-
scription renewals or new service agreements may not immediately be reflected in our operating results.

The majority of our quarterly revenues represent revenues attributable to service agreements entered into
during previous quarters. As a result, a decline in new or renewed service agreements in any one quarter will not be
fully reflected in our revenues for the corresponding quarter but will negatively affect our revenues in future
quarters. Additionally, the effect of significant downturns in sales and market acceptance of our services in a
particular quarter may not be fully reflected in our resulis of operations until future periods. Our business model
would also make it difficult for any rapid increase in new or renewed service agreements to increase our revenues in
any one period because revenues from new customers must be recognized over the applicable service agreement
term.

We have limited experience with respect to our pricing model and if the prices we charge for our services
are unacceplable to our customers, our reventes and operating results will be harmed.

We have limited experience with respect to determining the appropriate prices for our services that our existing
and potential customers will find acceptable. As the market for our services matures, or as new competitors
introduce new products or services that compete with ours, we may be unable to renew our agreements with existing
customers or attract new customers at the same price or based on the same pricing model as we have used
historically. For example, we face competition from businesses that offer their services at substantially lower prices
than our services, and Google Inc. currently offers its Web analytics service for free. As a result, in the future it is
possible that competitive dynamics in our market may require us to change our pricing model or reduce our prices,
which could have a material adverse effect on our revenues, gross margin and operating results,

If we are unable to develop ar acquire new services, our revenue growth will be harmed.

Our ability to attract new customers and increase revenues from existing customers will depend in large part on
our ability to enhance and improve existing services and to introduce new services in the future. The success of any
enhancement or new service depends on several factors, including the timely completion, introduction and market
acceptance of the enhancement or service. Any new service we develop or acquire may not be introduced in a timely
or cost-effective manner and may not achieve the broad market acceptance necessary to generate significant
revenues. For example, we have recently introduced Omniture SearchCenter and Omniture Genesis, but we have
not yet received significant revenues from these services. Additionally, our existing and prospective customers may
develop their own competing technologies or purchase competitive products or services or engage third-party
providers. If we are unable to successfully develop or acquire new services or enhance our existing services to meet
customer requirements, our business and operating results will be adversely affected.

QOur quarterly results of operations may fluctuate in the future. As a result, we may fail to meet or exceed
the expectations of securities analysts or investors, which could cause our stock price to decline.

Our quarterly results of operations may fluctuate as a result of a variety of factors, many of which are outside of
our control. If our quarterly results of operations fall below the expectations of securities analysts or investors, the
price of our common stock could decline substantially, Fluctuations in our quarterly results of operations may be
due to a number of factors, including, but not limited to, those listed below:

» our ability to increase sales to existing customers and attract new customers;
+ the addition or loss of large customers;

+ the amount and timing of operating costs and capital expenditures related to the maintenance and expansion
of our business, operations and infrastructure;
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» the timing and success of new product and service introductions by us or our competitors;
» seasonal variations in the demand for our services and the implementation cycles for cur new customers;

s levels of revenues from our larger customers, which have lower per transaction pricing due to higher
transaction commitments;

« changes in our pricing policies or those of our competitors;
* service outages or security breaches;

» the extent to which any of our significant customers terminate their service agreements with us or reduce the
number of transactions from which we capture data pursuant to their service agreements;

« limitations of the capacity of our network and systems;
* the timing of costs related to the development or acquisition of technologies, services or businesses;

+ general economic, industry and market conditions and those conditions specific to Internet usage and online
businesses;

« the purchasing and budgeting cycles of our customers; and
s geopolitical events such as war, threat of war or terrorist actions.

We believe that our quarterly revenues and results of operations may vary significantly in the future and that
period-to-period comparisons of our operating results may not be meaningful. You should not rely on the results of
one quarter as an indication of future performance.

The market for on-demand services, in general, and for online business optimization services, in parficu-
lar, is at an early stage of development, and if it does not develop or develops more slowly than we expect,
our business will be harmed.

The market for on-demand services, in general, and for online business optimization services, in particular, is
at an early stage of development, and it is uncertain whether these services will achieve and sustain high levels of
demand and market acceptance. Our success will depend to a substantial extent on the willingness of companies to
increase their use of on-demand services, in general, and for online business optimization services, in particular.
Many companies have invested substantial personnel and financial resources to integrate traditional enterprise
software into their businesses, and therefore may be reluctant or unwilling to migrate to on-demand services. Other
factors that may affect market acceptance include:

+ the security capabilities, reliability and availability of on-demand services;

* customer concerns with entrusting a third party to store and manage their data;

* public concern regarding privacy;

« the level of customization or configuration we offer;

* our ability to maintain high levels of customer satisfaction;

* our ability to provide reports in real time during periods of intense activity on customer Web sites;
» the price, performance and availability of competing products and services;

» the rate of continued growth in online commerce and online advertising; and

« the current and possible future imposition by federal, state and local agencies of taxes on goods and services
that are provided over the Internet.

The market for these services may not develop further, or it may develop more slowly than we expect, either of
which woutd harm our business. '
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We operate in a highly competitive market, which could make it difficult for us to acquire and retain
customers.

We compete in a rapidly evolving and highly competitive market. A significant portion of our business
competes with third-party, on-demand services, software vendors and online marketing service providers. Our
current principal competitors include:

* companies such as Coremetrics, Inc., Google Inc., Nedstat Ltd., WebSideStory, Inc. and WebTrends Inc. that
offer on-demand services;

+ software vendors such as Epiphany, Inc. (acquired by SSA Global), NetRatings, Inc., Sane Solutions, L1.C
(acquired by Unica Corporation) and SAS Institute, Inc.;

+ online marketing service providers such as aQuantive, Inc., DoubleClick Inc. and 24/7 Real Media, Inc.; and
« behavioral targeting providers including Memetrics, Kefta and x + 1

Many of the companies that offer Web analytics software offer other products or services and as a result could
also bundle their products or services, which may result in these companies effectively selling their products or
services at or below market prices.

Some of our current and potential competitors have longer operating histories, greater name recognition,
access to larger customer bases and substantially greater resources, including sales and marketing, financial and
other resources. As a result, these competitors may be able to:

* absorb costs associated with providing their products at a lower price;

+ devote MOTE resOUrces (0 new customer acquisitions;

* respond to evolving market needs more guickly than we can; and

+ finance more research and development activities to develop better services.

In addition, large software, Internet and database management companies may enter the market or enhance
their Web analytics capabilities, either by developing competing services or by acquiring existing competitors of
ours, and compete against us effectively as a result of their significant resources and pre-existing relationships with
our current and potential customers. For example, Google Inc. has a Web analytics service that it offers free of
charge.

If our services achieve broader commercial acceptance and as we introduce additional services, we expect that
we will experience competition from additional companies.

If we are not able to compete successfully against our current and future competitors, it wiil be difficult to
acquire and retain customers, and we may experience limited revenue growth, reduced revenues and operating
margins and loss of market share,

We rely on a small number of third-party service providers to host and deliver our services, and any inter-
ruptions or delays in services from these third parties could impair the delivery of our services and harm
our business.

We host our services, and serve all of our customers from seven third-party data center facilities located in
California, Texas, Massachusetts, the United Kingdom and Denmark. We do not control the operation of any of
these facilities, and depending on service level requirements, we may not operate or maintain redundant data center
facilities for all of our services or for all of our customers’ data, which increases our vulnerability. These facilities
are vulnerable to damage or interruption from earthquakes, hurricanes, floods, fires, power loss, telecommuni-
cations failures and similar events. They are also subject to break-ins, computer viruses, sabotage, intentional acts of
vandalism and other misconduct. The occurrence of a natural disaster or an act of terrorism, a decision to close the
facilities without adequate notice or other unanticipated problems could result in lengthy interruptions in our
services. Additionally, our data center facility agreements are of limited durations, and our data facilities have no
obligation to renew their agreements with us on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. Furthermore, one of our
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data center facility agreements requires that we pay for a variable component of power costs and provides for
discretionary increases, up to a maximum amount, to the price we pay for use of the facility, thereby potentially
subjecting us to variations in the cost of power and hosting fees. If we are unable to renew our agreements with the
facilities on commercially reasonable terms, we may experience delays in the provisioning of our services until an
agreement with another data center facility can be arranged.

Furthermore, we depend on access to the Internet through third-party bandwidth providers to operate our
business. If we lose the services of one or more of our bandwidth providers for any reason, we could experience
disruption in our services or we could be required to retain the services of a replacement bandwidth provider.

Our operations also rely heavily on the availability of electricity, which also comes from third-party providers.
If we or the third-party data center facilities that we use to deliver our services were 1o experience a major power
outage or if the cost of electricity increases significantly, our operations would be harmed. If we or our third-party
data centers were to experience a major power outage, we would have to rely on back-up generators, which may not
work properly, and their supply might be inadequate during a major power outage. Such a power outage could result
in a disruption of our business.

Any errors, defects, interruptions, delays, disruptions or other performance problems with our services could
harm our reputation and may damage our customers’ businesses. Interruptions in our services might reduce our
revenues, cause us 10 issue credits to customers, cause customers to terminate their subscriptions and adversely
affect our renewal rates. Our business would be harmed if our customers and potential customers believe our
services are unreliable.

If we fail to respond to rapidly changing technological developments or evolving industry standards, our
services may become obsolete or less competitive,

The market for our services is characterized by rapid technological advances, changes in customer require-
ments, changes in protocols and evolving industry standards. If we are unable to develop enhancements to, and new
features for, our existing services or acceptable new services that keep pace with rapid technological developments,
our services may become obsolete, less marketable and less competitive and our business will be harmed.

We have experienced rapid growth in recent periods. If we fail to manage our growth effectively, we may
be unable to execute our business plan, maintain high levels of service or address competitive challenges
adequately.

We have substantially expanded our overall business, customer base, headcount and operations in recent
periods. We increased our total number of full-time employees from 157 at December 31, 2004 to 353 at
December 31, 2006. In addition, during this same period, we made substantial investments in our network
infrastructure operations as a result of our growth. We will need to continue to expand our business. We anticipate
that this expansion will require substantial management effort and significant additional investment in our
infrastructure. In addition, we will be required to continue to improve our operational, financial and management
controls and our reporting procedures. As such, we may be unable to manage our expenses effectively in the future,
which may negatively impact our gross margins or cause our operating expenses to increase in any particular
quarter. Our historic expansion has placed, and our expected future growth will continue to place, a significant strain
on our managerial, administrative, operational, financial and other resources. If we are unable to manage our growth
successfully, our business will be harmed.

Failure to effectively expand our sales and marketing capabilities could harm our ability to increase our
customer base and achieve broader market acceptance of our services,

Increasing our customer base and achieving broader market acceptance of our services will depend to a
significant extent on our ability to expand our sales and marketing operations. We expect to be substantially
dependent on our direct sales force to obtain new customers. We plan to continue to expand our direct sales force
both domestically and internationally. We believe that there is significant competition for direct sales personnel
with the sales skills and technical knowledge that we require. Our ability to achieve significant growth in revenues
in the future will depend, in large part, on our success in recruiting, training and retaining sufficient numbers of
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direct sales personnel. New hires require significant training and, in most cases, take a significant period of time
before they achieve full productivity. Our recent hires, sales personnel added through our recent business
acquisitions and planned hires may not become as productive as we would like, and we may be unable to hire
or retain sufficient numbers of qualified individuals in the future in the markets where we do business. Our business
will be seriously harmed if these expansion efforts do not generate a corresponding significant increase in revenues.

Our growth depends in part on the success of our strategic relationships with third parties, including
technology integration, channel partners and resellers of our services.

We may not be able to develop or maintain strategic relationships with third parties with respect to either
technology integration or channel development for a number of reasons, including because of relationships with our
competitors or prospective competitors. If we are unsuccessful in establishing or maintaining our strategic
relationships, our ability to compete in the marketplace or to grow our revenues would be impaired and our
operating results would suffer, Further, if search engine or other online marketing providers restrict access to their
networks or increase the currently nominal prices they charge for the vse of their application programming
interfaces, our ability to deliver services of sufficiently high value to our customers at a profitable price will be
negatively affected. Even if we are successful in establishing and maintaining these relationships, we cannot assure
you that these will result in increased customers or revenues.

Because our long-term success depends, in part, on our ability to expand the sales of our services to cus-
tomers located outside of the United States, our business will be susceptible to risks associated with inter-
national operations.

We currently maintain offices outside of the United States and currently have operations, sales personnel or
independent consultants in several countries. We have limited experience operating in foreign jurisdictions. Our
inexperience in operating our business outside of the United States increases the risk that our current and any future
international expansion efforts will not be successful. In addition, conducting international operations subjects us to
new risks that we have not generally faced in the United States. These include:

¢ fluctuations in currency exchange rates;
» unexpected changes in foreign regulatory requirements;
* longer accounts receivable payment cycles and difficulties in collecting accounts receivable;

* difficulties in managing and staffing international operations;

+ potentially adverse tax consequences, including the complexities of foreign value added tax systems and
restrictions on the repatriation of earnings;

* localization of our services, including translation into foreign languages and associated expenses;

+ dependence on certain third parties to increase customer subscriptions;
pe P p

the burdens of complying with a wide variety of foreign laws and different legal standards;

increased financial accounting and reporting burdens and complexities;
* political, social and economic instability abroad, terrorist attacks and security concerns in general; and
+ reduced or varied protection for intellectual property rights in some countries.

The occurrence of any one of these risks could negatively affect our international business and, consequently,
our results of operations generally.

Additionally, operating in international markets also requires significant management attention and financial
resources. We cannot be certain that the investment and additional resources required in establishing operations in
other countries will produce desired levels of revenues or profitability.
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Some of our international subscription fees are currently denominated in United States dollars and paid in local
currency. As a result, fluctuations in the value of the United States dollar and foreign currencies may make our
services more expensive for international customers, which could harm our business.

We may be liable to our customers and may lose customers if we provide poor service, if our services do
not comply with our agreements or if we are unable to collect customer data or otherwise lose customer
data.

Because of the large amount of data that we collect and manage, it is possible that hardware failures or errors in
our systems could result in data loss or corruption or cause the information that we collect to be incomplete or
contain inaccuracies that our customers regard as significant. Furthermore, our ability to collect and report data may
be interrupted by a number of factors, including our inability to access the Internet, the failure of our network or
software systems, security breaches or variability in user traffic on customer Web sites. In addition, computer
viruses may harm our systems causing us to lose data, and the transmission of computer viruses could expose us to
litigation. We may also find, on occasion, that we cannot deliver data and reports to our customers in real time
because of significant spikes in consumer activity on their Web sites. We may be liable to our customers for
damages they may incur resulting from these events, such as loss of business, loss of future revenues, breach of
contract or for the loss of goodwill to their business. In addition to potential liability, if we supply inaccurate
information or experience interruptions in our ability to capture, store and supply information in real time or at all,
our reputation could be harmed and we could lose customers.

Our errors and omissions insurance may be inadequate or may not be available in the future on acceptable
terms, or at all. In addition, our policy may not cover any claim against us for loss of data or other indirect or
consequential damages and defending a suit, regardless of its merit, could be costly and divert management’s
attention,

A rapid expansion of our network and systems could cause us to lose customer data or cause our network
or systems to fail.

In the future, we may need to expand our network and systems at a more rapid pace than we have in the past.
For example, if we secure a large customer or a group of customers with extraordinary volumes of information to
collect and process, we may suddenty require additional bandwidth and our existing systems may not be able to
process the information. Our network or systems may not be capable of meeting the demand for increased capacity,
or we may incur additional unanticipated expenses to accommodate these capacity demands. In addition, we may
lose valuable data, be able to provide it only on a delayed basis or our network may temporarily shut down if we fail
to expand our network to meet future requirements. Any lapse in our ability to collect or transmit data will decrease
the value of the data, prevent us from providing the complete data that may be requested by our customers and affect
some of our customers’ Web pages. Any disruption in our network processing or loss of data may damage our
reputation and result in the loss of customers.

If a third party asserts that we are infringing its intellectual property, whether successful or not, it could
subject us to costly and time-consuming litigation or expensive licenses, and our business may be
harmed.

The Internet, software and technology industries are characterized by the existence of a large number of
patents, copyrights, trademarks and trade secrets and by frequent litigation based on allegations of infringement or
other violations of intellectual property rights. As we face increasing competition, the possibility of intellectual
property rights claims against us grows. Our technologies may not be able to withstand any third-party claims or
rights against their use. Additionally, although we have licensed from other parties proprietary technology covered
by patents, we cannot be certain that any such patents will not be challenged, invalidated or circumvented.
Furthermore, many of our service agreements require us to indemnify our customers for third-party intellectual
property infringements claims, which would increase our costs as a result of defending such claims and may require
that we pay damages if there were an adverse ruling in any such claims. We, and certain of our customers, have in the
past received correspondence from third parties alleging that certain of our services, or customers’ use of our
services, violate such third parties’ patent rights. For example, we are aware that five of our customers have received
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letters from a third party alleging, among other things, that these customers’ online activities, including the use of
our services, infringe its patents. A few of these customers have requested that we indemnify them against these
allegations. Other customers may receive similar allegations of infringement and make similar requests for
indemnification under our service agreements with them or this third party may make claims directly against us.
These types of claims could harm our relationships with our customers, may deter future customers from
subscribing to our services or could expose us to litigation with respect to these claims. Even if we are not a
party to any litigation between a customer and a third party, an adverse outcome in any such litigation could make it
more difficult for us to defend our intellectual property in any subsequent litigation in which we are a named party.
Any of these results could harm our brand and operating results.

Any inteltectual property rights claim against us or our customers, with or without merit, could be time-
consuming, expensive to litigate or settle and could divert management resources and attention. An adverse
determination also could prevent us from offering our services to our customers and may require that we procure or
develop substitute services that do not infringe.

With respect to any intellectual property rights claim against us or our customers, we may have to pay damages
or stop using technology found to be in violation of a third party’s rights. We may have to seek a license for the
technology, which may not be available on reasonable terms, may significantly increase our operating expenses or
require us to restrict our business activities in one or more respects. The technology also may not be available for
license to us at all. As a result, we may also be required to develop alternative non-infringing technology, which
could require significant effort and expense. For example, in February 2006, we entered into a settlement and patent
license agreement with NetRatings, Inc., to resolve a patent infringement lawsuit that NetRatings filed against us in
May 2005 and to obtain a non-exclusive, world-wide license to NetRatings’ entire patent portfolio. Under the terms
of the agreement, we agreed to pay NetRatings license fees.

Our exposure to risks associated with the use of intellectual property may be increased as a result of
acquisitions, as we have a lower level of visibility into the development process with respect to such technology or
the care taken to safeguard against infringement risks. In addition, third parties may make infringement and similar
or related claims after we have acquired technology that had not been asserted prior to our acquisition,

The success of our business depends in large part on our ability to protect and enforce our intellectual
property rights.

We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, service mark, trademark and trade secret laws, as well as
confidentiality procedures and contractual restrictions, to establish and protect our proprietary rights, all of which
provide only limited protection. We have 19 issued patents in the United States and one patent in the United
Kingdom, as well as 50 United States and 35 related international patent applications pending. The expiration dates
of our issued patents noted above range from the years 2017 to 2022, The claims under the issued patents are
generally directed to: data modeling and classification; online messaging optimization, Web site traffic analytics
and predictive modeling; online behavior prediction and analysis; real-time monitoring and aggregation of Web
activity; Web content management and optimization; and compilation of data records relating to Web site visitation
sessions. However, we cannot assure you that any patents will issue with respect to our currently pending patent
applications, in a manner that gives us the protection that we seek, if at all, or that any future patents issued to us will
not be challenged, invalidated or circumvented. Our currently issued patents and any patents that may issue in the
future with respect to pending or future patent applications may not provide sufficiently broad protection or they
may not prove to be enforceable in actions against alleged infringers. Also, we cannot assure you that any future
service mark registrations will be issued with respect to pending or future applications or that any registered service
marks will be enforceable or provide adequate protection of our proprietary rights.

We endeavor to enter into agreements with our employees and contractors and agreements with parties with
whom we do business in order to limit access to and disclosure of our proprietary information. We cannot be certain
that the steps we have taken will prevent unauthorized use of our technology or the reverse engineering of our
technology. Moreover, others may independently develop technologies that are competitive to ours or infringe our
intellectual property. The enforcement of our intellectual property rights also depends on our legal actions against
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these infringers being successful, but we cannot be sure these actions will be successful, even when our rights have
been infringed.

Furthermore, effective patent, trademark, service mark, copyright and trade secret protection may not be
available in every country in which our services are available over the Internet. In addition, the legal standards
relating to the validity, enforceability and scope of protection of intellectual property rights in Internet-related
industries are uncertain and still evolving.

We rely on our management team and need additional personnel to grow our business, and the loss of
one or more key employees or the inability to attract and retain qualified personnel could harm our
business.

Our success and future growth depends to a significant degree on the skills and continued services of our
management team. Our future success also depends on our ability to attract and retain and motivate highly skilled
technical, managerial, marketing and customer service personnel, including members of our management team. Al
of our employees work for us on an at-will basis. We plan to hire additional personnel in all areas of our business,
particularly for our sales, marketing and technology development areas, both domestically and internationally.
Competition for these types of personnel is intense, particularly in the Internet and software industries. As a result,
we may be unable to successfully attract or retain qualified personnel. Our inability to retain and attract the
necessary personnel could adversely affect our business.

We have made and may continue to make acquisitions of, or investments in, other companies, each of
which may divert our management’s attention, result in additional dilution to our stockholders and con-
sumption of resources that are necessary to sustain our business, which could disrupt our operations and
harm our operating results.

Qur growth depends on growth in the market for on-demand, online business optimization services, our ability
to enhance our existing products and our ability to introduce new products on a timely basis. As part of our business
strategy, we have made and may continue to make acquisitions of, or investments in, complementary services,
technologies or businesses to address the need to develop new products and enhance existing products. We also may
enter into relationships with other businesses in order to expand our service offerings, which could involve preferred
or exclusive licenses, additional channels of distribution or discount pricing or investments in other companies.

Negotiating these transactions can be time-consuming, difficult and expensive, and our ability to close these
transactions may often be subject to approvals, such as government regulation, which are beyond our control.
Consequently, we can make no assurances that these transactions, once undertaken and announced, will close.

In January 2007, we acquired Instadia A/S, or Instadia, an enterprise Web analytics provider based in
Copenhagen, Denmark. In March 2007, we acquired Touch Clarity Limited, or Touch Clarity, an on-demand
provider of automated behavioral targeting solutions based in London, England.

In conjunction with our acquisition of Touch Clarity, we are required to pay additional consideration of
$33.6 million to its former stockholders, to be paid no later than November 30, 2007 in shares of our common stock,
cash, or some combination of stock and cash, at our election. If we elect to issue common stock, the number of
shares to be issued will be determined based on a 5% discount to our share price at or about the time of issuance
(based on a 5-day trailing average closing price). If we elect to issue shares of our common stock to pay all or some
of the consideration, our existing stockholders could suffer significant dilution. This dilution could be enhanced if
the trading price of our common stock decreases prior to the determination of the price at which such shares would
be issued. We may also be required to pay up to an additional $3.0 million in consideration, contingent upon the
achievement of certain revenue milestones for Touch Clarity’s fiscal year 2007.

We may need to raise additional capital if we elect to pay all or some portion of the consideration in cash. If we
raise additional funds through issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, our existing stockholders could
suffer significant dilution, and any new equity securities we issue could have rights, preferences and privileges
superior to those of holders of our common stock. Any debt financing secured by us could involve restrictive
covenants relating to our capital raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which could make it
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more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue future business oppoertunities, including potential
acquisitions. In addition, we may not be able to obtain financing on terms favorable to us, if at all.

These two European acquisitions, as well as future acquisitions, investments or business relationships may
result in unforeseen operating difficulties and expenditures and we can give no assurance that these two European
acquisitions or any future acquisition will be successful and will not materially adversely affect our business,
operating results or financial condition. In particular, we may encounter difficulties assimilating or integrating the
acquired businesses, technologies, product and service offerings, internal controls, disclosure controls, IT infra-
structures, personnel and management teams, or operations of the acquired companies (particularly if the key
personnel of the acquired company choose not to work for us). In addition, we may experience difficulty retaining
the customers of any acquired business due to changes in management and ownership or relating to our ability to
continue to support product and service offerings of acquired businesses. Qur failure to successfully integrate
acquired businesses into our operations could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and
financial condition. Moreover, even if such acquisitions are successfully integrated, we may not receive the
expected benefits of the transactions if we find that the acquired business does not further our business strategy or
that we paid more than what the business was worth.

Acquisitions may also disrupt our ongoing business, divert our resources and require significant management
attention that would otherwise be available for ongoing development of our business, as well as cause difficulties in
completing projects associated with in-process research and development. Acquisitions also involve risks asso-
ciated with difficulties in entering markets in which we have no or limited direct prior experience and where
competitors in such markets have stronger market positions. In addition, the revenue of an acquired business may be
insufficient to offset increased expenses associated with the acquisition. Acquisitions can also lead to large and
immediate non-cash charges that can have an adverse effect on our results of operations as a result of write-offs for
items such as acquired in-process rescarch and development, impairment of goodwill or the recording of stock-
based compensation, as well as restructuring charges. In addition, we may lack experience operating in the
geographic market of the businesses that we acquire. Further, international acquisitions, such as our two European
acquistions, increase our exposure to the risks associated with international operations. Moreover, we cannot assure
you that the anticipated benefits of our two European acquisitions or any future acquisition, investment or business
relationship would be realized or that we would not be exposed to unknown liabilities. In connection with one or
more of those transactions, we may:

= issue additional equity securities that would dilute our stockholders;

* use a substantial portion of our cash resources that we may need in the future to operate our business;
* incur debt on terms unfavorable to us or that we are unable to repay;

» assume or incur large charges or substantial liabilities;

= encounter difficulties retaining key employees of the acquired company or integrating diverse business
cultures;

* become subject to adverse accounting or tax consequences, substantial depreciation or deferred compen-
sation charges;

= make severance payments and provide additional compensation to executives and other personnel;

» incur charges related to the elimination of duplicative facilites or resources;

* incur legal, accounting and financial advisory fees, regardless of whether the transaction is completed; and
* become subject to intellectual property or other litigation.
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Material defects or errors in our software we use to deliver our services could harm our reputation, result
in significant costs to us and impair our ability to sell our services.

The software applications underlying our services are inherently complex and may contain material defects or
errors. Any defects that cause interruptions to the availability of our services could result in:

* lost or delayed market acceptance and sales of our services;
* sales credits or refunds to our customers;

+ loss of customers;

+ diversion of development resources;

* injury to our reputation; and

* increased warranty and insurance costs.

The costs incurred in correcting any material defects or errors in our services may be substantial and could
adversely affect our operating results. After the release of our services, defects or errors may also be identified from
time to time by our internal team and by our customers. These defects or errors may occur in the future.

Changes in financial accounting standards or practices may cause adverse, unexpected financial report-
ing fluctuations and affect our reported results of operations.

A change in accounting standards or practices can have a significant effect on our reported results and may
even affect our reporting of transactions completed before the change is effective. New accounting pronouncements
and varying interpretations of accounting pronouncements have occurred and may occur in the future. Changes to
existing rules or the questioning of current practices may adversely affect our reported financial results or the way
we conduct our business. For example, on December 16, 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, or SFAS, No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment, or
SFAS No. 123R. SFAS No. 123R, which became effective for fiscal periods beginning after September 15,
2003, requires that employee stock-based compensation be measured based on its fair-value on the grant date and
treated as an expense that is reflected in the financial statements over the related service period. As a result of
SFAS No. 123R, our results of operations in 2006 reflect expenses that are not reflected in prior periods, potentially
making it more difficult for investors to evaluate our 2006 results of operations relative to prier periods.

We might require additional capital to support business growth, and this capital might not be available on
acceptable terms, or at all.

We intend to continue to make investments to support our business growth and may require additional funds to
respond to business challenges, including the need to develop new services or enhance our existing services,
enhance our operating infrastructure and acquire complementary businesses and technologies. Accordingly, we
may need to engage in equity or debt financings to secure additional funds. If we raise additional funds through
further issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, our existing stockholders could suffer significant dilution,
and any new equity securities we issue could have rights, preferences and privileges superior to those of holders of
our common stock. Any debt financing secured by us in the future could involve restrictive covenants relating to our
capital raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for us to
obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities, including potential acquisitions. In addition, we may
not be able to obtain additional financing on terms favorable to us, if at all. If we are unable to obtain adequate
financing or financing on terms satisfactory 1o us, when we require it, our ability to continue to support our business
growth and to respond to business challenges could be significantly limited.
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If we fail to maintain proper and effective internal controls, our ability to produce accurate financial
statements could be impaired, which could adversely affect our operating results, our ability to operate
our business and investors’ views of us.

Ensuring that we have adequate internal financial and accounting controls and procedures in place to help
ensure that we can produce accurate financial statements on a timely basis is a costly and time-consuming effort that
needs to be re-evaluated frequently. We are in the process of documenting, reviewing and, if appropriate, improving
our internal controls and procedures in connection with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, which requires
annual management assessments of the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting and a report by
our independent auditors addressing these assessments. Both we and our independent auditors will be testing our
internal controls in connection with the Section 404 requirements and, as part of that documentation and testing,
identify areas for further attention and improvement. Implementing any appropriate changes to our internal controls
may distract our directors, officers and employees, and entail substantial costs in order to modify our existing
accounting systems, take a significant period of time to complete and distract our officers, directors and employees
from the operation of our business. These changes may not, however, be effective in maintaining the adequacy of
our internal controls, and any failure to maintain that adequacy, or consequent inability to produce accurate
financial statements on a timely basis, could increase our operating costs and could materially impair our ability to
operate our business. In addition, investors’ perceptions that our internal controls are inadequate or that we are
unable to produce accurate financial statements may seriously affect our stock price.

Qur net operating loss carryforwards may expire unutilized, which could prevent us from offsetting future
taxable income.

At December 31, 2006, we had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $31.3 million that
will begin to expire in 2020 and $1.1 million in federal tax credit carryforwards that will begin to expire in 2019. At
December 31, 2006, we also had state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $32.0 miilion that will
begin to expire in 2015 and state research and development credits of approximately $0.5 million that will begin to
expire in 2014. Changes in ownership have occurred that have resulted in limitations in our net operating loss
carryforwards under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. As a result of these Section 382 limitations, we can
only utilize a portion of the net operating loss carryforwards that were generated prior to the ownership changes to
offset future taxable income generated in U.S. federal and state jurisdictions. In addition, the timing of when we
achieve profitability, if ever, and the dollar amount of such profitability will impact our ability to utilize these net
operating loss carryforwards. We may not be able to achieve sufficient profitability to utilize some or all of our net
operating loss carryforwards prior to their expiration.

If we cannot maintain our corporate culture as we grow, we could lose the innovation, teamwork and
SJocus that we believe our culture fosters, and our business may be harmed.

We believe that a critical contributor to our success has been our corporate culture, which we believe fosters
innovation and teamwork. As we grow and change, we may find it difficult to maintain important aspects of our
corporate culture, which could negatively affect our ability to retain and recruit personnel, and otherwise adversely
affect our future success.

Risks Related to Our Industry

Widespread blocking or erasing of cookies or other limitations on our ability to use cookies or other tech-
nologies that we employ may impede our ability to collect information and reduce the value of our
services.

Our services currently use “cookies,” which are small files of information placed on an Internet user’s
computer, and “clear GIFs” (also known as pixel tags or Web beacons), which are small images placed on a Web
page to facilitate the collection of visitor browsing data. These technologies help us to analyze the Web site usage
patterns of visitors to our customers’ Web sites. The use of third-party cookies may be construed as wrongful in the
eyes of the public or governmental agencies, including non-U.S. regulators. We encourage our customers to send
our cookies from their own Web sites and, when they are unwilling to do so, we mark our third-party cookies with
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their dual origin to indicate that they are both from our customer’s Web site and from us. However, we cannot assure
you that these measures will succeed in reducing any risks relating to the use of third-party cookies.

Most currently available Web browsers allow site visitors to modify their settings to prevent or delete cookies.
Additionally, widely available software allows site visitors to sweep all cookies from their computers at once.
Similarly, several software programs, sometimes marketed as ad-ware or spyware detectors, may misclassify the
cookies our customers are using as objectionable and prompt site visitors to delete or block them. In addition,
several of these same software programs may block the use of clear GIFs. If a large number of site visitors refuse,
disable or delete their cookies or clear GIFs or if we are otherwise unable to use cookies or clear GIFs, and if
alternative methods or technologies are not developed in a timely manner, the quality of data we collect for our
customers and the value of our services based on that data would decrease substantially.

We interact with consumers through our customers, so we may be held accountable for our customers’
handling of the consumers’ personal information.

On behalf of our customers, we collect and use anonymous and personal information and information derived
from the activities of Web site visitors. This enables us to provide our customers with anonymous or personally
identifiable information from and about the users of their Web sites. Federal, state and foreign government bodies
and agencies have adopted or are considering adopting laws regarding the collection, use and disclosure of this
information. Therefore our compliance with privacy laws and regulations and our reputation among the public body
of Web site visitors depend on our customers’ adherence to privacy laws and regulations and their use of our services
in ways consistent with consumers’ expectations.

We also rely on representations made to us by our customers that their own use of our services and the
information we provide to them via our services do not violate any applicable privacy laws, rules and regulations or
their own privacy policies. Our customers also represent to us that they provide their Web site users the opportunity
to “opt-out” of the information collection associated with our services. We do not audit our customers to confirm
compliance with these representations. If these representations are false or if our customers do not otherwise
comply with applicable privacy laws, we could face potential adverse publicity and possible legal or other
regulatory action.

Domestic or foreign laws or regulations may limit our ability to collect and use Internet user information,
resulting in a decrease in the value of our services and having an adverse impact on the sales of our
services.

State attorneys general, governmental and non-governmental entities and private persons may bring legal
actions asserting that our methods of collecting, using and distributing Web site visitor information are illegal or
improper, which could require us to spend significant time and resources defending these claims. The costs of
compliance with, and the other burdens imposed by, laws or regulatory actions may prevent us from offering
services or otherwise limit the growth of our services. In addition, some companies have been the subject of
class-action lawsuits and governmental investigations based on their collection, use and distribution of Web site
visitor information. Any such legal action, even if unsuccessful, may distract our management’s attention, divert our
resources, negatively affect our public image and harm our business.

Various state legislatures have enacted legislation designed to protect consumers’ privacy by prohibiting the
distribution of “spyware” over the Internet. Such anti-spyware laws typically focus on restricting the proliferation of
certain kinds of downloadable software, or spyware, that, when installed on an end user’s computer, are vsed to
intentionally and deceptively take control of the end user’s machine. We do not believe that the data collection
methods employed by our technology constitute “spyware” or that such methods are prohibited by such legislation.
Similar legislation has been proposed federally. This legislation, if drafted broadly enough, could be deemed to
apply 1o the technology we use and could potentially restrict our information collection methods. Any restriction or
change to our information collection methods would cause us to spend substantial amounts of money and time to
make changes and could decrease the amount and utility of the information that we collect.

Both existing and proposed laws regulate and restrict the collection and use of information over the Internet
that personally identifies the Web site visitor. These laws continue to change and vary among domestic and foreign

36




jurisdictions, but certain information such as names, addresses, telephone numbers, credit card numbers and e-mail
addresses are widely considered personally identifying. The scope of information collected over the Internet that is
considered personally identifying may become more expansive, and it is possible that current and future legislation
may apply to information that our customers currently collect without the explicit consent of Web site visitors. If
information that our customers collect and use without explicit consent is considered to be personally identifying,
their ability to collect and use this information will be restricted and they would have to change their methods,
which could lead to decreased use of our services.

Domestic and foreign governments are also constdering restricting the collection and use of Internet usage data
generally. Some privacy advocates argue that even anonymous data, individually or when aggregated, may reveal
too much information about Web site visitors. If governmental authorities were to follow privacy advocates’
recommendations and enact laws that limit data collection practices, our customers would likely have to obtain the
express consent of a user of our customers’ Web sites before we could collect, share or use any of that user’s
information regardless of whether the collection is done on behalf of our customers. Any requirement that we obtain
consent from the users of our customers’ Web sites would reduce the amount and value of the information that we
provide to customers, which might cause some existing customers to discontinue using our services. We would also
need to expend considerable effort and resources to develop new information collection procedures to comply with
an express consent requirement. Even if our customers succeeded in developing new procedures, they might be
unable to convince Internet users to agree to the collection and use of the users’ information. This would negatively
impact our revenues, growth and potential for expanding our business and could cause our stock price to decline.

We may face liability for the unauthorized disclosure or theft of private information, which could expose
us to liabilifies and harm our stock price.

Unauthorized disclosure of personally identifiable information regarding Web site visitors, whether through
breach of our secure network by an unauthorized party, employee theft or misuse, or otherwise, could harm our
business. If there were even an inadvertent disclosure of personally identifiable information, or if a third party were
to gain unauthorized access to the personally identifiable information we possess, our operations could be seriously
disrupted, our reputation could be harmed and we could be subject to claims (including claims for substantial
liquidated damages) pursuant to our agreements with our customers or other liabilities. In addition, if a person
penetrates our network security or otherwise misappropriates data, we could be subject to lability. Such perceived
or actua! unauthorized disclosure of the information we collect or breach of our security could harm our business.

We may face public relations problems as a result of violations of privacy laws and perceived mistreat-
ment of persenal information, and these public relations problems may harm our reputation and thereby
lead to a reduction in customers and lower revenues.

Any perception of our practices as an invasion of privacy, whether or not illegal, may subject us to public
criticism. Existing and potential future privacy laws and increasing sensitivity of consumers to unauthorized
disclosures and use of personal information may create negative public reactions related to our business practices.
Public concerns regarding data collection, privacy and security may cause some Web site visitors to be less likely to
visit Web sites that subscribe to our services, If enough users choose not to visit our customers” Web sites, our ability
to collect sufficient amounts of information and provide our services effectively would be adversely affected, and
those Web sites could stop using our services. This, in turn, would reduce the value of our services and inhibit or
reverse the growth of our business.

Internet-related and other laws could adversely affect our business.

Laws and regulations that apply to communications and commerce over the Internet are becoming more
prevalent. In particular, the growth and development of the market for online commerce has prompted calls for more
stringent tax, consumer protection and privacy laws, both in the United States and abroad, that may impose
additional burdens on companies conducting business online. This could negatively affect the businesses of our
customers and reduce their demand for our services. Internet-related laws, however, remain largely unsettled, even
in areas where there has been some legislative action. The adoption or modification of laws or regulations relating to
the Internet or our operations, or interpretations of existing law, could adversely affect our business.
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Risks Related to the Securities Markets and Ownership of Our Common Stock

The trading price of our common stock may be subject to significant fluctuations and volatility, and our
stockholders may be unable to resell their shares at a profit.

The stock markets, in general, and the markets for high technology stocks in particular, have experienced high
levels of volatility. The market for technology stocks has been extremely volatile and frequently reaches levels that
bear no relationship to the past or present operating performance of those companies. These broad market
fluctuations may adversely affect the trading price of our common stock. In addition, the trading price of our
common stock has been subject 1o significant fluctuations and may continue to fluctuate or decline. Since our initial
public offering, which was completed in July 2006, the price of our common stock has ranged from an intra-day low
of $5.60 to an intra-day high of $18.75. Factors that could cause fluctuations in the trading price of our common
stock include the following:

« price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market from time to time;

» significant volatility in the market price and trading volume of technology companies in general, and
companies in our indusiry;

* actual or anticipated changes in our results of operations or fluctuations in our operating results;

« actual or anticipated changes in the expectations of investors or securities analysts, including changes in
financial estimates or investment recommendations by securities analysts who follow our business;

» speculation in the press or investment community;

* technological advances or introduction of new preducts by us or our competitors;

+ actual or anticipated developments in our competitors” businesses or the competitive landscape generally;
+ litigation involving us, our industry or both;

« regulatory developments in the United States, foreign countries or both;

* major catastrophic events;

* our sale of common stock or other securities in the future;

« the trading volume of our common stock, as well as sales of large blocks of our stock; or

* departures of key personnel.

These factors, as well as general economic and political conditions and the announcement of proposed and
completed acquisitions or other significant transactions, or any difficulties associated with such transactions, by us
or our strategic partners, customers or our current competitors, may materially adversely affect the market price of
our common stock in the future. In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s
securities, securities class action litigation has often been instituted against that company. Such litigation could
result in substantial cost and a diversion of management’s attention and resources. In addition, velatility, lack of
positive performance in our stock price or changes to our overall compensation program, including our equity
incentive program, may adversely affect our ability to retain key employees.

If securities analysts stop publishing research or reports about our business, or if they downgrade our
stock, the price of our stock could decline.

The trading market for our common stock relies in part on the research and reports that industry or financial
analysts publish about us. We do not control these analysts. If one or more of the analysts who do cover us
downgrade our stock, our stock price would likely decline. Further, if one or more of these analysts cease coverage
of our company, we could lose visibility in the market, which in turn could cause our stock price to decline.
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The concentration of our capital stock ownership with insiders will likely limit your ability to influence
the outcome of key transactions, including a change of control.

Our executive officers, directors, 5 percent or greater stockholders and affiliated entities together beneficially
own a majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock. As a result, these stockholders, if acting together,
would be able to control most matters requiring approval by our stockholders, including the election of directors and
the approval of significant corporate transactions, even if other stockholders oppose them. This concentration of
ownership may have the effect of delaying, preventing or deterring a change of control of our company that other
stockholders may view as beneficial, could deprive our stockholders of an opportunity to receive a premium for
their common stock as part of a sale of our company and might ultimately affect the market price of our common
stock,

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws under Delaware law might discourage, delay or
prevent a change of control of our company or changes in our management and, therefore, depress the
trading price of our common stock.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that could depress the trading price of our
common stock by acting to discourage, delay or prevent a change of control of our company or changes in our
management that the stockholders of our company may deem advantageous. These provisions:

= establish a classified board of directors so that not all members of our board of directors are elected at one
time;

» authorize the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock that our board of directors could issue to increase the
number of outstanding shares to discourage a takeover attempt;

* prohibit stockholder action by written consent, which requires all stockholder actions to be taken at a
meeting of our stockholders;

« prohibit stockholders from calling a special meeting of our stockholders,
¢ provide that the board of directors is expressly authorized to make, alter or repeal our bylaws; and

* establish advance notice requirements for nominations for elections to our board of directors or for
proposing matters that can be acted upon by stockholders at stockholder meetings.

Additionally, we are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which generally
prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in any of a broad range of business combinations with any
“interested” stockholder for a period of three years following the date on which the stockholder became an
“interested” stockholder and which may discourage, delay or prevent a change of control of our company.

ITEM 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

ITEM 2. Properties

Our executive offices and principal office for domestic marketing, sales and development occupy approx-
imately 103,000 square feet in Orem, Utah under leases that expire in 201 1. We also lease space in various locations
throughout the United States for sales and professional services personnel. Our foreign subsidiaries lease office
space for their operations and sales and professional services personnel. If we require additional space, we believe
that we will be able to obtain this space on commercially reasonable terms.

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings

Generally, we are involved in various legal proceedings arising from the normal course of business activities.
In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ‘No. 5, Accounting Contingencies, we make a
provision for liability when it is both probable that the liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be
reasonably estimated. We believe we have adequate provisions for any such matters. We review these provisions at
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teast quarterly and adjust them to reflect the impacts of negotiations, settlements, rulings, advice of legal counsel,
and other information and events pertaining to a particular case. We do not believe that ultimate disposition of these
matters will have a material adverse impact on our consolidated results of operations, cash flows or financial
position. However, litigation is inherently unpredictable, and depending on the amount and timing, an unfavorable
resolution of a matter could materially affect our future results of operations, cash flows or financial position in a
particular period.

ITEM 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None.

PART II
ITEM 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuers Purchases of
Equity Securities
Market Information for Common Stock

Our common stock has been quoted on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol “OMTR” since our
initial public offering on June 28, 2006. Prior to that time, there was no public market for our common stock.

The following table sets forth for the indicated periods the high and low sales prices of our common stock as
reported by the NASDAQ Global Market.

_HMigh  Low

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2006:
Second quarter (beginning June 28,2006) ... ... ... ... ... ... . . oL $ 760 $5.60
Third qUarteT .. ... . e 8.59 6.23
Fourth quarter. . . ... ... ... i e 14.97 7.35

Dividends

We have never declared nor paid cash dividends on our common stock. We currenily expect to retain future
earnings, if any, to finance the operation and expansion of our business, and we do not anticipate paying any cash
dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future determination related to our dividend policy wili be made at the
discretion of our Board of Directors.

Stockholders

As of March 21, 2007, there were 49,009,326 shares of our common stock outstanding held by approximately
84 stockholders of record, including the Depository Trust Company, which holds shares of our common stock on
behalf of an indeterminate number of beneficial owners.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The information concemning our equity compensation plans is incorporated by reference herein to our Proxy
Statement for the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2006.

40




STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH AND CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN

Notwithstanding any statement to the contrary in any of our previous or future filings with the SEC, the
following information relating to the price performance of our common stock shall not be deemed to be “filed"” with
the SEC or to be “soliciting material” under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act,
and it shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any of our filings under the Securities Act or the
Exchange Act, except to the extent we specifically incorporate it by reference into such filing.

Prior to June 28, 2006, we were not publicly traded and there was no public market for our securities.

The graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return of our common stock with that of the
NASDAQ Composite Index and the NASDAQ Computer Index from June 28, 2006 (the date on which our common
stock commenced trading on the NASDAQ Global Market) through December 31, 2006. The graph assumes that
$100 was invested on June 28, 2006 at the close of market on June 28, 2006 in shares of our common stock, the
NASDAQ Composite Index and the NASDAQ Computer Index, and that all dividends were reinvested. The
comparisons in this graph below are based on historical data and are not intended to forecast or be indicative of
future performance of our common stock.

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN AMONG OMNITURE, INC., THE NASDAQ
COMPOSITE INDEX AND THE NASDAQ COMPUTER INDEX

250
—{3 Omniture, Inc.
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6/28/06 6/30/06 7/31/06 8/31/06 9/30/06 10/31/06  11/30/06  12/31/06
6/28/06  6/30/06 7/31/06 8/31/06  9/30/06 10/31/06 11/30/06 12/31/06
Omniture, Inc. $100.00 $111.64 $110.41 $101.84 $120.83 $139.05 $172.59 $215.62
NASDAQ Composite Index 100,00 102.85 99.04 103.41 10694 11207 11515 11437
NASDAQ Computer Index 100.00 102.27 9936 105.29 110.38 11591 120.33 117.32

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

In January 2007, we issued 41,671 shares of common stock upon the exercise of a warrant held by Silicon
Valley Bank at an exercise price of $0.11 per share. The warrant was exercised on a “cashless” basis, meaning that it
was exercised by the surrender of a portion of the shares exercisable under the warrant as payment for the full
exercise price of the warrant, Accordingly, we did not receive any cash proceeds from the exercise of the warrant.
We believe this transaction was exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act in reliance on
Section 3(a)(9) thereof as an exchange of securities by us with our existing security holders exclusively where no
commission or other remuneration is paid or given directly or indirectly for soliciting such exchange.
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Use of Proceeds from the Initial Public Offering

Our initial public offering of common stock, or IPO, was made pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-1
{File No. 333-132987), which the Securities and Exchange Commission declared effective on June 27, 2006. In the
offering, we sold an aggregate of 10,305,000 shares of common stock, including 1,605,000 shares sold pursuant to
the full exercise by the underwriters of their over-allotment option, at a price of $6.50 per share. The offering did not
terminate until after the sale of all of the securities registered by the registration statement. Morgan Stanley & Co.
Incorporated acted as the sole book-running manager for the offering and Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC acted
as co-lead manager. Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. and J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. acted as co-managers of the
offering.

As aresult of the offering, we raised approximately $59.2 million, net of underwriting discounts, commissions
and offering expenses. During the first quarter of 2007, we used approximately $28.8 million of the net [PO
proceeds to acquire Instadia, Touch Clarity and certain intellectual property rights. We have invested the portion of
net IPO proceeds not required for immediate corporate needs in short-term, interest-bearing, investment grade
securities.

Trading Plans

Our Insider Trading Policy permits directors, officers and other employees covered under the policy to
establish, subject to certain conditions and limitations set forth in the policy, written trading plans which are
intended to comply with Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities Exchange Act, which permit automatic trading of
common stock of Omniture, Inc. or trading of common stock by an independent person (such as stockbroker) who is
not aware of material, nonpublic information at the time of the trade. We are aware that certain of our directors and
officers have entered into written trading plans, and we believe our directors and officers may establish such
programs in the future.
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ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data

We present below our selected consolidated financial data. The selected consolidated statement of operations
data for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 and the selected consolidated balance sheet data at
December 31, 2005 and 2006 have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements included
elsewhere in this 10-K. The selected consolidated statement of operations data for the years ended December 31,
2002 and 2003 and the selected consolidated balance sheet data at December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 have been
derived from our audited consolidated financial statements not included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. You
should read this information together with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations”™ and our consolidated financial statements and related notes, each included elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected in any
future period.

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
(In thousands, except per share data)

Total revenues . . . . .. ... i $ 3,715 § 8654 $20566 $42804 § 79,749
Net (10s5) INCOME ... ooovevnnnnnnn... (1,378) 143 (1,318)  (17.441) (7,725)
Net (loss) income per share, diluted . . . . . .. $ (011) $ 001 § (0.10) $ (127 § (0257
Weighted-average number of shares . ... ... 12,270 22,677 13,094 13,694 30,332
Cash and cash equivalents .. ............ 317 2,187 8,927 22,196 68,287%
Working (deficit) capital . .............. (1,248) (2,638) (1,422) 1,191 52,028
Total SSEtS . .. oo o e i 1,616 6,926 32,768 73,051 1352109
Total long-term obligations, including

current portion™ ... ... .. ... 381 2,054 9,028 5,992 10,191
Convertible preferred stock ............. 10,108 10,108 22,770 61,882 -
Total stockholders’ (deficit) equity . . ... ... (12,379)  (12,205)  (13.413) (30,266) 8642599

() As a result of adopting SFAS No. 123R on January 1, 2006, our net loss and diluted net loss per share for 2006
were $1,787,000 and $0.06, respectively, greater than if we had continued to account for stock-based
compensation under the previous accounting rules. Because we adopted SFAS No. 123R using the prospective
transition method, we applied its provisions only to stock awards granted, modified, repurchased or cancelled
after the effective date.

@ Cash and cash equivalents, working capital, total assets and stockholders’ equity increased in 2006 primarily
due to the net cash proceeds of $59.2 million, after deducting underwriting discounts, commissions and offering
expenses, from our initial public offering in July 2006,

() Total long-term obligations, including current portion consist of notes payable and capital lease obligations.

() 1n 2006, the entire balance of convertible preferred stock was reclassified to stockholders’ equity due to the
automatic conversion of the outstanding shares of convertible preferred stock to common stock upon the closing
of our initial public offering in July 2006.
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ITEM 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Firancial Statements and related Notes included in Part I1.
Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, This discussion contains forward-looking statements based on current
expectations that involve risks and uncertainties, such as our plans, objectives, expectations and intentions, as set
Jorth under “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.” Our actual results and the timing of events
could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors,
including those set forth in the following discussion and in Part I. Item 1A “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. Unless otherwise indicated, all references to a year reflect our fiscal year that ends on
December 31, 2006,

Overview

We are a leading provider of online business optimization services, which our customers use to manage and
enhance online, offline and multi-channel business initiatives. Qur online business optimization software, which we
host and deliver to our customers on-demand, consists of Omniture SiteCatalyst, our flagship service, and our
Omniture DataWarehouse, Omniture Discover, Omniture Genesis, Omniture SearchCenter and Touch Clarity
services. These services, built on a scalable and flexible computing architecture, enable our customers to capture,
store and analyze real-time and historical information generated by their Web sites and other sources and to gain
critical business insights into the performance and efficiency of marketing and sales initiatives and other business
Processes.

We were founded in 1996, began offering our on-demand online business optimization services in 1997 and
began offering these services to enterprises in 2001. Our total revenues have grown from $3.7 million in 2002 to
$79.7 million in 2006, representing an average annual growth rate of approximately 115%. Qur total cost of
revenues plus total operating expenses have increased from $5.0 million in 2002 to $87.9 million in 2006. Our net
loss has increased from $1.4 million in 2002 to $7.7 million in 2006, although our 2006 net loss represents a 56%
decrease from our $17.4 million net loss in 2005. We sell our services through direct sales efforts and indirectly
through resellers. Substantially all of our revenues since 2002 have been derived from subscription fees for our
services, which represented approximately 95% of total revenues in 2004, 96% of total revenues in 2005 and 94% of
total revenues in 2006.

We provide our online business optimization services to businesses with an online presence. During 2006, our
services captured almost 1.4 trillion transactions for approximately 1,800 customers in 83 countries. In January
2007, we acquired Instadia A/S, or [nstadia, a Copenhagen, Denmark-based on-demand enterprise Web analytics
provider, and Touch Clarity Limited, or Touch Clarity, a London, England-based on-demand provider of automated
online behavioral targeting and optimization solutions, Including the existing Instadia and Touch Clarity customers,
the total number of our customers would have been over 2,000 at the end of 2006. Our revenue growth and
profitability will depend on our ability to attract new customers and to retain our customers over time. The delivery
of our services requires us to make significant upfront capital expenditures to support the network infrastructure
needs of our services. We typically depreciate these capital expenditures over a period of approximately four years,
and we begin to include the depreciation amount in our cost of subscription revenues promptly after making the
expenditures. We generally recognize revenue from our customers ratably over the contractual service period but
only after we begin to provide our services to them. Therefore, any delays we encounter in the implementation of
our services to our customers will impact our ability to start recognizing revenue and to begin to offset the
depreciation costs resulting from the upfront capital expenditures. These delays will also defer the collection of cash
necessary to begin offsetting the expenditures.

Those few customers who contract for the measurement of the highest numbers of transactions generally
require more significant upfront capital expenditures and more prolonged implementation cycles. In addition, we
typically provide customers that commit to a higher number of transactions with lower per transaction pricing,
which results in lower gross margins for revenues from those customers. These factors together delay the
profitability and positive cash-flow realization from these large customers.
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Historically, most of our revenues have resulted from the sale of our services to companies located in the
United States. We acquired Instadia and Touch Clarity as part of our strategy to expand our international sales
operations by growing our direct sales force abroad. We also intend to utilize resellers and other sales channel
relationships with third parties to expand our international sales operations.

We experience significant seasonality in our contracting activity. Historically, a significant percentage of our
customers have entered into or renewed subscription services agreements in the fourth quarter. Also, a significant
percentage of our customer agreements within a given quarter are entered into during the last month, weeks or days
of the quarter.

In July 2006, we completed an initial public offering of common stock, or PO, in which we sold and issued
10,305,000 shares of common stock, including 1,605,000 shares sold pursuant to the full exercise by the
underwriters of their over-allotment option, at an issuance price of $6.50 per share. As a result of the IPO, we
raised approximately $59.2 million, ret of underwriting discounts, commissions and offering expenses. During the
first quarter of 2007, we used approximately $28.8 million of the net IPO proceeds to acquire Instadia, Touch
Clarity and certain intellectual property rights. We have invested the portion of net [PO proceeds not required for
immediate corporate needs in short-term, interest-bearing, investment grade securities.

How We Generate Revenues

Our revenues are classified into two types: subscription revenues and professional services and other revenues.
Subscription revenues accounted for 95% of total revenues in 2004, 96% of total revenues in 2005 and 94% of total
revenues in 2006.

Subscription Revenues. We derive subscription revenues from customers that use our online business
optimization services. We generally bill subscription fees based on a committed minimum number of transactions
from which we capture data over a predetermined period. We generally refer to a transaction as an electronic
interaction, which could be either online or offline, between our customer and their customer, which generates data
that is incorporated into our optimization platform. Most of our customer contracts provide for additional fees for
over-usage based on the number of transactions in excess of this committed minimum number. We bill a limited
number of large customers based on actual transactions from which we capture data during the billing period.

We also derive subscription revenues from implementation fees associated with the initial deployment of our
services. Implementation fees are generally billed as fixed fees per service installation.

The volume of subscription revenues is driven primarily by the number of customers and the number of
transactions from which we capture data. The term of our service agreement is typically from one to three years. We
recognize subscription revenues ratably over the term of the agreement, beginning on the commencement of the
service. Customers typically have the right to terminate their contracts for cause if we fail to substantially perform.
Some of our customers also have the right to cancel their service agreements by providing prior written notice to us
of their intent to cancel the remaining term of their agreement. In the event that a customer cancels its contract, it is
not entitled to a refund for prior services provided to it by us.

We invoice most customers monthly, quarterly or annually in advance for subscription fees and
implementation fees, while we invoice over-usage fees and actual usage fees monthly in arrears. Amounts that
have been invoiced are recorded in accounts receivable and in deferred revenues, or in revenues if all the revenue
recognition criteria have been met.

Professional Services and Other Revenues. Professional services and other revenues are primarily derived
from consulting and training services provided to our customers.

- Depending on the nature of the engagement, consulting services are billed either on a time-and-materials basis
or as a single fee per engagement. We also offer a number of training courses on implementing, using and
administering our services, which are generally billed at a standard rate per attendee, per course. We recognize
revenues from professional services that are sold with subscription services over the term of the related subscription
contract. We recognize revenues from professional services sold separately from subscription services as those
services are performed.
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Indirect Sales. We sell our online business optimization services primarily through direct sales efforts and to
a limited extent through third parties that resell our services to end users. We typically bill the reseller directly for
services we provide to end users, based on the contracted pricing. This pricing is generally a fixed percentage of the
fee charged by the reseller to the end user. We recognize revenues on these arrangements, equal to the amount we
bill to the reseller, when all revenue recognition criteria are met.

Cost of Revenues and Operating Expenses

Cost of Revenues. Cost of subscription revenues consists primarily of expenses related to operating our
network infrastructure, including depreciation expenses associated with computer equipment, data center costs, and
salaries and related expenses of network operations, implementation, account management and technical support
personnel. We enter into contracts with third parties for the use of their data center facilities, and our data center
costs largely consist of the amounts we pay to these third parties for rack space, power and similar items. Beginning
in 2006, we expect cost of revenues to increase in absolute dollars at least through 2012, due to the amortization of
the following intangible assets: (1) the estimated fair value of the patents licensed from NetRatings; and (2) the
intangible assets directly related to our subscription service that were acquired as part of the Instadia and Touch
Clarity business acquisitions.

Cost of professional services and other revenues consist primarily of employee-related costs associated with
these services, We recognize costs related to professional services as they are incurred. The cost of professional
services and other revenues is significantly higher as a percentage of professional services and other revenues than
the cost of subscription revenues is as a percentage of subscription revenues, due to the labor costs associated with
providing these services.

We allocate overhead such as rent and other occupancy costs, telecommunications charges and non-network
related depreciation to all departments based on headcount. As a result, general overhead expenses are reflected in
each cost of revenues and operating expense item. Our cost of revenues and operating expenses also include stock-
based compensation expenses related to the following: (1) stock options issued to non-employees; (2) stock options
issued to employees prior to 2006 in situations in which the exercise price was less than the deemed fair value of our
common stock on the date of grant; and (3) the fair value of stock options issued to employees since January 1, 2006.

Operating Expenses. Our operating expenses consist of sales and marketing expenses, research and
development expenses and general and administrative expenses.

Sales and marketing expenses have historically been our largest operating expense category. Sales and
marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries, benefits and related expenses for our sales and marketing
personnel, commissions, the costs of marketing programs (including advertising, events, corporate communications
and other brand building and product marketing) and allocated overhead. From 2007 at least through 2013, we
expect sales and marketing expenses to increase due to the amortization of customer-related intangible assets
acquired as part of the Instadia and Touch Clarity business acquisitions.

Research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries, benefits and related expenses for our
software engineering and quality assurance personnel and allocated overhead.

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries, benefits and related expenses for our
executive, finance and accounting, legal, human resources and information systems personnel, professional fees,
other corporate expenses and allocated overhead.

Trends in Our Business and Results of Operations

Our business has grown rapidly. This growth has been driven primarily by an expansion of our customer base,
coupled with increased subscription revenues from existing customers. To date, we have derived revenues primarily
from subscription fees for Omniture SiteCatalyst and related subscription services provided to customers in the
United States. We expect that revenues associated with our current and future services other than Omniture
SiteCatalyst will increase over time and reduce the percentage of total revenues generated by Omniture
SiteCatalyst. In addition, as we continue expanding our international sales operations and international distribution
channels, we expect that revenues from customers located outside the United States will increase as a percentage of
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total revenues. Revenues from customers located outside the United States were 9% of total revenues for 2004, 11%
of total revenues for 2005 and 17% of total revenues for 2006. Additionally, we expect the percentage of total
revenues derived from our largest customers to decrease over time, as a result of continued expansion of our
customer base.

If our customer base continues to grow, it will be necessary for us to continue to make significant upfront
investments in the network infrastructure equipment and implementation personnel necessary to support this
growth. The rate at which we add new customers, along with the scale of new customer implementations, will affect
the level of these upfront investments. We expect to achieve certain economies of scale as we expand our network
infrastructure and more efficiently utilize our network hardware. This should result in a reduction over time in
capital expenditures for network computer equipment and network operations costs as a percentage of total
revenues. Beginning in 2007, we expect to lease a portion of our equipment requirements under operating leases
provided by third-party financing sources. Although we do not expect the use of operating leases to have a
significant impact on total cost of revenues, when compared to the effect of purchasing this equipment, our capital
expenditures will be reduced to the extent we utilize operating leases. The timing of additional expenditures and
equipment operating leases could materially affect our cost of revenues, both in absolute dollars and as a percentage
of revenues, in any particular period. In addition, because we incur immediate depreciation and lease expense from
our significant upfront network computer equipment requirements as new customers are added, these customers are
not immediately profitable. As a result, our profitability can be significantly affected by the timing of the addition of
new customers, particularly customers with large volume requirements. At least through 2012, our cost of revenues
and our gross margin will also be negatively affected by the amortization of the following intangible assets: (1) the
estimated fair value of the patents licensed from NetRatings; and (2) the intangible assets directly related to our
subscription service that were acquired as part of the Instadia and Touch Clarity business acquisitions.

We have also experienced, and expect to continue to experience, rapid growth in our operating expenses, as we
make investments to support the anticipated growth of our customer base. Our full-time employee headcount
increased from 33 at December 31, 2002 to 353 at December 31, 2006. We expect operating expenses to continue to
increase in absolute dollars, but to decline over time as a percentage of total revenues due to anticipated economies
of scale in our business support functions. We also expect our future operating expenses to increase due to the
incremental salaries, benefits and related expenses of the existing Instadia and Touch Clarity personnel acquired as
part of these business acquisitions.

We plan to continue investing heavily in sales and marketing by increasing the number of direct sales personnel
and the number of indirect distribution channels, expanding our domestic and international selling and marketing
activities and building brand awareness through advertising and sponsoring additional marketing events. We expect
that sales and marketing expenses will increase in absolute dollars and remain our largest operating expense
category. Generally sales personnel are not immediately productive and sales and marketing expenses do not
immediately result in revenues. This reduces short-term operating margins until the salespeople become more fully
utilized and revenues can be recognized. From 2007 at least through 2013, we expect sales and marketing expenses
to increase due to customer-related intangible assets acquired as part of the Instadia and Touch Clarity acquisitions.

We expect research and development expenses to increase in absolute dollars as we continue to enhance our
existing services and to expand our available service offerings.

We expect that general and administrative expenses will increase in absolute dollars as we add personnel and
incur additional expenses to support the growth of our business and operate as a public company.

We expect stock-based compensation expenses to increase, both in absolute dollars and as a percentage of total
revenues, as a result of our adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, or SFAS, No. I123R,
Share-Based Payment. Beginning in the first quarter of 2006, SFAS No. 123R requires us 10 record compensation
expense based on the fair value of stock awards at the date of grant. The actual amount of stock-based compensation
expense we record in any fiscal period will depend on a number of factors, including the number of shares subject to
the stock options issued, the fair value of our common stock at the time of issuance and the volatility of our stock
price over time. At December 31, 2006, there was $18.8 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to
nonvested stock option awards granted subsequent to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R. This unrecognized
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compensation cost is equal to the fair value of awards expected to vest and will be recognized over a weighted-
average period of 3.7 years,

During the first quarter of 2007, we completed the acquisitions of Instadia and Touch Clarity. In the future, as
part of our overall growth strategy we expect to acquire other businesses, products, services or technologies to
complement the Omniture Online Business Optimization Platform and accelerate access to strategic markets.

At December 31, 2006, we had approximately $31.3 million in net operating loss carryforwards for federal
income tax purposes, which will begin to expire in 2020, and $1.1 million in federal tax credit carryforwards, which
will begin to expire in 2019. We intend to utilize any carryforwards available to us to reduce our future tax
payments, These carryforwards will be subject to annual limitations that result in their expiration before some
portion of them has been fully utilized.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth selected consolidated statements of operations data as a percentage of total
revenues for each of the periods indicated,

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2005 2006
Revenues:
SUbSCIIPHON. . o o e e e 95% 96% 94%
Professional servicesand other. .. .. ............. ... . ... . ...0.... 5 _4 6
Total revenues . ... ... ... e 100 100 100

Cost of revenues:
SubsCription. . .. ... .. e e 39 43 36

Professional servicesandother. . . ... ... . ... ... . .. .. ... ... .. ...... 3 3 _ 4
Total costof revenues. . .. ....... . .. i 42 _48 40
Gross Profit. . .. e 58 52 60
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing . ... .. ... ... i i i 43 57 44
Research and development . .. ... ... ... . ... . ... . . . 10 15 i1
General and administrative . . ... ... e e 16 15 15
Litigation settlement . .. ... ... ... . e e _6 =
Total operating eXpenses. . . ... ... e _69 93 70
Loss from Operations . . . . ... ..ottt i e e e an 41) (10)
loterest INCOME . . . . . .. e s — 1 2
Interest @XpPense. . . . ... e e e e e (2) 4] 2)
O her INCOME . . . e e e _1 — =
Loss before provision for income taxes. . ... ... ...t 6) (41) (10)
Provision for iNCOMe taXes. . .. .o oottt e e e e e = — —
Net dOSS. . o oo e e e _®% @@hn (10%
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Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006

Revenues
Year Ended December 31, % Change
2004 2005 2006 2004 vs, 2005 2005 vs. 2006
{in thousands)
Subscription . .......... ... .. o L 519,444 $41,066 $74,580 111% 82%
Professional services and other. ... ......... 1,122 1,738 5,169 55 197
Total revenues . . .. ... ... $20,566  $42,804  $79,749 108 86

The increase in subscription revenues from 2004 through 2006 was primarily due to the growth in the number
of customers for our subscription services and to greater revenues from existing customers as they increased the
number of transactions from which we captured data. The increase in professional services and other revenues was
primarily due to the growth in our consulting and training services, resulting from an increase in the number of
customers for our subscription services and additional staffing in these areas to support increased customer demand.

The following table sets forth revenues from customers outside and within the United States (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,

2004 2005 2006
Revenues from customers within the United States .. .................. $18,761  $38,108  $66,468
Revenues from customers outside the United States. .. ... ... ........... 1,805 4,696 13,281
Total TEVEIUES . . o ottt et e e e e e e e $20,566 $42.804 $79,749
Revenues from customers outside the United States as a percentage of total
L= (1) S O 9% 11% 17%

Revenues from customers outside of the United States grew from 9% of total revenues in 2004 to 11% of total
revenues in 2005 and to 17% of total revenues in 2006, as a resuli of our ongoing efforts to expand the size of our
sales force and the number of locations outside of the United States where we conduct business and our international
selling and marketing activities. No single foreign country accounted for more than 10% of total revenues during the
years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006.

In both 2005 and 2006, revenues from America Online and certain of its affiliated entities, collectively,
accounted for 11% of total revenues. In 2004, revenues from eBay accounted for 13% of total revenues. No other
customer accounted for more than 10% of total revenues during these periods. Our agreement with America Online
has a one-year term and is renewable annually until 2012, Our agreements with the entities affiliated with America
Online have varying durations of approximately one to two years from the date that we entered into these
agreements and are generally renewable annually.

Cost of Revenues

Year Ended December 31, % Change
2004 2005 2006 2004 vs. 2005 2005 vs. 2006
(in thousands)
Subscription . ... ... $7.993 $18496  $28,827 131% 56%
Professional services and other. . .. ... ....... 739 1,963 2,999 166 53
Total costof revenues .................. $8,732  $20,459 331,826 134 56

The following table sets forth our cost of revenues as a percent of related revenues:
Year Ended December 31,

2004 2005 2006
Subscription . . ... ... e 41% 45% 39%
Professional services and other. . . . ... ittt it e e 66 113 58




Cost of subscription revenues increased $10.3 million from 2005 to 2006, primarily due to a $4.6 million
increase in depreciation related to purchases of network infrastructure equipment, a $4.2 million increase in data
center costs and a $1.7 million increase in employee salaries and benefits and related costs, all necessary to support
a larger customer base and increases in the number of transactions from which we capture data. These increases
were partiaily offset by a $0.7 million decrease in 2006 expenses related to the patent license with NetRatings. Cost
of subscription revenues increased $10.5 million from 2004 to 2005, primarily due to a $3.7 million increase in
depreciation related to purchases of network infrastructure equipment, a $3.1 million increase in data center costs
and a $2.5 million increase in employee salaries and benefits and related costs, all necessary to support a larger
customer base and increases in the number of transactions from which we capture data, The increase was also
partially due to the $1.9 miilion charge in 2005 related to the cost of the patent license with NetRatings for 2005 and
prior periods,

Gross margin associated with subscription revenues was 59% in 2004, 55% in 2005 and 61% in 2006. The
increase in gross margin for subscription revenues in 2006 over 2005 was primarily the result of more efficient
utilization of our network infrastructure. The decrease in gross margin for subscription revenues from 2004 to 2005
was primarily due to a $1.9 million charge related to the patent license with NetRatings, which reduced gross
margin by five percentage points in 2005.

Cost of professional services and other revenues increased $1.0 million from 2005 to 2006 and $1.2 million
from 2004 to 20035, primarily due to increased headcount and related costs to meet customer demand for consulting
and training services.

Gross margin associated with professional services increased from (13%) in 2005 to 42% in 2006, primarily
due to increased productivity of professional services personnel in 2006. Gross margin associated with professional
services decreased from 34% in 2004 to (13%) in 2005, primarily as a result of increased staffing levels in 2005
necessary to support the increased demand for our consulting and training services. Generally, professional services
personnel are not immediately productive, reducing short-term gross margin until these personnel become more
fully utilized.

Operating Expenses

Year Ended December 31, ' % Change
2004 2005 2006 2004 vs. 2005 2005 vs. 2006
(in thousands)

Sales and marketing. ... ................. $ 8906 $24,250  $35,227 172% 45%
Research and development . . .............. 2,030 6,647 8,732 227 31
General and administrative, . .............. 3,230 6,220 12,107 93 95
Litigation settlement . .. ................. —_ 2,604 — * (100)

Total operating expenses . .............. $14,166  $39,730  $56,066 180 4]

* Not meaningful

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses increased $11.0 million from 2005 to 2006, primarily due to a $6.2 million
increase in employee salaries and benefits and related costs, principally resulting from increased staffing. The
increase was also due to a $4.1 million increase in commission costs primarily due to increased revenues and a
$0.8 million increase in stock-based compensation expense.

Sales and marketing expenses increased $15.4 million from 2004 to 2005, primarily due to a $5.8 million
increase in employee salaries and benefits and related costs, a $2.3 million increase in marketing program costs due
to increased advertising, communications and events to expand awareness of our company and products, a
$2.1 million increase in commission costs and a $0.9 million increase in travel-related costs.

Our sales and marketing employee headcount increased during 2006 and 2005 primarily because of the hiring
of additional sales personnel to focus on adding new customers and expanding into new geographic regions.

50




Research and Development

Research and development expenses increased $2.1 million from 2005 to 2006, primarily due to a $1.6 million
increase in salaries and benefits and related costs and a $0.3 million increase for stock-based compensation.

Research and development expenses increased $4.6 million from 2004 to 2005, primarily due to a $3.6 million
increase in salaries and benefits and retated costs. We increased our research and development employee headcount
during 2006 and 2005 to upgrade our existing service offerings and develop new technologies.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses increased $5.9 million from 2005 to 2006, primarily due to a $2.2 million
increase in employee salaries and benefits and related costs, a $1.3 million increase in stock-based compensation
and a $1.2 million increase in outside professional services costs, primarily related to auditing and compliance
activities required to operate as a public company and legal costs associated with patent filings and general
corporate matters.

General and administrative expenses increased $3.0 million from 2004 to 2005, primarily due to a $1.2 million
increase in employee salaries and benefits and related costs and a $1.1 million increase in outside professional
services costs, which primarily consisted of legal fees associated with the NetRatings litigation, patent filings and
general corporate matters. ‘

We increased our general and administrative employee headcount during 2006 and 2005 to support the
continued growth of our business and the requirements of operating as a public company.

Litigation Settlement

In 2006, there were no litigation settlement expenses. We recognized $2.6 million of litigation settlement
expenses in 2005 resulting from the settlement and patent license agreement with NetRatings, which represents the
net present value of the amount to be paid to NetRatings that is in excess of the estimated fair value of the patents
licensed from NetRatings.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense has been classified as follows in the accompanying consolidated state-
ments of operations:

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2005 2006
Cost of SUbSCHPLION fEBVENUES . . ... .ottt e e e $— $ 41 $ 203
Cost of professional services and other revenues . .. ................... —_ 6 54
Sales and marketing . . . . .. ... .. L e — 156 993
Research and development . ... ... ... ... ... . ... . . i —_ 243 563
General and administrative . . . . . . . L. e e — 64 1,345
Total stock-based compensation ............ ... ... ... ... ....... 5— $510 $3,158

Stock-based compensation expense increased $2.6 million from 2005 to 2006, due to $1.9 million of expense
in 2006 resulting from the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, $0.5 million related to the full-year amortization in 2006 of
deferred-stock-based compensation related to 2005 stock option grants and $0.2 million related to the modification
and acceleration of the vesting of an employee’s stock options upon termination of employment.

The increase in stock-based compensation expense from 2004 to 2005 of $0.5 million was due to the
amortization of deferred stock-based compensation expense.
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Interest Income, Interest Expense and Other Income (Expense)
Year Ended December 31,

2004 2005 2006
(in thousands)
INEErESL INCOME . . .\ ot e ettt et e ettt e e ettt iaanaas $ 64 $599 $2.117
Interest EXpense . . ... oot e e e 392 . 574 1,285
Other iNCOME (EXPENSEY . . . . v vttt it et e et e e 1,342 (66) 219)

Interest income increased $1.5 million from 2005 to 2006 and $0.5 million from 2004 to 2005, in both cases
primarily as a result of an increase in cash and cash equivalent balances.

Interest expense increased $0.7 million from 2005 to 2006, primarily due to $0.5 million of imputed interest
expense associated with the liability relating to the NetRatings settlement and $0.4 million of increased interest on
notes payable resulting from additional borrowings during 2006 under the equipment line of credit. These increases
were partially offset by a $0.2 million decrease in interest expense related to capital leases. Interest expense
increased $0.2 million from 2004 to 2005, as a result of borrowings under the credit facility during 2005.

Other expense increased $0.2 million from 2005 to 2006, primarily due to a $0.1 million unrealized loss on a
foreign currency forward contract. Other income (expense) decreased $1.4 million from 2004 to 2005, primarily
due 1o the recognition of a $1.2 million deferred gain in 2004 associated with forgiveness of outstanding debt owed
by us to a third party.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At December 31, 2006, our principal sources of liquidity consisted of cash and cash equivalenis of
$68.3 million, accounts receivable, net, of $24.1 million and available amounts under our credit facilities of
$4.9 million. During July 2006, we completed our initial public offering of 10.3 million shares of our common stock
and received gross proceeds of approximately $67.0 million, including the full exercise by the underwriters of the
over-allotment option. Net proceeds were approximately $59.2 million after paying underwriting discounts,
commissions and offering costs.

During the first quarter of 2007, we used approximately $28.8 million of the net IPO proceeds to acquire
Instadia, Touch Clarity and certain intellectual property rights. We anticipate using the remaining niet proceeds from
the IPO for general corporate purposes, which may include expansion of our domestic and international sales and
marketing organizations, investments in our network infrastructure to support our growth, further development and
expansion of our service offerings and acquisitions of complementary businesses, technologies or other assets. We
have invested our excess cash in short-term, interest-bearing, investment grade securities.

Historically, our primary sources of cash have been customer payments for our subscription and professional
services, proceeds from the issuance of common and convertible preferred stock and proceeds from the issuance of
notes payable. Our principal uses of cash historically have consisted of payroll and other operating expenses,
payments relating to purchases of property and equipment primarily to support the network infrastructure needed to
provide our services to our customer base, repayments of borrowings and repurchases of issued convertible
preferred stock.

Operating Activities

Our cash flows from operating activities are significantly influenced by the amount of cash we invest in
personnel and infrastructure to support the anticipated future growth in our business, increases in the number of
customers using our subscription and professional services and the amount and timing of payments by these
customers.

We generated $3.7 million of net cash from operating activities during 2006. This cash was primarily generated
from a net loss of $7.7 million, adjusted for $16.2 million in non-cash depreciation, amortization and stock-based
compensation expenses and a $10.8 million increase in amounts billed to customers in advance of when we
recognized revenues. This increase in operating cash was partially offset by an $11.8 million increase in accounts
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receivable, primanly resulting from the increase in our customer base, a $1.5 million decrease in accounts payable,
a $1.2 million decrease in accrued and other liabilities and a $1.0 million increase in prepaid expenses and other
assets.

Investing Activities

Our primary investing activities consisted of purchases of computer network equipment to accommodate the
continued growth in customer transactions from which we capture data, furniture and equipment to support our
operations, and payments related to the acquisition of intangible assets. We expect to continue investing in network
infrastructure equipment as our customer base grows. However, beginning in 2007, we expect to lease a portion of
our network equipment requirements under operating leases, which will reduce our capital expenditures to the
extent operating leases are utilized. The extent to which we invest in network infrastructure equipment can be
affected by the pace with which we add new customers, along with the timing and scale of new customer
implementations. Because we make expenditures for new equipment before we receive cash from customers, it may
take a number of months or longer for us to achieve positive cash flow from a customer.

We used $21.3 million of net cash in investing activities during 2006. This use of cash resulted from
$14.9 million to purchase property and equipment and $6.4 million to purchase intangible assets.

Financing Activities

We generated $63.7 million of net cash from financing activities during 2006. This cash primarily resulted
from $59.2 million in net proceeds, after deducting offering costs, from the issuance of common stock in our [PO
and from the issuance of $9.6 million of notes payable, partially offset by $5.4 million of principal payments on
notes payable and capital lease obligations.

Other Factors Affecting Liquidity and Capital Resources

In 2004, we entered into an equipment line of credit agreement for $10.0 million. At December 31, 2006, we
had $2.3 million outstanding under the line of credit. These borrowings bear interest at rates between 4.81% and
5.06% per annum, and are repayable in monthly installments through October 2007,

We amended the equipment line of credit in 2005. This amendment provided for a revolving line of credit that
could be drawn in an amount equal to the lesser of $10.0 million or the eligible borrowing base as defined in the
amendment, until the maturity date of December 2007, The revolving line bears interest at a variable rate equal to
the prime interest rate, plus a factor based on our liquidity ratio as defined in the amendment, which equated to arate
of 8.25% at December 31, 2006. Interest is payable monthly. At December 31, 2006, the outstanding principal
balance under the revolving line was $0.5 million.

In January 2006, we entered into a second amendment to the equipment line of credit agreement. This second
amendment provided for a second equipment facility of up to $10.0 million, and reduced the total amount available
for borrowing under the existing revolving line to $5.0 million. The second equipment facility may be drawn upon
through March 31, 2007 and may only be used to finance or refinance equipment. Each draw under the second
equipment facility has a 36-month repayment period and accrues interest at a rate based on the United States
Treasury Bill Rate, plus a factor determined by our quick ratio, at the time of that draw. The borrowings under these
equipment lines and revolving line cannot exceed $15.0 million. At December 31, 2006, we had net borrowings
under the second equipment facility that mature at vartous dates in fiscal 2009 of $7.3 million, at a weighted-
average interest rate of 8.19%.

In April 2006, we amended the equipment line of credit agreement to modify certain financial covenants. We
were in compliance with all financial covenants contained in the amendment at December 31, 2006.

In February 2006, we entered into a settlement and patent license agreement with NetRatings, Inc. The
agreement requires us to make periodic license payments totaling $10.0 million, $7.0 million of which we have
previously paid, including a $1.0 million payment made in March 2007, and the balance of which is payable in three
quarterly installments of $1.0 million each during the second through fourth quarters of 2007. In accordance with
the agreement, we made an additional license payment of $4.0 million following the closing of our initial public

53




offering of common stock in July 2006. In the event that we acquire certain specified companies, we may be
required to make additional license payments based on the Web analytics revenues of the acquired company. The
agreement also provides that if we acquire other companies, we may elect to make additional license payments
based on the Web analytics revenues of the acquired company to ensure that the acquired company’s products,
services or technology are covered by the license. For example, in connection with our acquisition of Instadia, we
made an additional license payment of approximately $0.3 million in the first quarter of 2007, and in connection
with our acquisition of Touch Clarity, we expect to make an additional license payment of approximately
$0.5 million in the second quarter of 2007.

In January 2007, we acquired Instadia for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $16.5 million to
$18.0 million, which included cash, restructuring charges and acquisition costs. The restructuring charges we
recorded in conjunction with the acquisition totaled approximately $2.5 million and related to severance payments
and severance-related benefits associated with employee terminations and the cost to terminate an existing Instadia
contractual obligation, These restructuring charges were accounted for in accordance with Emerging Issues Task
Force Issue No. 95-3, Recognition of Liabilities in Connection with a Purchase Business Combination. We expect to
pay all restructuring charges by the end of 2007.

In March 2007, we acquired Touch Clarity for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $65.0 million to
$70.0 million, which included initial consideration of $16.0 million cash paid upon closing of the acquisition, the
fair value of assumed options and acquisition costs. The aggregate purchase price also inciuded additional
constderation of $33.6 million which is to be paid by November 30, 2007 in shares of our common stock, cash,
or some combination of stock and cash, at our discretion. We may also be required to pay up to an additional
$3.0 million in consideration during the first quarter of 2008, contingent upon the achievement of certain fiscal year
2007 revenue milestones.

As a result of the Instadia acquisition, we elected to make an additional license payment to NetRatings of
$0.3 million in February 2007, in accordance with the terms of the settlement and patent license agreement entered
into with NetRatings in February 2006. We expect to make an additional $0.5 million license payment to
NetRatings during April 2007, related to the Touch Clarity acquisition.

At December 31, 2006, we had net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes of
approximately $31.3 million and federal research and development tax credits of approximately $1.1 million.
In the future, we intend to utilize any carryforwards available to us to reduce our tax payments. These carryforwards
will be subject to annual limitations that result in their expiration before some portion of them has been fully
utilized.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any special purpose entities and, other than operating leases for office space and certain
computer equipment, which are described below, we do not engage in off-balance sheet financing arrangements.

In January 2006, we amended an operating lease associated with our principal offices in Orem, Utah. The
amendment increased the total square footage of office space leased and extended the lease term to March 2011 for
all spaces leased under this agreement as amended. The Company has also entered into operating leases for office
space in international locations.

During the first quarter of 2007, we entered into two master lease agreements with third-party financing
sources. We generally expect to record equipment acquired under the leases as operating leases, in accordance with
SFAS No. 13, Accounting for Leases. The rental payments and rental terms associated with individual acquisitions
under the leases may vary, depending on the nature of the equipment acquired. As a condition of one of these lease
agreemenis, we must not allow our cash balance to fall below $10.0 million as long as this agreement is in force.
Failure to maintain a minimum of $10.0 million in cash shall constitute an event of default as defined in the lease
agreement.
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments

Our future contractual obligations at December 31, 2006, are as follows (in thousands):
Payments Due by Period

Less Than
Total 1 Year 1-3 Years  3-5 Years  Thereafter
Operating lease obligations . . .. ............... $ 7377 % 1,794 $5,140 $443 3
Capital lease obligations ... .................. 90 64 26 — —
Notespayable. ... .. ... ... ... .. i urvnr.. 10,114 5,997 4,117 —_ —
Interest on notes payable. .. .................. 819 5790 240 — —
Patent license and settlement costs ............. 4,000 4,000 — — e
Total contractual obligations®. ... ......... .. $22,400 $12434 39,523  $443 $—

™ Includes estimated interest payments of $44,000 on our variable rate revolving line of credit. The $44,000 is
based on the $500,000 outstanding principal balance and interest rate of 8.25% in effect at December 31, 2006.

) Excludes additional consideration of $33.6 million related to the Touch Clarity acquisition, which was
completed subsequent to December 31, 2006, to be paid no later than November 30, 2007 in our common
stock, cash, or some combination of stock and cash, at our discretion.

Our future cash requirements will depend on many factors, including the expansion of our sales, support and
marketing activities, the timing and extent of spending to support development efforts and expansion into new
territories, the extent to which we acquire new businesses and technologies and the costs of these acquisitions, the
building of infrastructure to support our growth, the timing of introduction of new services and enhancements to
existing services and the continued market acceptance of our services.

We believe our existing cash and cash equivalents, net proceeds from our IPO, any cash provided from our
operations and funds available from our existing credit facilities and equipment leasing arrangements will be
sufficient to meet our currently anticipated cash requirements for at least the next 12 months. Thereafter, we may
need to raise additional funds to meet the cash flow requirements of our business. In addition, if we make additional
acquisitions or license products and technologies complementary to our business, we may need to raise additional
funds. If required, additional financing may not be available on terms that are favorable to us or at all. If we raise
additional funds through the issuance of equity or convertible debt securities, the percentage ownership of our
stockholders will be reduced and these securities might have rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of our
current stockholders. )

We may need to raise additional capital if we elect to pay cash for all or some portion of the $33.6 mitlion of
additional consideration related to the Touch Clarity acquisition, discussed above, which must be paid by
November 30, 2007. If we raise additional funds through the issuance of debt securities, such debt financing
could involve restrictive covenants relating to our capital raising activities and other financial and operational
matters, which could make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue future business
opportunities, including potential acquisitions. In addition, we may not be able to obtain financing on terms
favorable to us, if at all,

Critical Accounting Policies

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and assump-
tions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, costs and expenses and related disclosures, We
evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis. Our estimates are based on historical experience and
various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Our actual results could differ
from these estimates.

We believe that the assumptions and estimates associated with revenue recognition, allowance for accounts
receivable, impairment of long-lived assets, including goodwill, and stock-based compensation have the greatest

35




potential impact on our consolidated financial statements. Therefore, we consider these to be our critical accounting
policies and estimates.

Revenue Recognition

We provide our applications as services; and accordingly, we follow the provisions of SEC Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 104, Revenue Recognition, and Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 00-21, Revenue Arrangements
with Multiple Deliverables. We recognize revenue when all of the following conditions are met:

» There is persuasive evidence of an arrangement;

» the service has been provided to the customer,

* the collection of the fees is reasonably assured: and

s the amount of fees to be paid by the customer is fixed or determinable.

We recognize subscription revenues, including implementation and set-up fees on a monthly basis beginning
on the date the customer commences use of our services, through the end of the contract term. Amounts that have
been invoiced are recorded in accounts receivable and in deferred revenues or revenues, depending on whether the
revenue recognition criteria have been met.

We recognize professional services revenues when sold with subscription offerings (generally considered to be
at the time of, or within 45 days of, sale of the subscription offering) over the term of the related subscription
contract as these services are considered to be inseparable from the subscription service, and we have not yet
established objective and reliable evidence of fair value for the undelivered element. We recognize revenues
resulting from professional services sold separately from the subscription services as these services are performed.

Although our subscription contracts are generally noncancelable, a limited number of customers have the right
to cancel their contracts, by providing prior written notice to us of their intent to cancel the remainder of the contract
term. In the event that a customer cancels their contract, they are not entitled to a refund for prior services provided
to them by us.

Allowances for Accounts Receivable

We record a sales allowance to provide for estimated future adjustments to receivables, generally resulting
from credits issued to customers in conjunction with amendments or renewals of subscription service arrangements.
We record provisions for sales altowances as a reduction to revenues. Specific provisions are made based on
amendments or renewals associated with specific subscription service arrangements, which are expected to result in
the issuance of customer credits. Additionally, provisions are made based on actual credits issued as a percentage of
the Company’s historical revenues. We evaluate the estimate of sales allowances on a regular basis and adjust the
amount reserved accordingly.

We make judgments as to our ability to collect outstanding receivables and provide allowances when collection
becomes doubtful. Specific provisions are made based on an account-by-account analysis of collectibility.
Additionally, provisions are made for non-customer-specific accounts based on our historical bad debt experience
and current economic trends. We record provisions in operating expenses. We write off customer accounts
receivable balances to the allowance for doubtful accounts when it becomes likely that we will not collect the
receivable from the customer.

Impairment of Long-Lived and intangible assets, including goodwill

Periodically we assess potential impairment of our long-lived assets, which include property, equipment and
acquired intangible assets, in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment and
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. We perform an impairment review whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Factors we consider important which could trigger an
impairment review include, but are not limited to, significant under-performance relative to historical or projected
future operating results, significant changes in the manner of our use of the acquired assets or our overall business
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strategy and significant industry or economic trends. When we determine that the carrying value of a long-lived
asset may not be recoverable based upon the existence of one or more of the above indicators, we determine the
recoverability by comparing the carrying amount of the asset to net future undiscounted cash flows that the asset is
expected to generate, We recognize an impairment charge equal to the amount by which the carrying amount
exceeds the fair market value of the asset.

We recorded goodwill in conjunction with the Instadia and Touch Clarity acquisitions. We will review
goodwill for impairment, at least annually, in accordance with SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets.

Stock-Based Compensation

Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for employee stock options using the intrinsic-value method in
accordance with the provisions of Accounting Principles Board, or APB, Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees, FASB Interpretation No. 44, Accounting for Certain Transactions Involving Stock
Compensation, an Interpretation of APB Opinion No, 25, and related interpretations and we complied with the
disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, and SFAS No. 148, Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure, During 2005 we recorded deferred stock-based
compensation of $3.8 million, representing the amount by which the deemed fair value of our common stock
exceeded the exercise price of employee stock options on the date of grant, for options granted during 2005. We are
amortizing this deferred stock-based employee compensation over the period in which the options vest, which is
generally four years. We recorded stock-based compensation expense reltated to this amortization of $0.5 million in
2005 and $1.0 million in 2006.

We adopted SFAS No. 123R effective January 1, 2006, which requires us to measure the cost of employee
services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments, based on the fair value of the award on the date of
grant. That cost must be recognized over the period during which the employee is required to provide services in
exchange for the award. We adopted SFAS No. 123R using the prospective method, which requires us to apply its
provisions only to awards granted, modified, repurchased or cancelled after the effective date. At December 31,
2006, there was $18.8 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested stock option awards
granted subsequent to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R. This unrecognized compensation cost is equal to the fair
value of awards expected to vest and will be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.7 years.

Since January 1, 2006, our stock-based compensation has been based on the balance of deferred stock-based
compensation for unvested awards at January 1, 2006, using the intrinsic value as previously recorded under APB
Opinion No. 25, and the fair value of the awards on the date of grant for awards beginning January 1, 2006. The
adoption of SFAS No. 123R has resulted, and will continue to result, in higher amounts of stock-based compen-
sation for awards granted beginning January 1, 2006 than would have been recorded if we had continved to apply
the provisions of APB Opinion No. 25.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in fncome Taxes — an
Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, FIN 48, to create a single model to address
accounting for uncertainty in tax positions. FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for income taxes, by prescribing a
minimum recognition threshold a tax position is required to meet before being recognized in the financial
statements. FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecognition, measurement, classification, interest and penalties,
accounting in interim periods, disclosures and transition. FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2006. We have adopted FIN 48 as of Janvary 1, 2007, as required. We do not expect that the adoption
of FIN 48 will have a significant impact on our financial position and results of operations.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, SFAS No. 157 establishes a
framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. The changes to current
practice resulting from the application of this statement relate to the definition of fair value, the methods used to
measure fair value and the expanded disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal
years beginning after November 15, 2007. Earlier adoption is permitted, provided the company has not yet issued
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financial statements, including for interim periods, for that fiscal year. We are currently evalvating the impact of
SFAS No. 157 on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities. SFAS No. 159 permits companies to choose to measure certain financial instruments and certain other
items at fair value. The standard requires that unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option
has been elected be reported in earnings. SFAS No. 159 is effective for the Company beginning in the first quarter of
fiscal year 2008, although earlier adoption is permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact that SFAS No. 159
will have on our consolidated financial statements,

ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Our results of operations and cash flows are subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency
exchange rates, particularly changes in the Australian dollar, British pound, Canadian dollar, Danish krone, EU
euro, Hong Kong dollar and Japanese yen.

Because the cash consideration associated with the acquisition of Instadia was denominated in Danish krone,
we entered into a foreign currency forward exchange contract with a financial institution to protect against currency
exchange risk associated with this transaction. This forward contract was not designated as an accounting hedge
under SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. Therefore, we recognized an
unrealized loss of $94,000 at December 31, 2006 related to this contract, which was recorded in other income
(expense) and accrued liabilities. The $94,000 was equal to the fair value of this foreign currency forward exchange
contract at December 31, 2006.

As our international operations continue to grow, we may choose to increase our use of foreign currency
forward contracts, and we may choose to use option contracts to manage currency exposures.
Interest Rate Sensitivity

We had unrestricted cash and cash equivalents totaling $68.3 million at December 31, 2006. These amounts
were invested primarily in money market funds, The unrestricted cash and cash equivalents are held for general
corporate purposes. We do not enter into investments for trading or speculative purposes. Due to the short-term
nature of these investments, we believe that we do not have any material exposure to changes in the fair value of our
investment portfolio as a result of changes in interest rates. Declines in interest rates, however, will reduce future
investment income, if any.

ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The response to this item is submitted as a separate section of this Form 10-K beginning on page F-1.

ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

ITEM 9A(T). Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

QOur management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, evaluated the .

effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15 under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 as of the end of the period covered by this annual report on Form 10-K. In designing and evaluating the
disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that any controls and procedures, no matter how well
designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In
addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints
and that management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and procedures
relative to their costs.
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Based on that evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures are designed at a reasonable assurance level and are effective to provide reasonable
assurance that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange
Commission rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management,
including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding internal
control over financial reporting or an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm,
Emst & Young LLP, due to a transition period established by the rules of the SEC for newly public companies.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered
by this annual report on Form 10-K that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.

Since the beginning of 2006, we have invested significant resources to begin assessing our system of internal
controls. We have identified areas of our internal controls requiring improvement, and are in the process of
designing enhanced processes and controls to address issues identified through this assessment. Areas for
improvement include streamlining our billing and collection processes, further limiting internal access to certain
data systems, enhancing the review and approval of company expenditures and continuing to improve coordination
across the various business functions in our company. We plan to continue this initiative, as well as prepare for our
first management report on internal control over financial reporting, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 on December 31, 2007. As a result, we expect to make further changes in our internal control
over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. Other Information.

None.

PART 11l

ITEM K. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by Item 10 of Form 10-K is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for the
2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2006. Certain information required by this item concerning executive officers is set forth in Part I of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K in “Business — Executive Officers”

ITEM 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by Item 11 of Form 10-K is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for the
2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2006.

ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

The information required by Item 12 of Form 10-K is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for the
2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2006.
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ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information required by Item 13 of Form 10-K is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for the
2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2006.

ITEM 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by Item 14 of Form 10-K is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for the
2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2006.

PART IV

ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:
1. All Financial Statements:
The following financial statements are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K beginning on page F-1:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2005 and 2006
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006

Consolidated Statements of Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholder’s (Deficit) Equity for the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
2, Financial Statement Schedules:

Schedule I1 — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts is filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K on
page F-9.

All other schedules are omitted as the required information is either inapplicable or it is presented in the
consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.

3. Exhibits:

The exhibits required by ltem 601 of Regulation S-K are listed in paragraph (b) below.




{b) Exhibits:

The following exhibits are filed herewith or are incorporated by reference to exhibits previously filed with the

SEC:
Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit Exhibit Filed
No. Exhibit Description Form File No. No. Filing Date Herewith

2.1 Share Purchase Agreement, dated 8-K 000-52076 2.1 February 20, 2007
February 14, 2007, by and among
Omniture, Inc., the Sharehoiders of
Touch Clarity Limited, Paul Phillips,
Helen Protopapas and Tim Brown, as
the Warrantors, and Alta Berkeley LLP
and Yehoshua Ennis collectively as the
Shareholder Representative.

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of 10-Q 000-52076 31 August 11, 2006
Incorporation of the  Registrant
currently in effect

32 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the 10-Q 000-52076 32 August 11, 2006
Registrant currently in effect

4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate of S-1  333-132987 4.1 June 22, 2006
the Registrant

42 Amended and Restated Registration S-1 333-132987 4.1 June 9, 2006
Rights Agreement, dated as of April 26,
2006, between the Registrant and Certain
Holders of the Registrant’s Common
Stock Named therein

43 Silicon Valley Bank Second Amended S-1 333-132987 4.1 May 24, 2006
and Restated Loan and Security
Agreement dated January 10, 2006

4.4 Registration Rights Agreement, dated 8-K  000-52076 2.1  February 20, 2007
February 14, 2007, by and among
Omniture, Inc. and the Shareholders of
Touch Clarity Limited.

10.1 Form of Indemnification Agreement S-1 333-132987 4.1 May 24, 2006
entered into by and between the
Registrant and its Directors and Officers

10.2A* 1999 Equity Incentive Plan of the S-1 333-132987 10.2A April 4, 2006
Registrant, as amended

10.2B* Forms of Stock Option Agreement under  S-1  333-132987 10.2B April 4, 2006
the 1999 Equity Incentive Plan

10.2C* Form of Stock Option Agreement under S-1  333-132987 10.2C June 9, 2006
the 1999 Equity Incentive Plan used for
Named Executive Officers and Non-
Employee Directors

10.3A* 2006 Equity Incentive Plan of the X
Registrant

10.3B* Forms of Stock Option Award Agreement X
used under the 2006 Equity Incentive
Plan

10.4A* 2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan of S5-1 333-132987 104A April 4, 2006
the Registrant

10.4B* Form of Subscription Agreement under S-1  333-132987 10.4B April 4, 2006
2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

61




Exhibit
No.

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8A

10.8B

10.8C

10.8D

10.8E

10.8F

10.9%*

10.10

10.11*

Exhibit Description

Amended and Restated Employment
Agreement between the Registrant and
Joshua G. James

Amended and Restated Employment
Agreement between the Registrant and
John R. Pestana

Offer Letter with Michael S. Herring,
dated October 20, 2004

Basic Lease Information and Canyon
Park  Technology  Center  Office
Building Lease Agreement, dated as of
May 9, 2003, between the Registrant and
TCU Properties I, L1.C

First Amendment
Information and  Canyon  Park
Technology Center Office Building
Lease Agreement, dated May 6, 2004,
between the Registrant and TCU
Properties 1, LLC

Second Amendment to Basic Lease
Information and  Canyon  Park
Technology Center Office Building
Lease Agreement, dated December 8§,
2004, between the Registrant and TCU
Properties I, LLC

Third Amendment
Information and  Canyon  Park
Technology Center Office Building
Lease Agreement, dated April 30, 2005,
between the Registrant and TCU
Properties 1, LLC

Fourth Amendment
Information and  Canyon  Park
Technology Center Office Building
Lease Agreement, dated May 31, 2005,
between the Registrant and TCU
Properties [, LLC

Fifth Amendment
Information and  Canyon  Park
Technology Center Office Building
Lease Agreement, dated Janvary 25,
2006, between the Registrant and TCU
Properties 1, LLC

Settlement  and  Patent  License
Agreement, dated February 28, 2006,
by and between NetRatings, Inc. and
the Registrant

NetObjects, Inc. Warrant to Purchase
Stock dated March 26, 2002

Change of Control Agreement between
the Registrant and Joshua G. James

to Basic Lease

to Basic Lease

to Basic Lease

to Basic Lease

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filed
Form File No. No. Filing Date Herewith
S-1  333-132987 105 June 22, 2006
S-1  333-132987 106 June 22, 2006
S-1  333-132987 10.7 April 4, 2006
S-1  333-132987 10.8A April 4, 2006
S-1  333-132987 10.8B April 4, 2006
S-1  333-132987 10.8C April 4, 2006
S-1  333-132987 10.8D April 4, 2006
S-1  333-132987 10.8D April 4, 2006
S-1  333-132987 10.8F April 4, 2006
S§-1  333-132987 109 April 4, 2006
§-1  333-132987 10.10 April 4, 2006
S-1  333-132987 10.12 June 22, 2006
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Exhibit
No.

10.12*

10.13*

10.14*

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18
10.19

21.1

231

311

31.2

32.1

Exhibit Description

Change of Control Agreement between
the Registrant and John R. Pestana

Form of Change of Control Agreement
entered into between Registrant and each
of Brett M. Error and Christopher C.
Harrington

Change of Control Agreement between
the Registrant and Michael S. Herring

Master Finance Lease and Lease
Covenant Agreement, dated March 5,
2007, by and between the Registrant
and Zion's Credit Corporation

The Touch Clarity Limited Enterprise
Management Incentives Share Option
Plan 2002

Forms of Agreements under The Touch
Clarity Limited Enterprise Management
Incentives Share Option Plan 2002
Touch Clarity 2006 U.S. Stock Plan

Form of Stock Option Agreement under
Touch Clanty Limited 2006 U.S. Stock
Plan

List of Subsidiaries of the Registrant
Consent of Emst & Young LLP,
Independent Registered Accounting Firm
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d- 14(a) Certification of
Chief Executive Officer

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of
Chief Financial Officer

Section 1350 Certifications of Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer

Incorporaled by Reference

Exhibit
Form File No. No.
S-1  333-132987 10.13
S-1 333132987 1014
S-1  333-132987 10.15
8-K  000-52076 10.1
S-B 333-141352 995
S-8  333-141352 996
S-8  333.141352 997
S-8  333-141352  99.8

Filed
Filing Date Herewith

June 22, 2006

Jupe 22, 2006

June 22, 2006

March 7, 2007

March 16, 2007

March 16, 2007

March 16, 2007

March 16, 2007
X
X
X
X
X

* Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan, contract or arrangement in which any director or

named executive officer of the Registrant participates.

** The Securities and Exchange Commission has granted confidential treatment with respect to portions of this
exhibit. A complete copy of this exhibit has been filed separately with the Commission.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

OMNITURE, INC.
(Registrant)

By: /s/ JosHua G. JaMmEs

Joshua G. James
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 23, 2007

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacity and on the dates indicated.

Name and Signature Title Date

fsf JosHua G. JAMES President and Chief Executive Officer and March 23, 2007
Director (Principal Executive Officer)

Joshua G. James

/s  MicHAEL 8. HERRING Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice March 23, 2007
Michael S. Herring President (Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer)

fs/ D. Fraser BuLLock Director March 23, 2007
D. Fraser Bullock

fs/  GRECORY S. BUTTERFIELD Director March 23, 2007
Gregory S. Butterfield

/s/ Dana L. Evan ' Director March 23, 2007
Dana L. Evan
/s/ Mark P. GORENBERG Director March 23, 2007

Mark P. Gorenberg

/s/  Rory T. O’DriscoLL Director March 23, 2007
Rory T. O'Driscoll

/s/  Joun R, PESTANA Director March 23, 2007
John R. Pestana
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Omniture, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Omniture, Inc. as of December 31, 2005
and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of operations, convertible preferred stock and stockholders’
{deficit) equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
{(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over
financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Omniture, Inc. at December 31, 2005 and 2006, and the consolidated results
of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006, in conformity
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2006, Omniture, Inc, changed its method of
accounting for share-based payments in accordance with the guidance provided in Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards, No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment.”

s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Salt Lake City, Utah
March 19, 2007




OMNITURE, INC,

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Assets:
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents. .. ..., .. .. . .. . ... .. e

Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $962 and $2,039 at December 31, 2005
and 2006, respectively . . . ... ... L

Prepaid expenses and other current assets . ........... ... ... ... .. .. ...

Total CUITENL ASSEES . . . . o ittt et e e e e e e

Property and equipment, net . . ... .. ... L. L. e
Intangible assels, Net . ... ... ... .
Other @sSeIS . . .. . . o e e

Liabilities, Convertible Preferred Stock and
Stockholders’ (Deficit) Equity:

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable . . . . ... e
Accrued liabilities. . ... ... .
Current portton of deferred revenues .. . ......... ... . . e
Current portion of notes payable .. . ... .. ... .. ...
Current portion of capital lease obligations ... ......... ... ... .. ... ........

Total current liabilities . ... ... ... ... ... . .. e
Deferred revenues, less current portion .. .. ... .. .. ..t e
Notes payable, less current portion ... .. ... ... e
Capital lease obligations, less current portion . .......... ... i,
Other liabilities . . ... ... ...
Commitments and contingencies

Convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 32,418,493 and 0 shares authorized at
December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively (aggregate liquidation preference of
$57.355 and $0 at December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively) .. .. ...........

Stockholders’ (deficit) equity:

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 62,500,000 and 250,000,000 shares authorized at
December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively, 13,918,885 and 47,385,901 shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively ..........

Additicnal paid-in capital . . ... .. ... e
Deferred stock-based compensation . . ... 0.ttt e
Accumulated other comprehensive inCome. . .. ... ...t n,
Accumulated deficit . . ... L

Total stockholders” (deficity equity . . . ........ ... . e

Total liabilities, convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ (deficit} equity . .

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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December 31,

2005 2006

$22,196 § 68,287
12,325 24,126
720 1,571
35,241 93,984
27,517 31,128
10,150 9,796
143 302

$ 73,051 $135.210
$ 4081 $ 2,586
13,993 11,435
12,855 21,885
3,035 5,997

86 53
34,050 41,956
396 2,170
2,794 4,117

77 24
4,118 518
61,882 —
14 47

4,104 127,380
(3,270) (2,172)
— 9
GL114y (38839
(30,266) 86,425
$ 73,051  $135.210




OMNITURE, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2005 2006
Revenues:
SUbSCHPHON . .. .. ... e $19,444 $ 41,066 $74,580
Professional servicesand other. . .. ... ... ... i i e 1,122 1,738 5,169
Total FeVEIUES . o ot vttt e e e e e e 20,566 42 804 79,749
Cost of revenues:
Subscription ... ... ... ... 7,993 18,496 28,827
Professional services and other. . . . ... ... ... ... . ... . . . o, 739 1,963 2,999
Total cost Of TEVENUES . . . .\ v vt et e e e e et et e et 8,732 20,459 31,826
Gross profit .. ... . e 11,834 22,345 47,923
Operating expenses:
Salesand marketing . ... ... ... e 8,506 24,259 35,227
Research and development. ... ........ .. ... . . i 2,030 6,647 8,732
General and administrative ... ... ...t e e 3,230 6,220 12,107
Litigation settlement . ... ... ... it e — 2,604 —
Total operating exXpenses .. .. .. ... ... ... 14,166 39,730 56,066
Loss from operations. . . ... . ...ttt i e (2,332) (17,385) (8,143)
Interest iNCOME . . . .ottt e e ittt e e 64 599 2,117
INterest EXPense . . ... v vt e e 392) (574) (1,285)
Other inCOME (EXPENSE) . . . o\ vttt ettt e e ae e 1,342 (66) (219
Loss before provision forincome taxes .. ............. ... . .o (1,318) (17,426) (7,530)
Provision for inCome taRes . ... .. ... ... it e e — 15 195
L $(1,318) $(17.441) $(37,725
Net loss per share, basic and diluted . ........ ... ... ... ... .. ..... $ 010y $ (127 $ (029
Weighted-average number of shares, basic and diluted . . .. .. ........... 13,094 13,694 30,332

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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OMNITURE, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands, except share data)

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2005 2006
Cash flows from operating activities:
O 13- S $ (1,318) $(17441) $ (7,725)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities:
Depreciation and ameortization . .. .. ... . ... L L e 1,862 6,377 13,032
Stock-based compensation. . ... ... ... i e — 510 3,158
Loss on disposal of property and equipment . .. ......... ... ... ... ..., — 5 —
Patent license and litigation settlement costs. . .. ... ... .. v, — 4514 —
Net changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net .. ... L. (3,692) (6,444)  (11,801)
Prepaid expenses and other assets. . . ........... ... . . el (475) 60 (1,010)
Accounts payable . ... ... ... L. 3115 (1010 (1,495)
Accrued and other Liabilities . . ... ... ... .. .. . . . . 1,387 2,047 (1,228)
Deferred teVenUES . . .o ot e e e 4,278 5,684 10,804
Deferred gain on extinguishment of debt. . . ............... .. ... ... (1,191) — —
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities . . .. .................. 3,966 (4,789) 3,735
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment. - .. ... ... ... .. oo oo, (14,266  (18,852) (14,934)
Purchases of intangible assets . . ... ... ... e (572) — (6,380)
Net cash used in investing activities. . . .. ... ... ... i ... (14,838)  (18,852) (21,314)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of stock options. . . . ... .. .. ... ..o o 110 194 237
Proceeds from issuance of convertible preferred stock, net of issuance costs . . . . 13,149 39,752 —
Repurchase of convertible preferred stock . ........ ... .. ... .. ... . ... (3,275) — —
Repurchase of Series A-3 convertible preferred stock warrants. .. ........... (12) —_ —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs. . ........... —_ — 59,234
Proceeds from issuance of notes payable . . ........ ... .. ... ... ... 9,104 500 9,608
Principal payments on notes payable and capital lease obligations .. ......... (1,464) {(3,336) (5,409)
Net cash provided by financing activities . . ........ ... ... ... ... ... ... 17,612 36,910 63,670
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents. . . .............. ... ... .. ... 6,740 13,269 46,091
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period . . .............. ... ... 2,187 8,927 22,196
Cash and cash equivalents atend of period . ... ... ... ... ... .. . .. $ 8927 §$22,196 § 68287
Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing and
financing activities:
Conversion of convertible preferred stock into common .. ......... ... ... $ — § — $61.838
Assets acquired under capital leases. .. ........ ... ... . i 158 — —
Issuance of Series B-2 convertible preferred stock warrants in conjunction with
co-marketing and reseller agreement .. ....... ... . i s 1,800 — —
Revaluation and cancellation of convertible preferred stock warrants (166,708
and 134,939 shares in the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006,
TESPECHVELY) . . o e — 640 44
Conversion of convertible note payable into Series B-1 convertible preferred
SEOCK o v e e e e e e e e e 1,000 — —
Vesting of common shares subject to repurchase. ... ............ ... .. ... — 22 44
Acquisition of patent licenses .. ........... .. ... ... . e — 8,800 —

See accompanying notes 1o the consolidated financial statements.
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Omniture, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Description of Business and Basis of Presentation
Description of Business

Omniture, Inc. (the “Company’) was incorporated in Delaware in August 1999, and has its principal offices
located in Orem, Utah. The Company began providing its enterprise on-demand online business optimization
platform in February 2001. The Company is a leading provider of an on-demand online business optimization
platform delivering essential data intelligence that allows its customers to improve the performance of their online
business and marketing activities. The Company provides an integrated set of services, including its Omniture
SiteCatalyst optimization platform.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsid-
iaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in the consolidated financial
statements.

Reverse Stock Split

The Company effected a 1-for-2 reverse stock split of the Company’s common and convertible preferred stock
on June 20, 2006. All share and per share amounts contained in the consolidated financial statements have been
retroactively adjusted to reflect the reverse stock split.

Segments
The Company operates in one business segment.
Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the Company’s
consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Significant ¢stimates made by management include the
determination of the fair value of stock awards issued, allowances for accounts receivable and the assessment for
impairment of long-lived assets.

Initial Public Offering

In July 2006, the Company completed its initial public offering (“IPO™) of common stock in which the
Company sold and issued 10,305,000 shares of its common stock, including 1,605,000 shares sold by the Company
pursuant to the underwriters’ full exercise of their over-allotment option, at an issuance price of $6.50 per share. As
a result of the IPO, the Company raised a total of $66,983,000 in gross proceeds from the IPO, or approximately
$59,234,000 in net proceeds after deducting underwriting discounts, commissions and offering expenses. Upon the
initial closing of the IPO, all shares of convertible preferred stock outstanding automatically converted into
21,816,387 shares of common stock.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss is equal to net loss plus other comprehensive income (loss). Other comprehensive income
(loss) consists of changes in stockholders’ (deficit} equity that are not the result of transactions with stockholders.
The Company’s only element of other comprehensive income (loss) is attributable to foreign currency translation
adjustments. Other comprehensive income (loss) for all periods presented was immaterial.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™) issued FASB Interpretation No. 48,
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for
Income Taxes (“FIN 48}, to create a single model to address accounting for uncertainty in tax positions. FIN 48
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Omniture, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)

clarifies the accounting for income taxes, by prescribing a minimum recognition threshold a tax position is required
to meet before being recognized in the financial statements. FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecognition,
measurement, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosures and transition, FIN 48
is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. The Company will adopt FIN 48 as of January 1,
2007, as required. The Company does not expect that the adoption of FIN 48 will have a significant impact on its
financial position and results of operations.

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No. 157, Fair
Value Measurements, SFAS No, 157 establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures
about fair value measurements. The changes to current practice resulting from the application of this statement
relate to the definition of fair value, the methods used to measure fair value and the expanded disclosures about fair
value measurements. SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. Earlier
adoption is permitted, provided the company has not yet issued financial statements, including for interim periods,
for that fiscal year. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting SFAS No. 157 on its consolidated
financial statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities. SFAS No. 159 permits companies to choose to measure certain financial instruments and certain other
items at fair value. The standard requires that unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option
has been elected be reported in earnings. SFAS No. 159 is effective for the Company beginning in the first quarter of
fiscal year 2008, although earlier adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of
adopting SFAS No. 159 on its consolidated financial statements.

Concentrations of Credit Risk and Significant Customers

The Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash
and cash equivalents and trade accounts receivable. Although the Company deposits its cash and cash equivalents
with multiple financial institutions, its deposits, at times, may exceed federally insured limits. Collateral is not
required for accounts receivable; however, the Company regularly evaluates customers’ financial condition and
creditworthiness.

Two customers accounted for 6% and 5% of accounts receivable, respectively at December 31, 2005. No
customer accounted for 5% or greater of accounts receivable, at December 31, 2006. eBay accounted for 13% of
total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2004. America Online and certain of its affiliated entities ,
collectively, accounted for 11% of total revenues during both the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006. At
December 31, 2005 and 2006, assets located outside the United States were not material. No single foreign country
accounted for more than 10% of total revenues during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006.
Subscription revenues accounted for 95% of total revenues in 2004, 96% of total revenues in 2005 and 94% of total
revenues in 2006.

The following table sets forth revenues from customers outside and within the United States (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2005 2006
Revenues from customers within the United States ... ................. $18,761  $38,108 $66,468
Revenues from customers outside the United States .. ................. 1,805 4,696 13,281
Total TEVEMUES . . . . ot e et e e e e e $20,566  $42.804  $79,749
Revenues from customers outside the United States as a percentage of total
TEVENUES | o v v it i e e e e et e et e e e e e e e e e e e e 9% 11% 17%




Omniture, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)

Service Provider Concentration

All of the Company’s servers containing customer data are located in third-party data center facilities in
California and Texas. The Company does not control the operation of these facilities and is vulnerable to damage or
interruption in the event any of these third-party, co-location facilities fail.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or
less to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents, which consist of cash on deposit with banks and money
market funds, are stated at cost, which approximates fair value.

Allowances for Accounts Receivable

The Company records a sales allowance to provide for estimated future adjustments to accounts receivable,
generally resulting from credits issued to customers in conjunction with amendments or renewals of subscription
service arrangements. Provisions for sales allowances are recorded as a reduction to revenues. Specific provisions
are made based on amendments or renewals associated with specific subscription service arrangements, which are
expected to result in the issuance of customer credits. Additionally, provisions are made based on actual credits
issued as a percentage of the Company’s historical revenues. The Company evaluates the estimate of sales
allowances on a regular basis and adjusts the amount reserved accordingly.

The Company makes judgments as to its ability to collect outstanding accounts receivable and provides
allowances when collection becomes doubtful. Specific provisions are made based on an account-by-account
analysis of collectibility. Additionally, provisions are made for non-customer-specific accounts based on the
Company’s historical bad debt experience and current economic trends. Provisions are recorded in general and
administrative expenses. The Company writes off customer accounts receivable balances to the allowance for
doubtful accounts when it becomes likely that they will not be collected.

The changes in the Company’s allowances for accounts receivable were as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,

Sales allowance: 2004 2005 2006
Balance at beginning of period .. .. ... L $— $ 261 § 835
PrOVISION & ot ittt e e e e e e 353 2,412 3,671
Wte-0ffs . . . e e e e (92) (1,838) (3,201}
Balance atend of period . ..... ... . $261 § 835 $1,305

Year Ended December 31,

Bad debt allowance: 2004 2005 2006
Balance at beginning of period .. ... ... ... ... o iiia i $18 $ 66 $127
PrOVISION . .ttt e e e e e 59 77 650
WWTIE-00 S . . it e e e e {11) (16} (43)
Balance at end of period . . . R $ 66 $127 $734

Foreign Currency

The Company’s results of operations and cash flows are subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign
currency exchange rates, particularly changes in the Australian dollar, British pound, Canadian dollar, Danish
krone, EU euro, Hong Kong dollar and Japanese yen.
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Omniture, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)

The functional currency of the Company’s international subsidiartes is generally the local currency. The
financial statements of these subsidiaries are translated into United States dollars using period-end rates of
exchange for assets and liabilities and average rates of exchange for the period for revenues and expenses.
Translation gains (losses) are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as a component of
stockholders’ equity (deficit). Foreign currency gains (losses) are included in other income (expense} in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

At December 31, 2006, the Company held a foreign currency forward exchange contract with a financial
institution to protect against currency exchange risk associated with the acquisition of Instadia A/S (“Instadia™)
(See Note 10). This forward contract was not designated as an accounting hkedge under SFAS No. 133, Accounting
Sfor Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. Therefore, the Company recorded at December 31, 2006 a
$94,000 unrealized loss included in other income (expense) in the consolidated statements of operations and a
liability in accrued liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2006. The $94,000 was equal to the
fair value of the foreign currency forward exchange contract at December 31, 2006,

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and
other accrued liabilities approximate their fair values due to their short maturitics. Based on borrowing rates
currently available to the Company for loans with similar terms, the carrying values of the Company’s notes payable
and capital lease obligations also approximate fair value. The fair value of the foreign currency forward exchange
contract related to the acquisition of Instadia A/S was determined based on a quoted market rate.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment are
calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of those assets as follows:

Computers, equipment and software . .. ... .. 210 4 years
Furniture and fixtures .................. 5 to 7 years
Leasehold improvements . ............... Shorter of the estimated useful life or the lease term

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates the recoverability of its long-lived assets, which include property and equipment and
acquired intangible assets, in accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-
Lived Assers. Long-lived assets are reviewed for possible impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of these assets may not be recoverable. Recoverability of an asset is measured by
comparison of its carrying amount to the expected future undiscounted cash flows that the asset is expected to
generate. If that review indicates that the carrying amount of the long-lived asset is not recoverable, an impairment
loss is recorded in the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value,

Software Development Costs

The Company follows the guidance of Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF) Issue No. 00-2, Accounting for
Web Site Development Costs, and EITF Issue No. 00-3, Application of AICPA Statement of Position 97-2 to
Arrangements That Include the Right to Use Sofiware Stored on Another Entity's Hardware. EITF Issue No. 00-2
sets forth the accounting for Web site development costs based on the Web site development activity. EITF Issue
No. 00-3 sets forth the accounting for software in a hosting arrangement. The Company follows the guidance set
forth in Statement of Position (“SOP”) 98- 1, Accounting for the Cost of Computer Software Developed or Obtained
Jor Internal Use, in accounting for the development of its on-demand online business optimization software, and
other software the Company develops for internal use. SOP 98-1 requires companies to capitalize qualifying
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Omniture, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - (Continued)

computer software costs, which are incurred during the application development stage, and amortize them over the
software’s estimated useful life.

Stock-based Compensation

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for stock-based employee compensation under the
recognition and measurement provisions of Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, Accounting
Jor Stock Issued to Employees, as permitied by SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. Prior to
January 1, 2006, the Company measured stock-based compensation expense as the difference, if any, between the
estimated fair value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant and the exercise price.

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123R,
Share-Based Payment, using the prospective transition method, which requires the Company to apply its provisions
only to awards granted, modified, repurchased or cancelled after the effective date. Under this transition method,
stock-based compensation expense recognized beginning January 1, 2006 is based on the following: (1) the grant-
date fair value of stock option awards granted or modified beginning January 1, 2006; and (2) the balance of
deferred stock-based compensation related to stock option awards granted prior to January 1, 2006, which was
calculated using the intrinsic-value method as previously permitted under APB Opinion No. 25. Results for prior
periods have not been restated.

As a result of adopting SFAS No. 123R on January 1, 2006, the Company’s loss from operations, loss before
provision for income taxes and net loss for year ended December 31, 2006 were $1,787,000 greater than if the
Company had continued to account for stock-based compensation under APB Opinion No. 25. Basic and diluted net
loss per share for the year ended December 31, 2006 would have decreased by $0.06 if the Company had not
adopted SFAS No. 123R.

The Company accounts for stock option grants to non-employees in accordance with SFAS No. 123R and
EITF Issue No. 96-18, Accounting for Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acguiring,
or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services, which require that the fair value of these instruments be
recognized as an expense over the period in which the related services are rendered.

Net Loss Per Share

The following table presents the numerator and a reconciliation of the denominator used in the calculation of
net loss per share, basic and diluted (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

Numerator: 2004 2005 2006
Nt 0SS .« . ottt et e e e e e e $(1,318) $(17,441) $(7,725)
Denominator:

Weighted-average common shares outstanding. . ..................... 13,094 14,362 31,134
Weighted-average common shares outstanding subject to repurchase ... ... — (668) (802)
Denominator for net loss per share, basic and diluted. . . .. ... .......... 13,094 13,694 30,332
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The following weighted-average common stock equivalents (in thousands) were excluded from the compu-
tation of diluted net loss per share because they had an anti-dilutive impact:

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2005 2006
Common shares outstanding subject to repurchase. .. .. ................ — 668 784
Employee stock options . . . ... ... i e 2,485 5,178 - 5,110
WaITANLS . ... ot e e e e — 418 374
Convertible preferred stock. . ... ... .. .. . L e 12,740 18,152 11,016
Convertible note payable . ... ... ... ... . .. i 328 — —

Income Taxes

The Company uses the liability method of accounting for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109,
Accounting for Income Taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on
temporary differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates
in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations
in the period that includes the enactment date. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce
deferred tax assets when it is determined that it is more likely than not that some portion of the deferred tax asset
will not be realized. Changes in ownership may limit the amount of net operating loss carryforwards that can be
utilized annually in the future to offset taxable income (see Note S).

Revenue Recognition

The Company derives its revenues from two primary sources: (1) subscription fees from customers imple-
menting and utilizing the Company’s on-demand online business optimization services; and (2) related professional
and other services, consisting primarily of consulting and training. Because the Company provides its applications
as services, it follows the provisions of Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”)
No. 104, Revenue Recognition, and EITF Issue No. 00-21, Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.
The Company recognizes revenue when all of the following conditions are met:

« there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement;

* the service has been provided to the customer;

» the collection of the fees is reasonably assured; and

* the amount of fees to be paid by the customer is fixed or determinable.

The Company recognizes subscription revenues, including implementation and set-up fees, on a monthly
basis, beginning on the date the customer commences use of the Company’s services and ending on the final day of
the contract term. The Company records amounts that have been invoiced in accounts receivable and in deferred
revenues or revenues, depending on whether the revenue recognition criteria have been met.

The Company recognizes revenue resulting from professional services sold with subscription offerings
(generally considered to be at the time of, or within 45 days of, sale of the subscription offering) over the term of the
related subscription contract as these services are considered to be inseparable from the subscription service, and
the Company has not yet established objective and reliable evidence of fair value for the undelivered element. The
Company recognizes revenues resulting from professional services sold separately from the subscription services
as those professional services are performed.

Although the Company’s subscription contracts are generally noncancelable, a limited number of customers
have the right to cancel their contracts by providing prior written notice to the Company of their intent to cancel the
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remainder of the contract term. In the event a customer cancels its contract, it is not entitled to a refund for prior
services provided to it by the Company.

Deferred Revenues

Deferred revenues consist of billings or payments received in advance of revenue recognition for the
Company’s subscription and professional services described above and the Company recognizes them as revenue
only when the revenue recognition criteria are met.

Commissions

The Company records sales commissions when the commissions are eammed, which is generally when the
corresponding revenue has been recognized or at the time of collection of the customer account receivable.
Commissions paid to sales personnel are not recoverable in the event the customer terminates service. Commission
expense was $1,955,000, $4,140,000 and $8,241,000 for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006,
respectively.

Leases
The Company leases its facilities under operating leases, and accounts for those leases in accordance with
SFAS No. 13, Accounting for Leases. For leases that contain rent escalation or rent concession provisions, the
Company records the total rent payable during the lease term on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. The
Company records the difference between the rent paid and the straight-line rent as a deferred rent liability in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
Advertising
The Company expenses advertising as incurred. Advertising expense was $143,000, $510,000 and $308,000
for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively.

2, Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2005 2006
Computers, equipment and software . .. ... ... ... . o i $35,519  $49,672
Furniture and fIXEUTES. . . . ... ..t i i e e e 483 816
Leasehold improvements ... ... .. ... . i i i i e 1,204 1,359

37,206 31,847
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization . . .. .. ... .. i e a (9,689 (20,719

$27.517  $31.128

Depreciation expense (including amortization of leasehold improvements) was $1,769,000, $5,961,000 and
$11,323,000 for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively.
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3. Balance Sheet Accounts
Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2005 2006
Gross Carrying  Accumulated Gross Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization Amount Amortization
Patent licenses ......................... $ 8,800 $ — $10,199 31,356
Other ... . e 1,821 471 1,777 824
510,621 $471 $11,976 $2,180

Patent licenses represent the estimated value of the licenses obtained from NetRatings, Inc. (see Note 8) and
the purchase price of patents acquired from third parties. Other intangible assets primarily are composed of
capitalized costs relating to a co-marketing and reseller agreement.

In November 2004, the Company entered into a co-marketing and reseller agreement with a third party to co-
market the Company’s SiteCatalyst application. In consideration for the agreement, the Company paid cash of
$500,000 and issued warrants to purchase 504,054 shares of the Company’s Series B-2 convertible preferred stock
to the third party. The $500,000 cash consideration and the value of the outstanding warrants, as determined by
Duff & Phelps, LLC, a third-party valuation firm, are being amortized over the expected life of the agreement with
the third party. The value of the cutstanding warrants was subject to adjustment, based upon changes in the
underlying value of the convertible preferred stock as the warrants vest in accordance with the terms of the co-
marketing and reseller agreement (see Note 7). In the fourth quarter of 2005, warrants to purchase 166,708 shares
were cancelled due to the reseller’s failure to meet the required vesting terms pursuant to the co-marketing and
reseller agreement. Upon this cancellation, the Company reversed the previously recorded amortization expense of
$96,000 relating to the cancelled warrants and decreased the carrying value of the warrants by $577,000. On
March 29, 2006, the Company amended the warrant agreement which reduced to 202,407 the total number of shares
of Series B-2 convertible preferred stock the holder was entitled to purchase under the warrant, with immediate
vesting of all shares subject to the warrant. The reduction in warrants, combined with the adjustment to the value of
the remaining warrants, resulted in a net decrease in the intangible asset of approximately $44,000. In June 2006,
the third party exercised all of its warrants under cashless exercise provisions of the underlying warrant agreement
resulting in the Company issuing 142,791 shares of Series B-2 convertible preferred stock.

During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company purchased certain technology patents for $1,399,000,
which is being amortized over a period of 3 to 7 years. The weighted-average amortization period of these patents
was 6.9 years.
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The Company is amortizing its intangible assets on a straight-line basis over a period of three to seven years.
The weighted-average amortization period of total intangible assets was 6.6 years and 5.7 years at December 31,
2005 and 2006, respectively. Amortization expense related to intangible assets was $93,000, $416,000 and
$1,709,000 during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively. The Company expects to
recognize amortization expense on intangible assets at December 31, 2006 as follows (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31,

.13 1

Accrued and Other Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands}:

Patent license and settlement CoOStS. . ... . ... it i i s
Accrued bonuses and COMMISSIONS . . .. v it i e in e e i
Other accrued Habilities. . . ... vttt ittt e e e e et

Other liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):

Patent license and settlement COSIS . . .. v v it ir oo et e
Other Habilities . .. ..ot ittt e et ettt ettt na e
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.................. $1,796
.................. 1,786

December 31,
2005 2006

$9495 § 3,831
1,932 3,311
2,566 4,293

$13,993  $11,435

December 31,
2005 2006
$3,819 $ —

299 518

$4.118 $ 518
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4. Notes Payable

Notes payable consisted of the following (in thousands):

Interest Final Maturity December 31,
Rate Date 2005 2006

Draw on equipment line of credit. ... .............. 5.00% Aug. 2007 $2349 § 940
Draw on equipment line of credit. . . . ..... ., ...... 5.06 Oct. 2007 1,654 752
Draw on equipment line of credit. . . ............... 4.81 Oct. 2007 1,326 603
Draw on revolving line of credit. . ..., ... .......... variable rate Dec. 2007 500 500
Draw on second equipment facility. . .. ............. 7.55 Jan. 2009 — 1,389
Draw on second equipment facility. . ............... 177 Feb. 2009 — 794
Draw on second equipment facility. . ............... 8.03 Mar. 2009 — 1,500
Draw on second equipment facility. . ............... 8.38 April 2009 — 1,684
Draw on second equipment facility. . .. ............. 8.79 June 2009 — 1,952

5,829 10,114
Less; current portion .. ......... ... iiiirannnn (3,035) (5,997)
Notes payable, excluding current portion ... ......... 32794 § 4,117

The Company paid interest of approximately $471,000, $372,000 and $1,245,000 during the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively.

In 2004, the Company entered into an equipment line of credit agreement for $10,000,000 (the “Equipment
Line of Credit”), which is collateralized by substantially all of the assets of the Company. The Equipment Line of
Credit provided for a 12-month draw period, which expired on August 5, 2005, and a 36-month repayment period
for each draw.

In 2005, the Company amended the Equipment Line of Credit (the *“2005 Amendment”). The 2005
Amendment decreased the committed credit limit under the Equipment Line of Credit to $7,352,000, which
was equal to the outstanding principal balance at the time of the amendment. Accordingly, the Equipment Line of
Credit allows for no further draws. The 2005 Amendment also provided for a revolving line of credit of up to
$10,000,000 (the “Revolving Line”). The Revolving Line could be drawn upon, up to the lesser of $10,000,000 or
the eligible borrowing base as defined in the 2005 Amendment, until its maturity date of December 2007.
Borrowings under the Revolving Line bear annual interest at a variable rate equal to the prime interest rate plus a
factor based on the Company’s liquidity ratio as defined in the 2005 Amendment, which equated to a rate of 7.75%
and 8.25% at December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively. Interest is payable monthly.

In January 2006, the Company entered into a second amendment (the “2006 Amendment™) of the Equipment
Line of Credit, which provided for a second equipment facility of up to $10,000,000, and reduced the total amount
available for draw under the Revolving Line to $5,000,000. The second equipment facility may be drawn upon
through March 31, 2007 and may only be used to finance or refinance equipment. Each draw under the 2006
Amendment has a 36-month repayment period and accrues interest at a rate based on the U.S. Treasury Bill Rate,
plus a factor determined by the Company’s Quick Ratio, as described in the 2006 Amendment, at the time of that
draw. The maximum combined outstanding principal balance from borrowings under the Equipment Line of Credit,
the 2005 Amendment and the 2006 Amendment cannot exceed $15,000,000. The 2006 Amendment modified or
eliminated certain covenants in the 2005 Amendment. In April 2006, the Company amended the agreement to
modify certain financial covenants. The Company was in compliance with all financial covenants contained in the
amendment at December 31, 2006.
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The aggregate maturities of notes payable at December 31, 2006 were as follows (in thousands):
Year Ending December 31,

1 $ 5997
2008 . L e e e 3,203
2000 .. e 914

$10,114

5. Income Taxes

The domestic and foreign components of loss before provision for income taxes were as follows (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2005 2006
DOMEStIC . . . Lo e e $(1,321)  $(17,505)  $(7.740)
Foreign . ... ... e 3 79 210

$(1,318)  $(17,426) $(7,530)

The provisions for income taxes were as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,

Current Taxes: 2004 2005 2006
Federal .. ..o e e $— — § —
) 1 — — 118
S0 £ 7 = 15 77

$— $15 $195

A reconciliation of income taxes at the statutory federal income tax rate to the provision for income taxes
included in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2005 2006
Tax benefit at U.S. statutory rates . .. ... oo vt i i i e $(448) $(5,925) $(2,559)
State benefit, net of federal tax effect . . ... ... ... ... .. ... ...... (66) (583) (248)
Meals and entertainment . . .. ... ... ... e 50 61 134
Stock-based compensation .. ... ... ... — _ 1,134
B Qo7 €=« 3 N (12N 413) (533)
Change in valuation allowance .. ........ ... ... ... ... ... ..... 591 6,875 2,267
Provision for iNCOMIE TUXES . .. .o v v vt it et et et it a et e as $ — $ 15 $ 195
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of the

assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant
components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
Deferred tax assets: 2005 2006
Accruals and alloWances . . .. ... it e e e e $ 2713 % 1,653
Stock-based compensation. . . ... ... L L e 190 350
Deferred revenues . .. . ... .. . e e e 148 810
B T (1 1,152 1,684
Net operating losses . ... . ... i e e e 10,127 11,716
Total deferred tax assets . .. ... . ... ... . e 14,330 16,213
Valuation allowance . ... ... . e e e e (12,486)  (14,753)
Net deferred 1ax a886t8 . .. . . ..ottt i e e e e 1,844 1,460
Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation and amortization . . . . .. .. ...ttt i e e (1,844) (1,460)
Deferred tax assets, MEL o . v o v v vttt e et e e e e e e e e e e $ — 8 —

Realization of the deferred tax assets is dependent on future earnings, if any, the timing and amount of which
are uncertain. Due to these uncertainties, management does not believe it is more likely than not that the net
deferred tax assets will be realized. Accordingly, the total deferred tax assets of $14,330,000 and $16,213,000 at
December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively, have been fully offset by valuation allowances. The valuation allowance
increased by $591,000, $6,875,000 and $2,267,000 for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006,
respectively.

At December 31, 2006, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes of
approximately $31,300,000, which wili begin to expire in 2020, and federat rescarch and development credits of
approximately $1,100,000, which will begin to expire in 2019. The Company also has state net operating loss
carryforwards of approximately $32,000,000, which will begin to expire in 2015, and state research and devel-
opment credits of approximately $529,000, which will begin to expire in 2014.

Utilization of the Company’s net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards will be subject to annual
limitations due to the ownership change limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Code and similar state
provisions. These annual limitations will result in the expiration of a portion of the net operating loss and credit
carryforwards before they are fully utilized.

The Company paid income taxes of $104,000, $0 and $144,000 during the years ended December 31, 2004,
2005 and 2006, respectively.

6. Preferred Stock

The Company’s Board of Directors has the authority, without further action by stockholders, to issue from time
to time up to 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one or more series. The Company’s Board of Directors may
designate the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions of the preferred stock, including dividend rights,
conversion rights, voting rights, terms of redemption, liquidation preference, sinking fund terms and number of
shares constituting any series or the designation of any series. At December 31, 2006, no shares of preferred stock
were outstanding.
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7. Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ (Deficit) Equity
Convertible Preferred Stock

Prior to the IPO, the Company issued shares of Series A-1, A-2, A-3, A-4, A-4.1, A-5,B,B-1,B-2, Cand C-1
convertible preferred stock. Each outstanding share of convertible preferred stock at the time of the Company’s IPO
in July 2006 was automatically converted into one share of common stock.

In 2005, the Company authorized and issued a total of 7,740,834 shares of Series C-1 convertible preferred
stock at $5.1674 per share for gross proceeds of $40,000,000, of which a total of 1,614,405 shares were sold to
Hummer Winblad Venture Partners V, L.P,, a related party. One of the members of the Company’s Board of
Directors 1s a managing member of Hummer Winblad Equity Partners V, LLC, which is the genera! partner of
Hummer Winblad Venture Partners V, L.P.

In 2004, the Company authorized and issued 6,973,145 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock at
$1.91448 per share for gross proceeds of $13,350,000. In addition, the holder of the $1,000,000 convertible note
payable elected to convert the outstanding principal balance of the note into 1,078,452 shares of a newly designated
Series B-1 convertible preferred stock.

In 2004, subsequent to the issuance of the Series B convertible preferred stock, the Company repurchased and
retired 4,091,765 shares of convertible preferred stock including a portion of the Series A-1, A-2 and A-3
convertible preferred stock and all outstanding Series A-4 convertible preferred stock, for an aggregate purchase
amount of $3,275,400,

In 2004, the Company effected a three-for-one split on the Series A-1, A-2, A-3 and A-4 convertible preferred
stock. These series then became convertible into common stock on a one-for-one basis and the dividend rates were
adjusted to one-third of the previous rate. Because these series were previously convertible on a three-to-one basis,
this transaction had no effect on the fuily diluted capital structure of the Company.

Stock Options

In August 1999, the Company adopted the 1999 Equity Incentive Plan (the “1999 Plan”)}, for which
9,315,868 shares of common stock had been reserved at December 31, 2005. On February 22, 2006, the Company’s
stockholders authorized an additional 2,000,000 shares of common stock available for future issuance under the
1999 Plan. The 1999 Plan allows grants of incentive and nonqualified options. Grants of incentive options must be
at a price that is not less than the fair market value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant. The option
prices are determined by the Company’s Board of Directors. Generally, the options expire ten years from the date of
grant and vest over a four-year period.

The 1999 Plan allows option holders to exercise unvested stock options at any time; however, upon termination
of employment, the Company has the right to repurchase any unvested shares of common stock at the original
exercise price. The Company’s right of repurchase lapses as the shares vest. The consideration received from
exercises of unvested stock options is recorded as a liability and is reclassified into equity as the awards vest. For
purposes of determining the weighted-average common shares outstanding used in the calculation of basic and
diluted net loss per share, shares issued upon the exercise of unvested stock options are not considered outstanding
shares of common stock until these awards vest. During the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, 187,500 and
363,373, respectively, shares of common stock subject to repurchase became vested. At December 31, 2005, the
Company had recorded a hability of approximately $124,000 relating to 734,194 unvested shares of common stock
subject to repurchase. At December 31, 2006, this liability was approximately $208.,000 relating to 918,022
unvested shares of common stock subject to repurchase. Shares subject to repurchase by the Company were
exercised at prices ranging from $0.11 to $0.50 per share.

The Company’s Board of Directors adopted the 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2006 Plan™) in March 2006,
and the Company’s stockholders approved the plan in June 2006. The 2006 Plan provides for the grant of incentive
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stock options to employees and subsidiary corporations’ employees, and for the grant of nonqualified stock options,
restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights and performance shares to the Company’s employees,
directors and consultants and subsidiary corporations’ employees and consultants. The Company’s stockholders
authorized 2,255,296 shares of common stock available for future issuance under the 2006 Plan. At the time of the
IPQ, the number of shares reserved for issuance under this plan was increased by 8,485,579 shares from the 1999 Plan.

In addition, the 2006 Plan provides for annual increases in the number of shares available for issuance
thereunder on the first day of each year, beginning with 2007, equal to the lesser of:

* 5% of the outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock on the last day of the preceding year; and
+ 30,000,000 shares.

At December 31, 2006, a total of 1,052,708 shares of common stock were available for grant under the
Company’s stock option plans.

The Company’s Board of Directors adopted the 2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan in March 2006 and the
Company'’s stockholders approved the plan in June 2006. The 2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan is intended to
qualify under Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and provides for consecutive, non-
overlapping six-month offering periods. At the end of each six-month offering period, qualified employees are entitled
to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock at 95% of the fair market value of the common stock at the
exercise date, which is the first trading date on or after February 15 and August 15 of each year. At December 31,
2006, 500,000 shares of common stock were reserved for issuance under this plan of which none were issued at
December 31, 2006. In addition, the Company’s 2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan provides for annual increases in
the number of shares available for issuance on the first day of each year, beginning with 2007, equal to the lesser of:

* 1% of the outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock on the first day of the year;
* 12,000,000 shares; and
¢ such other amount as may be determined by the Company’s Board of Directors or a committee thereof.

In connection with the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, the Company estimates the fair value of stock option
awards granted beginning Janvary 1, 2006 using the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing formula and a single
option award approach. The Company then amortizes the fair value of awards expected to vest on a straight-line
basis over the requisite service periods of the awards, which is generally the period from the grant date to the end of
the vesting period. The weighted-average expected option term for options granted during the year ended
December 31, 2006 was calculated using the simplified method described in SAB No. 107, Share-Based Payment.
The simplified method defines the expected term as the average of the contractual term and the vesting period.
Estimated volatility for the year ended December 31, 2006 also reflected the application of SAB No. 107
interpretive guidance and, accordingly, incorporates historical volatility of similar entities whose share prices are
publicly available. The risk-free interest rate is based on the yield curve of a zero-coupon U.S. Treasury bond on the
date the stock option award is granted with a maturity equal to the expected term of the stock option award. The
Company used historical data to estimate the number of future stock option forfeitures,

During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company granted stock option awards to purchase
3,621,286 shares of common stock at a weighted-average exercise price of $10.09 and a weighted-average
grant-date fair value of $6.51, During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company recorded compensation
expense totaling $1,948,000 related to these stock option awards. During the year ended December 31, 2006,
options to purchase 63,701 shares of common stock granted under the provisions of SFAS No. 123R were forfeited
at a weighted-average grant-date fair value of $5.49. At December 31, 2006, there was $18,762,000 of total
unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested stock option awards granted subsequent to the adoption of
SFAS No. 123R. This unrecognized compensation cost is equal to the fair value of awards expected to vest and will
be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.7 years.
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The fair value of stock option awards granted during the year ended December 31, 2006 was estimated at the
date of grant using the Black-Scholes-Merton valuation method with the following assumptions:

Expected volatility. . .. .. ... . e 62%-64%
Expected term (in Years) . . ...ttt et i e e e 5.8-7.0
RisKk-free INterest TAtE . . . . .. .. . ittt it ettt ettt e 4.5%-5.1%

Expected dividends . . . .. .. ... ... e —
The following table summarizes stock option activity under the Company’s stock option plans for the year
ended December 31, 2006:

Weighted-Average
Number of Shares Weighted-Average Remaining Aggregate

Subject to Exercise Price Per Contractual Term Intrinsic
Qutstanding Qptions Share (in Years) Value'”
(in thousands)

Outstanding at January 1, 2006 .. .. 6,728,518 $ 091
Granted . . .................. 3,621,286 10.09
Exercised. . ................. (1,529,203) 0.18
Canceled . . ................. (191,806} 4.17

Outstanding at December 31, 2006. . 8,628,795 4.82 1.6 $79.871

Vested and expected to vest at
December 31, 20060, .. ... .. .. 3,161,303 10.05 9.6 $12,725
Exercisable at December 31, 2006 . . 2,569,899 0.88 7.6 $33,930

) Includes only options granted beginning January 1, 2006 that are subject to the provisions of SFAS No. 123R.

D The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the underlying stock
option awards and the closing market price of the Company’s common stock at December 31, 2006.

During the year ended December 31, 2006, the aggregate intrinsic value of stock option awards exercised,
which is measured as the difference between the exercise price and the closing market price of the Company’s
common stock at the date of exercise, was $10,428,000. Options granted after the adoption of SFAS No. 123R with
a total fair value of approximately $843,000 completed vesting during the year ended December 31, 2006.

During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company also recorded stock-based compensation expense of
$224,000 due to the modification and acceleration of the vesting of an employee’s stock options, initially granted
prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, upon termination of employment.

In February 2006, the Company issued 250 shares of common stock to a consultant for services rendered. In
connection with this issvance, the Company recorded $2,000 of stock-based compensation expense.

In 2002, the Company granted a non-employee consultant vested options to purchase a total of 133,333 shares
of common stock that were not under the 1999 Plan. The exercise price of these options was $0.04. At December 31,
2005 and 2006, the entire 133,333 options to purchase common stock were outstanding and exercisable.

Deferred Stock-based Compensation

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company recorded deferred stock-based compensation in the amount by which
the exercise price of a stock option was less than the deemed fair value of the Company's common stock at the date
of grant. Because there was no public market for the Company’s common stock, the Company'’s Board of Directors
determined the fair value of the common stock based upon several factors, including, but not limited to, an
independent valuation performed by Duff & Phelps, LLC, at December 31, 2005, the Company’s operating and
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financial performance, private sales of the Company’s convertible preferred stock between third parties and
issuances of convertible preferred stock. In 2005, the Company recorded deferred stock-based compensation of
$3,801,000 relating to options to purchase 2,238,673 shares of common stock granted with an exercise price less
than the deemed fair value of the common stock, which is being amortized on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period of the employee stock options, which is generally four years, The Company recorded stock-based
compensation expense related to these stock options of $510,000 and $984,000 for the years ended December 31,
2005 and 2006, respectively.

The Company reversed deferred stock-based compensation related to the cancellation of unvested options for
terminated employees in the amount of $21,000 and $114.000 for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006,
respectively.

Total stock-based compensation expense has been classified as follows in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations {in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2005 2006
Cost of subscription revenues . . ... ... . .ot i i, 5 — 5 41 $ 203
Cost of professional services and other revenues . . ................. — 6 54
Salesand marketing . . .. ... .. ... — 156 993
Research and development . ... ... .. ... ... ... . i, — 243 563
General and administrative . ... ... .. ... i — 64 1,345
§ — 3 510 $3,158

Warrants

The Company has reserved the following shares of common stock for issuance upon the exercise of warrants
that were outstanding at December 31, 2006:

Number of Warrants Exercise Price Expiration Date
245,495 $0.40 2/26/2012
42,000 $0.11 6/26/2008
287,495

During 2000, the Company issued notes payable in principal amount totaling $1,875,000. The notes had an
interest rate of 9.5% per annum and were due in 2001. During 2000, the outside party forgave $375,000 of the
outstanding balance of the notes. During 2002, the Company entered into a settlement agreement that required the
Company to issue warrants to purchase 245,495 shares of the Company’s common stock. The warrants became
exercisable on March 31, 2004. The noteholder also agreed to forgive $1,050,000 of the then-outstanding principal
balance and $141,289 of accrued interest, contingent on repayment of the balance of the notes in annual
installments of $150,000 through 2004. A deferred gain of $1,191,000 was recorded at the time of settlement.
The full amount of the deferred gain was recognized upon final payment and full satisfaction of the terms of the
settlement agreement in March 2004.

The cutstanding balance of the notes was reduced by the value of the warrants of $14,730. The fair value of the
warrants was calculated using the Black-Scholes-Merton valuation method with the following assumptions: risk-
free interest rate of 5.02%; expected volatility of 0.7%; no dividend yield; and an expected life of the warrants of ten
years.

The warrants noted in the above table to purchase 42,000 shares of common stock were fully vested and
exercisable at the date of grant of April 10, 2000,
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In November 2004, the Company authorized and issued warrants for the purchase of 504,054 shares of Series B-2
convertible preferred stock at $1.91448 per share. The warrants had an estimated fair value of approximately
$1,800,000 at the time they were issued, as determined by Duff & Phelps, LLC, a third-party valuation firm, using a
market-based valuation approach. The warrants were issued in connection with a co-marketing and reseller agreement
entered into by the Company (see Note 3). Additionally, pursuant to the provisions of EITF Issue No. 96-18, the value
of the warrants was to be remeasured based upon changes in the underlying value of the convertible preferred stock as
the warrants vested in accordance with the terms of the co-marketing and reseller agreement. In the fourth quarter of
2005, warrants to purchase 166,708 shares of Series B-2 convertible preferred stock were cancelled due to the
reseller’s failure to meet the required vesting terms pursuant to the reseller agreement. Upon this cancellation, the
Company reversed the previously recorded amortization expense relating to the cancelled warrants and decreased the
carrying value of the warrants by $577,000. At December 31, 2005, warrants to purchase 337,346 shares related to the
co-marketing and reseller agreement remained outstanding and had an estimated fair value of $1,160,000, as
determined by Duff & Phelps, LLC. On March 29, 2006, the Company amended the warrant agreement, which
reduced the total number of shares of Series B-2 convertible preferred stock the holder is entitled to purchase under the
warrant to 202,407, with immediate vesting of all shares subject to the warrant. In June 2006, the third party exercised
all of its warrants under cashless exercise provisions of the underlying warrant agreement resulting in the Company
issuing 142,791 shares of Series B-2 convertible preferred stock.

In April 2004, the Company repurchased all then-outstanding Series A-3 convertible preferred stock warrants
for $12,033.

Shares Reserved for Future Issuance

The Company has reserved shares of common stock for future issnance at December 31, 2006 as follows:

Stock options oUtStANding. . . . . . ... ... e 8,762,128
Stock options available for future SFANIS . . .. . ... .. e 1,052,708
Warrants to purchase common stock. .. ... ... L 287,495

Warrants to purchase convertible preferred stock. ... ... ... ... . o e —
Convertible preferred stock ... ... oo e —

10,102,331

8. Commitments and Contingencies
Litigation Settlement

On February 28, 2006, the Company signed a settlement and patent license agreement under which it licensed all
issued patents and pending patent applications owned or controlled by NetRatings, Inc. (“NetRatings”), and NetRatings
agreed to release all claims covered by a patent infringement lawsuit that it brought against the Company in May 2005, In
return, the Company agreed to make periodic payments to NetRatings totaling $10,000,000 (“Committed Payments”)
over the period from the signing date of the agreement through December 2007. In accordance with the agreement, the
Company was also required to make an additional $4,000,000 payment (“Contingent Payment™) to NetRatings upon the
completion of its initial public offering in July 2006. In the event that the Company acquires certain specified companies,
the Company may be required to make additional license payments based on the Web analytics revenues of the acquired
company (see Note 10). At December 31, 2006, the amount outstanding related to this settlement and patent license
agreement, discounted to its net present value, was $3,831,000.

Although the agreement was signed after the December 31, 2005 consolidated balance sheet date, the issues
surrounding the licensed patents occurred prior to that balance sheet date; accordingly, the Company recorded the
settlement as a liability at December 31, 2005. Furthermore, based on its assessment at the time of the probable nature
of the contingencies surrounding payment of the Contingent Payments, the Company accrued the entire $14,000,000
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settlement amount, discounted to its net present value using a rate of 7.5%, at December 31, 2005. Based on a
valuation study performed by Duff & Phelps, LLC, an independent valuation firm, the Company recorded expense of
$4,514,000 during the fourth quarter of 2005. The remaining $8,800,000 represents the estimated future benefit the
Company expects to obtain from the licenses granted under the agreement. The Company recorded this amount in
intangible assets, net, on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and is amortizing it ratably to cost of
subscription revenues through 2012, which represents the remaining lives of the primary patents.

Leases

The Company leases certain equipment under capital leases. These capital leases generally contain a $1.00
buyout option at the end of the initial lease terms, which range between 36 and 60 months, maturing at various dates
in 2007 and 2008. The carrying value of property and equipment capitalized under capital lease obligations at
December 31, 2005 and 2006 was $293,000, less $166,000 and $219,000, respectively, in accumulated amorti-
zation. Amortization expense is computed using the straight-line method over the shorter of the estimated useful
life or term of each lease and is allocated between cost of revenues, research and development, sales and marketing
and general and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations. Accumulated amortization is
included in property and equipment, net, on the consolidated balance sheets.

The future minimum lease payments under noncancellable capital and operating leases at December 31, 2006
were as follows (in thousands):

Capital Operating
Year Ending December 31, Leases Leases
00T . st e e e e 564 $1,794
008 . . o e e 26 1,695
00D . L L e e e e — 1,698
5 1 1 — 1,747
14 1 1 — 443
ThErea ter « . o oo e e e e s — —
Total minimum lease Payments . ... .. ..o vv ottt it e 20 $7,377
Less: imputed interest . ... ..ot e e (13)
Present value of minimum lease payments ... .......... ... ... . ., 77
LesSs: CUTTENL POTHOM . . . . o vttt e e e e e e e (53)
Capital lease obligations, less current portion . . ... ... ... ... o il o 24

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 was $414,000, $1,102,000 and
$1,742,000, respectively.

Operating lease payments primarily relate to the Company’s principal offices in Orem, Utah. The Company entered
into the initial lease associated with this property in May 2003. From May 2003 through December 31, 2006, the
Company entered into various amendments to this initial lease, each of which increased the total leased square footage.
The initial lease and all subsequent amendments provide for annual rental rate escalations and terminate in March 2011.
The Company has also entered into operating leases for office space in various international locations.

Indemnification

The Company has also agreed to indemnify its directors and executive officers for costs associated with any
fees, expenses, judgments, fines and settlement amounts incurred by them in any action or proceeding to which any
of them is, or is threatened to be, made a party by reason of his or her service as a director or officer, including any
action by the Company, arising out of his or her services as the Company'’s director or officer or his or her scrvices
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provided to any other company or enterprise at the Company’s request. Historically, the Company has not been
required to make payments under these obligations and the Company has recorded no liabilities for these
obligations in its consolidated balance sheets.

Warranties

The Company typically warrants its on-demand online business optimization services to perform in a manner
consistent with general industry standards that are reasonably applicable under normal use and circumstances.
Historically, the Company has not been required to make payments under these obligations, and the Company has
recorded no liabilities for these obligations in its consolidated balance sheets.

The Company’s warranty arrangements generally include certain provisions for indemnifying customers
against liabilities if its services infringe a third party’s intellectual property rights,

The Company has entered into service level agreements with a small number of its customers warranting
certain levels of uptime reliability and permitting those customers to receive credits or terminate their agreements in
the event that the Company fails to meet those levels. To date, amounts credited to customers pursuant to these
agreements have been immaterial and the Company has recorded no liabilities for these obligations in its
consolidated balance sheets.

Other Legal Matters

The Company is and may become inveolved in various other legal proceedings arising from the normal course of its
business activities. Management does not believe the ultimate disposition of these matters to have a material adverse
impact on the Company’s consolidated results of operations, cash flows or financial position. However, litigation is
inherently unpredictable, and depending on the nature and timing of these proceedings, an unfavorable resolution could
materially affect the Company’s future consolidated results of operations, cash flows or financial position in a particular
period.

9. Retirement Plan

The Company offers a 401(k} plan to its employees. The Company maiches 50% of each employee’s
contributions up to a maximum of 3% of the employee’s base salary, bonuses and commissions. The Company
made matching contributions of $91,000, $274,000 and $460,000 during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005
and 2006, respectively.

10, Subsequent Events
Acquisition of Instadia A/S

On January 18, 2007, the Company acquired all of the outstanding voting stock of Instadia, a Copenhagen,
Denmark-based, on-demand enterprise Web analytics provider. The Company purchased Instadia to acquire its
existing customer base, key personnel and technology. The aggregate purchase price was approximately
$16,500,000 1o $18,000,000, which included cash, restrecturing charges and acquisition costs, In addition, in
February 2007, the Company elected to make an additional license payment to NetRatings of $319,000 related to
the Instadia acquisition, in accordance with the terms of the settlement and patent license agreement entered into
with NetRatings in February 2006. The acquisition will be accounted for under the purchase method of accounting.

Because the cash consideration asscociated with the acquisition was denominated in Danish krone, in
December 2006, the Company entered into a foreign currency forward exchange contract with a financial
institution, to protect against currency exchange rate risk associated with this transaction. Upon the settlement
of this foreign currency forward exchange contract, in January 2007, the Company recognized a realized loss of
$337,000, of which $94,000 was recognized as an unrealized loss in the year ended December 31, 2006.
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Acquisition of Touch Clarity Limited

On March 1, 2007, the Company acquired all of the outstanding voting stock of Touch Clarity Limited (*Touch
Clarity”), a London, England-based, on-demand provider of automated online behavioral targeting and optimi-
zation solutions. The Company purchased Touch Clarity to acquire key personnel and technology. The acquisition
will be accounted for under the purchase method of accounting.

The aggregate purchase price was approximately $65,000,000 to $70,000,000, which included initial con-
sideration of $16,000,000 cash paid upon closing of the acquisition, the fair value of assumed options and
acquisition costs. The aggregate purchase price also included additional consideration of $33,579,000, which is to
be paid no later than November 30, 2007 in the Company’s common stock, cash, or a combination of stock and cash,
at the Company’s discretion. The Company may also be required to pay up to an additional $3,000,000 in
consideration during the first quarter of 2008, contingent upon the achievement of certain revenue milestones
during the year ended December 31, 2007. This contingent consideration would increase the aggregate purchase
price and goodwill.

In addition, the Company expects to make an additional license payment to NetRatings of approximately
$453,000 related to the Touch Clarity acquisition, in accordance with the terms of the settlement and patent license
agreement entered into with NetRatings in February 2006.

Equipment Master Lease Agreements

During the first quarter of 2007, The Company entered into two master lease agreements with third-party
financing sources. The Company generally expects to record equipment acquired under the leases as operating
leases, in accordance with SFAS No. 13, Accounting for Leases. The rental payments and rental terms associated
with individual acquisitions under the leases may vary, depending on the nature of the equipment acquired. As a
condition of one of these lease agreements, the Company must not allow its cash balance to fatl below $10.0 million
as long as this agreement is in force. Failure to maintain a minimum of $10.0 million in cash shall constitute an
event of default as defined in the lease agreement. As a condition of one of these lease agreements, the Company
must not allow its cash balance to fall below $10.0 million as long as this agreement is in force, Failure to maintain a
minimum balance of $10.0 million in cash shall constitute an event of default as defined in the lease agreement.
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1. Quarterly Results of Operations {Unaudited)

Selected summarized quarterly financial information for fiscal 2005 and 2006 is as follows:

Quarter Ended
Mar. 31, June 30,  Sept. 30, Dec. 31, Mar. 31,  June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31,

2005 2005 2005 2005 2006 2006 2006 2006
(in thousands, except per share data)

Total revenues ... ......... $ 8,040+ $ 9503 $11,514  $13,747 316436  $18,824  $21,028  $23,461
Grossprofit. ............. 4,321 5,392 6,528 6,104 9,658 11,263 12,529 14,473
Netloss................. (2,706) (3,714) (3.820) (72017 (3,406) (2.283) (1.273) (763)
Net loss per share, basic and

diluted. . .............. $ (0200 $ (©27) 5 (028) $ (0.52)V$ (0.24) $ (0.16) § (0.03) $ (0.02)
Weighted-average number of

shares, basic and diluted ... 13377 13712 13797 13892 13968 14,168  45850% 47340

) The Company recognized $4,514,000 in the fourth quarter of 2005 resulting from the settlement and patent
license agreement with NetRatings, of which $2,604,000 was included in litigation settlement and $1,910,000
was included in cost of subscription revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

@ The weighted-average number of shares increased in the third quarter of 2006, primarily due to the Company’s
IPO in July 2006, in which the Company issued 10,305,000 shares of common stock. In addition, upon the
initial closing of the IPO, all shares of convertible preferred stock outstanding automatically converted into
21,816,387 shares of common stock.
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(in thousands)

(unaudited)

Six Months Six Months
Ended Ended
June 30, December 31,
2006 &

Reconciliation of Net Loss on a GAAP Basis to Net (Loss) Income on a
Non-GAAP Basis:

Net loss on @ GAAP basis . .. ...ttt $(5,689) $(2,036)
Stock-based compensation . . . ... ... 1,220 1,938
Amortization of intangible asset related to co-marketing and reseller

AQFEEIMENE . . . . .ttt e e e 152 162
Amortization of patent licenses . . . ... ... .. e 630 630
imputed interest on patent license obligation. . . ............. ... ... 292 226
Unredlized loss on foreign currency forward contract related to Instadia

QCQUISIEION . . .o o — 94

Net {loss) incomeona non-GAAP basis . ... ........... ... ...... ... $(3,395) $1,014

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2005 2006

Reconciliation of Net Cash Provided By (Used In) Operating Activities
to Adjusted EBITDA:

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities ... ................ $(4,789) $ 3,735
Loss on disposal of property and equipment . ... ... ... . . L (5) —
Net changes in operating assets and liabifities. . .. ................. (1,246) 4,730
Other {income) expense, Net. . . ... ... ittt 4] {613}
Provision for income taxes . .. ... ... .. . . i 15 195

Adjusted EBITDA . . . ... .. e $(5,984) $ 8,047

About Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Generally, a non-GAAP financial measure is a numerical measure of a company’s performance, financial
position or cash flows that either excludes or includes amounts that are not normally excluded or included in
the most directly comparable measure calculated and presented in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the U.S., or U.S. GAAP A reconciliation between non-GAAP and GAAP measures can
be found at the “Detailed Financials” link on our Investor Relations page of our Web site at www.omtr.com,
Non-GAAP financial meosures should not be considered as o substitute for, or superior to, measures of
financial performance prepared in accordance with GAAP These non-GAAP financial measures do not reflect
a comprehensive system of accounting, differ from GAAP measures with the same captions and may differ
fram non-GAAP financial measures with the same or similar captions that are used by other companies.

We believe these non-GAAP financial measures provide a basis for evaluating our operating results because
they facilitate the comparison of results for future periods with results from past periods. We believe the
calculation of net income and loss, calculated without stock-based compensation expense, the amortization
of certain intangible assets, imputed interest expense, deferred revenue acquisition accounting adjustments
and non-recurring acquisition related expenses, provides a meaningful comparison to our net loss figures. We
also believe that adjusted EBITDA, which we colculate as earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation,
amortization, deferred revenue acquisition accounting adjustments and stock-based compensation, is an
indicator of the Company’s financial results and cash flows and is useful to investors in evaluating operating
performance.




Note on Forward Looking Statements

This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws.
These statements relate to our, and in some cases our customers’ or partners’, future plans, objectives,
expectations, intentions and financial performance and the assumptions that underlie these statements.
These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements related to our ability to develop
new praducts and whether or not they will succeed, our potential growth, development and productivity, our
expansion into new markets, the impact of recent acquisitions and partnerships on our business and our ability
to promote and manage innovation. These forward-looking statements are based on current expectations
and assumptions regarding future events and business performance and involve known and unknown risks,
uncertainties and other factors that may cause industry trends or our actual results, level of activity,
performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, levels of activity, performance
or achievemnents expressed or implied by these statements. These factors include those described in Part |,
ltem 1A “Risk Factors” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006.
These forward-looking statements should not be relied upon as representing our views as of any subsequent
date, and we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements to reflect events or
circumstances after the date they were made.
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